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1.  INTRODUCTION  
 
Following on from an extremely busy year in 2005/06, the 2006/2007 financial year was also a  
year of challenge and achievements. 
 
Council prepares an annual report as per requirement of Part 4 Section 428 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 to provide a comprehensive summary of the activities undertaken and 
objectives achieved by Council in meeting its obligations to the community and stakeholders in 
providing effective, efficient, and environmentally responsible local government. 
  
The financial year 2006/07 was a challenging year for Brewarrina Shire Council following the 
Public Inquiry in 2005. Over the course of the year, Council has been actively concerned in 
ensuring that the recommendations arising from this Inquiry have been completed. Council has 
been extremely busy implementing the Public Inquiry recommendations and day to day obligations.   
 
During the year, Council has appointed Sunil Prakash as General Manager in July 2006, after six 
months as Acting General Manager. In addition Council has significantly upgraded its management 
staff, with the appointment of three experienced managers to key management positions in the 
Council.  
 
Council staff have worked tirelessly and smartly to complete several major projects including the 
sealed road from Brewarrina to Weilmoringle and the Goodooga township to the Aerodrome Road 
(Brenda Road). The year 2006-07 has been the year when Council refined its philosophy of 
community participation by encouraging community groups to provide input into Council’s 
decision making. 
 
Council has laid the foundation this year to commence the process of establishing our ‘Brewarrina 
Shire Strategic Plan’ for 10 years. This plan will ideally establish some long term goals and 
strategies to enable Council to work towards guiding and development of the Brewarrina Shire 
Local Government area in a manner that is desired on the whole by our community. Council 
established a new Social and Community Plan for 2006-10 and revisited and revised the State of 
Environments Report, to comply with the Local Government Legislative requirements. 
 
During 2006/07 Cr Edward (Ted) Simpson was Mayor of Brewarrina Shire Council whilst Cr 
Matthew Slack-Smith was Deputy Mayor.  
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Mayor’s Message 
On 26 August 2007 the former Mayor of Brewarrina Shire Council, Councillor Edward (Ted)  
Simpson passed away. I would like to pass on my personal and the Council’s condolences to his 
family and friends, which has been passed on previously. 
 
At this time, I would like to acknowledge the work of the former Mayor and the progress that the 
Council has made during this reporting year under his leadership. 
 
I am pleased to present the forward for Brewarrina Shire Council’s Annual Report for 2006/2007 
which details Council’s achievements with respect to the objectives and performance targets that 
were set out in the Council’s Management Plan for the previous year. The Annual Report also 
contains the statutory requirements that are prescribed within sectio 428 of the Local Government 
Act 1993. 
 
As residents are aware, the Minister for Local Government undertook a Public Inquiry into the 
Council with the Final Report being issued in December 2005. During the year staff worked on a 
program of implementing the recommendations, the Department of Local Government appointed a 
Senior Investigations Officer to provide managerial and administrative assistance during the year. 
Additionally, during the year the Department engaged the Administrator of Walgett Shire as a 
Mentor to the Council, particularly the elected representative. Significant progress has been made 
during the year in implementing the recommendations that were made to the Council. 
 
During the year Councillor Stanley Kirby resigned from the Council. Councillor Kirby was elected 
to the Council in September 2004. I wish to thank former Councillor Kirby for the contributions 
that he made for the betterment of the community during his time as Councillor. There was no legal 
requirement for the Council to conduct a bi-election as the Minister for Local Government had 
previously approved the Council’s application in May 2006 to reduce the number of Councillors on 
the Council from 12 to 9 at the 2008 Local Government Election. As part of the Ministerial 
Approval, the Council did not have to hold a bi-election unless the vacancy would leave the 
Council with less than 9 Councillors. 
 
The year has witnessed a change to the Council’s Senior Management which has had an impact on 
the continuity of the Council’s operations. During the year, Sunil Prakash was promoted form the 
position of Director of Engineering Services to General Manager. Although the Council engaged a 
Consultant for a short period to assume the responsibilities of the Director of Technical Services, 
the position was not filled until January 2007. The previous Director of Corporate and Community 
Services left the council in January 2006, but once again although we filled the vacancy through 
employing Consultants for a short period of time, the position was not filled permanently until 
January 2007. Finally, the former Environmental Health & Building Manger left Council in 
October 2006. Council was able to fill this vacancy initially on a casual basis in November 2006, 
and then later on a permanent basis in September 2007. Council continues to review its staffing 
levels to ensure that the community is being served in an efficient and effective manner. 
 
The Sister City Relationship that the Council has with Warringah Council continues to grow since 
it inception in June 2000. During the year two separate youth exchanges between Warringah and 
Brewarrina occurred in July 2006 and January 2007. From anecdotal information, the youth from 
both Council areas enjoyed the exchange and the opportunity to learn more about the areas. 
 
It would be remiss of me if I did not mention the prolonged adverse affect that the drought is 
having on our community. We continue to work together with the community to balance the 
delivering of services that the community expect and what the Council can afford. 
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Some of the achievements that have been made during the year include: 
 
Stormwater Drainage Improvement: 

 Council successfully completed a Stormwater Drainage Improvement Project in Goodooga 
in collaboration with the Department of Commerce. 

 The Western Catchment Management Authority has provided grand funding to undertake a 
review of the Stormwater Management Plan for Brewarrina. Environmental Consultants 
have been engaged to review Town areas. Once these have been installed, significant 
improvements in the environmental conditions of the River will be sustained. 

 
Public Amenities 

 Realising the aspirations of the community, the Council has initiated maintenance work 
at the Olympic Swimming Pool 

 New public toilets have been installed in Brewarrina and Goodooga as part of Council’s 
ongoing improvement of public amenities initiative. 

 Brewarrina and Gongolgon Bus shelters completed in 2005-06 have been further 
improved by providing a paved area all around. 

 Council has successfully secured a grant from Emergency Management Australia to 
prepare a disaster management plan to address all possible emergencies for Brewarrina. 

 
Water Supply and Sewerage 

 Negotiations are on-going to find a permanent solution to Angledool water supply. Council 
has taken a lead role in this regard and will coordinate water carting to ease the situation on 
a short term basis. 

 A water and sewer asset valuation project is underway and is expected to be completed by 
the beginning of the next financial year. A total Asset Management System will be 
developed progressively beginning next financial year 2007-08. 

 Under State Drought Assistance Program. Council has successfully installed a metered 
Standpipe at Bogan Street, Brewarrina. Residents of Brewarrina and neighbouring Shires 
can avail this facility in case of emergency and severe drought conditions. 

 Under the same initiative, Council has successfully completed a ground water investigation 
by drilling 5 test bores at various locations. Council believes that this is just a preamble to 
future investigations towards a long term solution to continuing drought in the regions. 

 
Waste Technology Park 

 The Western Catchment Authority has kindly consented to support Brewarrina Shire 
Council in its initiative to timely address the solid waste management issues pertinent to the 
Council. This initiative will create public awareness through school children in reusing, 
recycling and managing the solid waste. Another benefit envisaged by this program will be 
the better regulating of the existing tip sites, which will prolong the life of the tip site. 

 Council has recently initiated an in-house GIS based information systems to record, retrieve 
and analyse data and information related to the Council’s infrastructure management and 
maintenance work. 

 Council is in the process of developing a building maintenance plan for Council owned 
properties and housing units. 

 
Human Resources 

 Council is now utilising a structured recruitment process and has recruited a number of 
positions using this methodology. 

 Council participated in a Traineeship program in 2006 acting as the Host Employer for ten 
trainees. Due to the positive results for the Traineeship program this was extended for a 
second year with expected completion in July 2008. 

 Council has started reviewing all position descriptions and its salary system 
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 Council has started reviewing all position descriptions and its salary system 
 A number of Training programs have been conducted and attended by Council staff which 

adds to the skill base of the Council’s workforce. 
 
I would like to thank my fellow Councillors and the former General Manager and his staff for their 
continuing efforts to provide a quality service to our community, at times under difficult situations 
with staffing shortages and the pressures that have been on local government generally in supplying 
a range of information and data to the State Government. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Councillor Matthew Slack-Smith 
Mayor 
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2.  VISION STATEMENT 
 

EXISTING TO SERVE THE COMMUNITY, DIRECTED TOWARDS: 
 

• Seizing opportunities to build economic and social capital 
• Improving the sustainability of our community 
• Managing infrastructure to serve the community 
• Preserving our heritage for our children and theirs 
• Leading advocacy on behalf of the community 
• Ensuring a continuing focus on customer service 

3.  MISSION STATEMENT 
 
 

To pursue our purpose through: 
 
The levying of an equitable rating system 
Providing and fostering local employment and investment 
opportunities 
Encouraging tourism through facilitating development and 
promotion of attractions 
Supporting local businesses 
Leading the development of local social infrastructure 
Managing the environment wisely through appropriate 
regulation and leading by example  
Continuing to provide and maintain physical service 
infrastructure at sustainable levels 
Delivering services through agency arrangements when in the 
best interests of our community 
Actively assisting the community to identify and preserve 
components of our indigenous and pioneer heritage 
Holding other levels of government accountable for investing 
in our community at levels that reflect our contribution to this 
state and our nation 
Providing effective training and development opportunities to 
enable staff to achieve excellence and deliver best value 
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4.  KEY DIRECTIONS 

4.1  Governance 
 

Pro-actively manage Council to ensure an innovative, customer focused organisation that enhances 
and promotes the unique character of Brewarrina Shire. 
 
Deliver services in an efficient and effective manner with an emphasis on service outcome. 
 
Pursue the principle of continuous improvement in the process of service delivery. 
 

4.2  Corporate Services 
 

Provide effective financial planning and reporting to ensure Council remains in a sound financial 
position, implement revenue policies which provide a fair and equitable distribution of the rate 
burden and maximise revenue from user charges, regulatory fees and contributions.  
 
Ensure effective use of information technology throughout all the operations of Council and to 
maintain effective administrative support to fulfil Council’s broad range of services and activities. 

4.3  Engineering Services 
 

Provide, develop and maintain the Shire’s infrastructure assets in terms of its transport services 
(roads, aerodrome & ancillary services), utility services (water, sewerage & drainage) and open 
space recreation facilities (parks, gardens & sporting fields) and to provide adequate resources to 
facilitate weed control and emergency service requirements. 

4.4  Environmental Services 
 
Promotion, development and maintenance of the natural and built environments to ensure 
protection of the community. This is achieved by properly monitoring and managing the 
environment, buildings, swimming pools, development, food sales storage and preparation, waste 
management, animal control, weed control and facilitating a safe, clean, healthy and orderly 
environment which will in turn improve the quality of life for citizens of Brewarrina Shire. Also, to 
undertake timely and effective forward planning of shire land use and infrastructure requirements. 
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5.  STATEMENT OF CORE VALUES 
 
The statement of values describes the Values Council Prides itself for and are reflected in Council 
Policy development and working.  
 
Brewarrina Shire Council’s Core Values are:  
 
  
Value Description 

 
Service Achieving excellence in customer service by satisfying the needs of customers. 

 
Communication Excellence in communications 

 
Efficiency with 
effectiveness 

Services provided by the organisation are to be carried out with the efficient 
allocation of resources.  
 

Equity Being a fair and equitable employer and provider of services. 
 

Commitment Displaying commitment and cohesion between community, elected members and 
staff. 
 

Consistency Having a professional approach to work with the highest ethical standards and a 
businesslike manner across the organisation;  
 

Achievement Developing a well trained, motivated and focussed staff and elected Council;  
 

Reliance Ensuring that the community, elected Council and staff can rely upon each other. 
  
Focus Maintaining a clear focus on the vision and agreed goals. 

 
Pride General pride in works and services. 

 
Respect Earning and retaining the respect of the community. 
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6.  COUNCIL CHARTER 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council has not made any addition to standard prescribed Council Charter as per 
Section 8 of Local Government act which is as follows. 
 

a. To provide directly or on behalf of other levels of government, after due consultation, 
adequate, equitable and appropriate services and facilities for the community and to ensure 
that those services and facilities are managed efficiently and effectively 

 
b. To exercise community leadership 
 
c. To exercise its functions in a manner that is consistent with and actively promotes the 

principles of multiculturalism 
 
d. To promote and to provide and plan for the needs of children 
 
e. To properly manage, develop, protect, restore, enhance and conserve the environment of the 

area for which it is responsible, in a manner that is consistent with and promotes the 
principles of ecologically sustainable development 

 
f. To have regard to the long term and cumulative effects of its decisions 
 
g. To bear in mind that it is the custodian and trustee of public assets and to effectively 

account for and manage the assets for which it is responsible 
 
h. To facilitate the involvement of councillors, members of the public, users of facilities and 

services and council staff in the development, improvement and co-ordination of local 
government 

 
i. To raise funds for local purposes by the fair imposition of rates, charges and fees, by 

income earned from investments and, when appropriate, by borrowings and grants 
 
j. To keep the local community and the State government (and through it, the wider 

community) informed about its activities 
 
k. To ensure that, in the exercise of its regulatory functions, it acts consistently and without 

bias, particularly where an activity of the council is affected 
 
l. To be a responsible employer. 
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7.  KEY DIRECTIONS  

7.1  Public Inquiry into Brewarrina Shire Council 
 
The 2006/07 year can be called The Year of the Public Inquiry into Brewarrina Shire Council. For 
Councillors and Council Staff it was a sharp learning curve. 
 
The Inquiry report made 94 recommendations to be implemented by Council. This required 
considerable Council resources, including additional consultants that had to be brought in at extra 
cost to assist Council staff with the recommendations. Council staff are implementing the 
recommendations in a planned way and are using the recommendations as a springboard to greater 
efficiencies in the Council’s operations. 

7.2  Council’s Financial Report 
LGA Section 42(2)(a) 
 
Attached to this report, marked Appendix A, is a copy of the audited Financial Reports for the year 
ended 30th June 2007. The statements were audited in October 2007 and the audited statements 
presented to Council on 23rd November 2007 in compliance with provision of Section 415 and 418 
of the Local Government Act (1993). 

7.3  Statement of Actual Performance Compared with Management Plan 
LGA Section 428(2)(b) 
 
As required by the Local Government Act, Appendix B shows a comparison of Council’s 
performance over the year with reference to the 2006/2010 Management Plan adopted by Council. 
Council had to redirect many of its limited resources to meet the additional requirements placed on 
the Council by the Inquiry. This has led to some performance indicators not being achieved as 
planned.  

7.4  Report as to the State of the Environment  
LGA Section 428(2)(c) 
 
Council is mindful of its environmental responsibilities and this is reflected in the State of the 
Environment Report which is attached as Appendix C. Of particular significance to this region is 
Aboriginal Heritage and Council continues to work closely with local and regional Aboriginal 
Organisations to seek to secure adequate resources to ensure its preservation for future generations. 

7.5  Report on the Condition of Public Works 
LGA Section 428(2)(d) 
 
Council’s road improvement priorities and therefore funding allocations are based on:- 
 

• funding, including funds tied to specific assets 
• safety and risk factors 
• the importance of roads in the transport network 
• the number of residents served by each road 
• load, reliability and traffic volume indicators  
• the levels of complaints 
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Brewarrina Shire Council is committed to provide, develop, and maintain a physical infrastructure 
that can transport people, goods, and resources in an effective and safe manner. Council’s current 
road network is summarised below- 
 
 

Roads 
 

Sealed 
(km) 

Unsealed 
(km) 

Responsibility 
 

State – Urban 7.0 0 RTA 
State – Rural 206.5 0 RTA 
Regional – Urban 2.12 0 Council & RTA 
Regional – Rural 123.20 149.05 Council & RTA 
Local – Urban 21.35 0 Council 
Local – Rural 14.66 1228.37 Council 
TOTAL 344.0 1409.0  

 
ROAD EXPENDITURE 
 
Local Roads 

Brewarrina Shire Council - Local Road Network

10% 4%

68%

18%

Brew arrina Streets

Goodooga Streets

Local Roads

Local Bridges

 
Council budgeted almost $1 million towards maintenance of its local road network including Urban 
Sealed and Rural Unsealed roads.  All of these funds were provided via the Financial Assistance 
Grant and the Roads to Recovery Program. 
 
Regional and State Roads 
 
All funding for the state roads was provided by the RTA in the form of Regional Roads Grant 
($805,000), State Roads Maintenance (Routine $181,553 and works orders of $925,024), Repair 
Programme ($300,000) and 3 x 3 program ($92,000). Due to the severe drought conditions 
maintenance grading on regional roads had to be restricted. 
 
Condition Of Public Works 
 
Special Schedule No. 7 as detailed within Council’s Annual Financial Reports for the year ended 
30 June 2007 provides the condition of public works under the control of Council. This Schedule is 
included in Appendix A. 
 
This Schedule also identifies: 

 an estimate of the amount of money required to bring the works up to a satisfactory 
standard, 

 an estimate of the annual expense of maintaining the works at that standard, and 
 Council’s programmed maintenance in respect of the works for the 2006/07 year. 
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8.  ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 
The current organisational structure of Brewarrina Shire Council was adopted by Council on 30th 
March 2007. This structure represents a considerable change from the organisational structure 
adopted in August 2006 which had six senior department managers each reporting to the General 
Manager. Like all organisational structures the adopted structure will be subject to constant review 
to ensure that it remains contemporary to the Council’s and communities expectations. The new 
management structure separates the main operational responsibilities in two groups: 
 
 - Engineering Services  
 - Corporate and Community Services 
 
with a senior Department Manager responsible for the efficient and effective delivery of the 
programs and objectives within these services. 
 
This structure is designed to be more efficient than the structure it replaced, with two senior 
department heads as Group Managers reporting to the General Manager on achievements of each 
program and goal within their operational groups. 
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 
30th March 2007 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

COUNCIL, MAYOR, COUNCILLORS

GENERAL MANAGER 

Group Manager Engineering 
Services  

Adopted Friday 30th March 2007 

SIGNED:                                             
DATED:   
                                                 
GENERAL MANAGER 

Technical 
Officer  

Works Manager  Store 
Person  

Trainee Engineering  

Ranger  

Group Manager Corporate & 
Community Services  

Manager Finance Manager Tourism 
& Economic 
Development  

Manager Community 
Services  

Tourism Officer  

Cleaner   

Relief Youth Worker  

Relief Youth Worker  

Librarian/RTA Officer  

Centrelink Officer 

Risk / OH&S 
Officer Rates Officer  

Admin Officer – Creditors & 
Debtors  

Records Officer  

Administration Assistant  

Rural Supervisor  

Truck Driver  

Grader Op – Heavy  

Grader Op – Heavy  

Grader Op – Bridge Heavy 

P/L Op – Heavy  

Road Labourer  

Road Labourer – VACANT 

Truck Driver  

Road Labourer  

Road Labourer  

Truck Driver 

Plant Op General – Heavy Plant  

JP – Lead Hand  Jet Patcher/Truck Driver  

Goodooga – Leading Hand

Goodooga – Labourer 

Grader Op – Heavy - VACANT 

P & G Labourer 

Town Supervisor  

P & G Labourer  

P & G Labourer  

Tradesperson 

Trade Labourer 

W & S – Sewer 

W & S - Water W&S Labourer - VACANT

Facilities Caretaker Facilities General Works Labourer  

App Mechanic – Auto - VACANT 

SHP Mechanic  

Mechanic – VACANT 

App Mechanic – D/P - VACANT 

Workshop Supervisor - 
VACANT 

Executive Assistant   Human 
Resources Officer  

Environmental Health & Building 
Manager  

Economic Development  
/ Grants Officer - 
VACANT

Aboriginal Liaison 
Officer (dependant on 
funding) 

Trainees 
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9.  DEPARTMENT REPORTS 

9.1  Technical Services 

9.1.1  Bridges 
• The repainting of the steelwork on the Old Barwon Bridge was completed by RTA. The 

bridge was totally encapsulated and sandblasted prior to painting.  
• Cato Creek Bridge was also repaired with an asphalt overlay (RTA).  

 

                          
 

9.1.2  Road Works 
Work was completed on the last remaining 5.4 km of the Jobs Gate Road, completing a ten year 
project and giving the people of Weilmoringle all-weather access to Brewarrina. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
During 2006/2007 Council undertook new works as well as routine maintenance works on State, 
Regional and Local roads in the Shire. Council was successful in obtaining over $1.10 million in 
funding for specific works orders on State Roads to improve the driving conditions on the main 
highways. Local unsealed roads were maintained as much as the continuing adverse drought 
conditions allowed. Following is a summary of some of the works completed on State, Regional 
and Local Roads within the Shire boundary: 
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A.        Road Construction 
 

1. State Roads 
 

• Additional 2.35km on SH29 West widened. 
• Cato Creek Bridge repaired with an asphalt overlay (RTA). 
• Removed three grids on SH29 and fence the common west of Brewarrina. 
• Rehabilitation of a section of SH29 East (Ropers Gully). 
• Widened MR70 from segment 2000 to 2015 by shoulder grading and 

primer sealing 800mm on both sides to reach a full width of 7 metres. 
• Commenced work to install guard rails at Fairlight on MR70 (4-5 Km 

from Gongolgon)- total length1388m. 
 

 
 

2. Regional Roads 
 

• Jobs Gate Road construction completed. 
• Installation of guardrail and narrow bridge signs. 
• Replacement of guide posts.  

 
3. Local Roads 

                         
• Commencement of work on Brenda Road 
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B.        Road Maintenance 
 

1. State Roads 
 

• Routine maintenance carried out eg. inspections, guidepost and sign 
maintenance, jet patching and premix surface correction. 

 
• Fencing of the SH29 West adjacent to the common completed. 
 
• Resealing program including edge break, shoulder grading and heavy 

patching of MR 70 reseal segments completed (19 Km). 
 
• Resealing segments on SH29,heavy patching completed(12.5 Km) 
 
• Edge break repairs and advance directional sign replacement on MR70 

completed.    
 
• Intersections of Bathurst/Belmore and Bourke/Belmore Streets completed. 
 
• Edge break repairs on SH29 East segment 1175 (10 K from Walgett 

turnoff) completed. 
 
2. Regional Roads 
 

• Maintenance grading of the following roads were completed: 
1. Goodooga Road  
2. Boomi Billybingbone Road 
3. Goodooga/Hebel Road   

  
• Edges break and surface correction repairs completed on the Goodooga and 

Bangate Roads in preparation for five kilometres of reseal. 
 
• Edge repairs of 4km on the Bangate Road and 2.5km on the Goodooga Road 

completed in preparation for next financial year’s reseal program. 
 

3.      Local Roads 
 

• Maintenance grading was completed on the Kahmoo Dunsandle Road, Jobs 
Gate Road (beyond Weilmoringle), East Culgoa Road, West Culgoa Road, 
Collerina Road, Narran Lake Road, Monkey Bridge Road, Carramar Road, 
Coola Bunnawara,Charlton Road and the Tarcoon Byrock Road. 

 
• Maintenance of signage on the north-western and southern area of the Shire 

completed. 
 
• Five redundant grids were removed from the West Culgoa Road in the 

Culgoa National Park and two from the East Culgoa Road. 
 
• Pothole repairs and jet patching in the town streets of Brewarrina. 
 
• Sealing of approximately 220m on the West Culgoa Road from the end of 

seal at Weilmoringle to the Reserve  
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• Reseal of shoulders adjacent to the state highway at the Bathurst Belmore 
Street intersection and Bourke Belmore Street intersection. 

 

 

9.1.3  Town Maintenance Tasks 
Public toilets in Brewarrina and Goodooga were completed and operational. 

9.1.4  Water and Sewage 
 Routine maintenance functions were undertaken.  
 River pump suction pipe repaired  
 A new activated carbon dosing system was installed at the Water Treatment 

Plant.  
 Capping of the old Goodooga bore  
 New wet well pump fitted at Cato Street  

 

  
 

9.1.5 Brewarrina Levee Bank 
 
The Brewarrina Levee Case Judgement directed that at a number of locations the Levee was 
defective and works to rectify these defects needed to be carried out. Council officers have had 
discussions with the Dubbo office of Department of Environment and Climate Change 
regarding ways to carryout these works. It was agreed at the meeting held in Dubbo on 16th 
February 2007 that it would be most cost effective for Council and the Department to engage 
the consultants Parsons Brinckerhoff (Original design was done by PPK which has been taken 
over by Parsons Brinckerhoff) because they have all the existing design details and are familiar 
with the project. 

 
Council meeting held on 29th June 2007 resolved to appoint Consultants Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Australia Pty. Ltd to carryout the Preparation of Contract Documents for the Brewarrina Levee 
Remedial Works. 
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9.1.6  Aerodromes 
 Routine inspections, weeding and updating of Aerodrome manuals.  
 Centreline at the Brewarrina Aerodrome repainted at 450mm width.  
 Obstacle limitation survey completed on both Brewarrina and Goodooga aerodromes.  
 Annual Electrical Inspection and servicing of NDB carried out with Air Services 

Australia.  
 Painting of the Brewarrina Terminal building  
 Tabletop Exercise for Brewarrina was carried out at the Shire Office on Friday 15.06.07 

by District Emergency Management Officer (DEMO).  
 

  

9.1.7  Groundwater Investigation 
 
Financial assistance was received under the Country Towns Water Supply and Sewerage Program 
for investigation into groundwater sources in Brewarrina. Work started on 15 May and was 
completed on 17 June 2007. 
 
A total of five test bores were drilled at the following locations: 

• Spot adjacent to Water treatment plant 
• Near River pumping station 
• Travelling Stock reserve land, Barwon Bridge-Northern bank 
• Council Depot 
• Showground 
 

In general, the investigation revealed that the water was either brackish or in insufficient quantity.  
A full investigative report is expected to be completed by.  

9.1.8  Training 
• 4 Council staff attended O H & S Construction course on 27.04.07. 
• 4 Council staff attended Bonded Asbestos Sheet Removal Training. 
• 2 Council staff attended Small landfill management sites training. 

 

9.1.9  Other 
 
Procurement of  new Caterpillar 428 D Backhoe Loader . 
Repair and painting  at CYSS hall for youth week 
New Brewarrina Tip excavated  
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9.2  Corporate Services 

9.2.1  Community Services 

9.2.1.1  Activities to develop and promote services and programs that provide for the 
  needs of Children 
 
Children aged 0-11years represent approximately 20.04% of the population of the Shire in the 2006 
census. 
 
The priority needs of children, as required by the Local Government Act 1993 Section 482(2)r, 
were identified in the Social and Community Plan 2006-2011 of the Shire, with activities and 
strategies to meet these needs. (refer Needs, Issues and Recommendations Action- children- page 
46 of the Community & Social Plan 2006-10). 
 
Council is aware of the special needs of the children in the community, and provides support as 
required, and availability of appropriate facilities and staff. 
 
These activities include the provision of a Vacation Care Service, recreational activities at the 
Brewarrina Youth Centre and other parks and areas in Brewarrina, and continuing to make 
available the facility of the Brewarrina Community Centre for various activities for children and 
youths, including Circus Skills, netball and other activities organised by groups in the community. 
 
The Department of Sport & Recreation has a full time activities co-ordinator in Brewarrina, who 
works closely with the Council and community groups, in the provision of youth activities in 
Brewarrina. 
 
During 2007, a Youth Interagency was established through the Facilitator of the Ngemba 
Community Working Party. This interagency meets regularly with the various youth and children 
service providers, in ongoing recreational activities in Brewarrina and co-ordinating community 
action on young people issues. 
 

9.2.1.2 Children and Youth Services   

 Youth Centre 
 

             
 
The youth centre opens Monday to Friday from 3pm to 7pm. Opening hours during the school 
holidays varies due to activities. 
 
There are movie nights on Friday nights (depending on availability of suitable films, other events 
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and activities). Saturday movie matinee is being trialled to gauge demand.  Of enormous success 
has been the discos and formal nights during the year, which have drawn large numbers of 
participants. 
 
Vacation care is held at the centre in the mornings of the school holidays, Monday to Friday.  

 Community Centre 
The Brewarrina Community Centre is the venue for a number of activities form young people. This 
includes: 

• Circus Skills 
• Netball competitions 
 A very popular netball competition was started during the year, with both junior and senior 
 players. 
• Other activities organised by Department of Sport & Recreation Officer, Brewarrina 

Schools and Community Groups. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Brewarrina / Warringah Sister City Program 
 
Other exciting programs in Brewarrina are the Brewarrina/Warringah Sister City Youth Exchange. 
The program has been running for the last five years and in the July school holidays five young 
people from Warringah spend a week in Brewarrina. In the January school holidays six young 
people from Brewarrina spend a week in Warringah taking in the sights and learning more about 
living in a city. Council sees value in continuing with the Sister City Program and an exchange of 
students will continue in 2007/08. 
 

 Community Programs and Activities 
 
The Youth Services staff of Council is involved in co-ordination with the community and the 
Youth Interagency with such events as Youth Week, Carols by Candlelight, Australia Day, 
Harmony Week and various workshops, day trips and free BBQs with the support of Yetta 
Correction Centre. 
 
Celebrating what's great was the message behind this year's Australia Day festivities and there was 
plenty of that happening at the Brewarrina Pool on the 26th January. Brewarrina's Australia Day 
ambassador was Peter Hatfield a former Olympic and Commonwealth Games decathlon athlete.    
 
Brewarrina's top community members were then recognised with Citizen of the Year going to 
Kerry Anne Andrews. Tiffany Winters picked up Young Citizen of the Year and Jeffrey Hardy was 
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named Sportsperson of the Year, with Barbie Lee Kirby being named Young Sportsperson of the 
Year. Congratulations to all recipients of the Australia Day awards and the community volunteers 
who have contributed to make Australia what it is today.    
 
Activities/programs undertaken this year have included: - 
 
Overnight camps, day trips, sporting trips, cooking, movie nights, discos, talent quest, local and 
inter-town sport competitions, computing workshops.  

 Brewarrina Child Care Centre 
 
Council owns a child care centre facility in Brewarrina which is operated by a local community 
committee.   
 
The centre caters for up to 22 pre-school aged children and operates between 8.30 am and 5.30 pm, 
Monday to Friday. 
 
This is an excellent service which provides local parents with a welcomed outlet for childcare 
whilst they are working in the local community. 

 Community oval (Geoff New Oval)  
 
This oval was used during the year for football and cricket matches as well as athletic competitions 
(Little As).                                                                                        

9.2.1.6  Services for People of Diverse Cultural and Linguistic Backgrounds 
 
According to the 2006 census data indigenous people make up 59.5% of Brewarrina’s population.  
 
Due to the relatively low numbers of any other ethnic groups within the community Council does 
not have specific programmes that cater for those who have other cultural or linguistic backgrounds 
but rather treats any request or obvious need on an individual basis. 
 
Council is mindful of its social obligations to the members of its community with different cultural 
backgrounds and in 1999 commissioned the preparation of a Community Social Plan to assist it in 
identifying the needs of all members of the community. Social and Community Plan 2006-10 has 
sought to identify the needs of all persons in the community including those referred to above and 
establish the best activities to support these persons. 
 
Refer to Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (j). 

9.3   Environmental, Health and Building Services 
 
Council’s Environmental Health and Building activities are discussed comprehensively in the State 
of the Environment Report for 2006/7. 
 
Matters covered in the report include the following: 
 

1. Land; 
2. Air 
3. Water 
4. Biodiversity 
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5. Waste management 
6. Noise 
7. Heritage (Aboriginal and non-aboriginal heritage) 

 
Activities relating to companion animals for the year 2006/7 
 
Council submits annually pound data returns to the companion animals unit. 
 
Below is a summary of the activities in this department. 
 

Section 
Transferred 

To 
Council's 
Facility 

In 
Council's 
Facility 
- start of 
month 

Animals 
leaving 

Council's 
Facility 

Released to 
Owners Euthanased 

  T U V   J     K   
 Total Total Total Cats Dogs Total Cats Dogs Total
July 20 3 20 0 3 3 5 9 14
August 20 3 23 0 1 1 2 20 22
September 10 0 10 0 0 0 0 9 9
October 15 0 12 0 0 0 0 12 12
November 14 3 17 0 0 0 0 17 17
December 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4
January 18 0 18 0 0 0 0 18 18
February 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4
March 18 0 16 0 0 0 1 15 16
April 18 2 20 0 0 0 0 20 20
May 26 0 22 0 1 1 0 21 21
June 32 4 36 0 0 0 4 32 36

 199 15 202
 

0 5 5 12 181 193
 

Dog attacks 
 
One dog attack was reported to the Department on 22/6/2007. 
 
General Companion Animal Management Strategy 
 
Awareness 
 
The Council’s Ranger visited all the residents in Goodooga in April 2007 in a door knocking 
project to do education on their responsibilities as dog owners. A survey was also done to calculate 
the number of dogs in Goodooga and to determine the compliance rate in this community. 
 
It was found that approx. 70% of the community is non-compliant with the provisions of the 
Companion Animals Act. A project is planned and will commence in late 2007 or early 2008. The 
project is a joint venture between the ICC in  Dubbo, RSPCA NSW, Brewarrina Shire Council and 
Sydney University. The aim of the project is to: 
 

• Educate the communities in Goodooga and Brewarrina regarding their responsibilities 
relating to responsible dog/cat ownership. 

• Free desexing, micro-chipping, vaccination and treatment of all the dogs and cats in these 
communities. 

•  The only contribution from these communities will be the registration of the animals. 
 
Compliance with the act will be achieved through proper dialogue, education and cooperation.  
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10.  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1993 SECTION 428 REQUIREMENTS 

10.1  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (e) 

10.1.1  Summary of Legal Proceedings 
 
 

Amount Details Result 
 

$639,670 BSC -ats- Beckhaus Civil Pty Ltd.  
Levee Bank Construction Contract Dispute 
-includes final payment 

Finalised 

$    5,080 Legal advice re the Department of Local 
Government Public Inquiry 

Finalised 

$  21,545 Recovery of Outstanding Debts Ongoing 
   $   1,445          Land Transfer            Complete  
 

10.2  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (f) 

10.2.1  Mayoral and Councillors Fees and Expenses 
 
The following expenditures were incurred: Mayoral Allowance ($6,623). Councillors’ fees 
($70,585), Councillors Training ($5,059) and Councillors’ travelling and sustenance ($30,064). 
 
A copy of Council’s policy in relation to reimbursement of Councillors Expenses is attached and 
marked Appendix D. 

10.3  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (g) 

10.3.1  Details of Senior Staff 
 
In accordance with the provision of Section 332 of the Local Government Act 1993, the position of 
General Manager is the only position at Brewarrina Shire Council to be determined to be a senior 
staff position. 
 

Remuneration Package 
Salary (Cash) component 127,910.64 
Other payments  
Superannuation   11,511.96 

 

10.4  Local Government Act 1993 Section 217(1)(a1)(vi) 

10.4.1  Overseas Visits Undertaken by Councillors and Staff whilst Representing Council 
 
No Councillors or staff of Brewarrina Shire Council undertook overseas travel at Council’s expense 
during 2006-07 whilst representing Council. 
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10.5  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (h) 

10.5.1  Statement of Contracts Awarded - Excess of $150,000  
 
Council attempts at all time to maximise the utilisation of its scarce financial resources by 
attempting to secure goods and services at the most competitive price taking into account quality 
service and reliability. During the year ended 30 June 2007 Council awarded one contract which 
exceeded $150 000. 
 
Pioneer Road Services Bitumen sealing- resealing works $905,730 
 

10.6  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (i) 

10.6.1  Bushfire Hazard Reduction Activities  
 
General 
 
The Brewarrina Rural Fire District covers the Brewarrina Shire Council area. This comprises an 
area of 18,714 square kilometres in the Upper Western weather district. The average annual rainfall 
is approximately 400 mm. The NSW Fire Brigade District is 10 square kilometres and the National 
Parks and Wildlife Service area of responsibility is 150 square kilometres. 
 
In August 2002, Bourke and Brewarrina Shire Councils agreed to zoning of both the Rural Fire 
Districts to be called the Barwon Darling Rural Fire Zone. The Zone employs a Zone Manager, a 
Zone Officer specialising in Operations / Learning & Development, a Zone Officer specialising in 
Community Safety / Operations Support and a Zone Administration Officer.  
 
Again during this financial year, bush fire hazard reduction was minimal, due to the continuing 
drought conditions. Small areas of roadside slashing was carried out as well as maintenance of the 
Brewarrina airport and village airstrips. 
 
Brigade 
 
The Barwon Darling Rural Fire Zone has 16 Brigades, with 8 in Bourke District and 7 in 
Brewarrina and 1 Communications Brigade. The Brewarrina Rural Fire District has approximately 
175 members and of which 92 is deemed active, the members are under the direction of the Zone 
Manager.  
 
From 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007, the Barwon Darling Zone has had 115 primary incidents and 
104 support responses for a total of 219 brigade incidents including the deployment of 10 
volunteers attending the Section 44 incident at Weddin Mountain. These comprised of bush and 
grass fires, motor vehicle accidents, structural fires and false alarms. There was no Section 44 
Declarations within the Brewarrina District for 2006/07. 
 
Hazard Reduction 
 
No Hazard Reduction was conducted within the Brewarrina Shire in 2006/07 due to the severe 
drought condition within the Shire.  
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10.7  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (k) 

10.7.1  Private Work Carried Under Section 67 (2b) 
 
In accordance with Section 67(3) of the Local Government Act Council advises that no work was 
carried out on private property that entailed a subsidy from Council or at a cost less than the 
Council scheduled Council charges for such work.  
 
Council undertakes a considerable amount of private work, however, all is charged in accordance 
with the schedule of fees and charges adopted by Council in conjunction with the 2006/2007 
Management Plan.  Council has the resources to undertake such work and sees it both as an 
important service to its ratepayers and a revenue generating opportunity given the isolation of the 
Shire and the lack of other persons with the resources to undertake the work. Work involved, in the 
main, the short -term hire of earth moving equipment and the supply and/or haulage of gravel and 
loam. 

10.8  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (l) 

10.8.1  Contributions Under Section 356 
 
Council policy is not to make donations to charitable organisations and that contributions to 
community based organisations or other organisations contributing to the general amenity of the 
Shire are considered on their individual merit. 
 
The following organisations received contributions as listed:- 
 

Moree Regional Library $29,439 
Barwon Darling Alliance $13,500 
2 WEB Radio $  2,500 
Board of Fire Commissioners $10,538 
Bushfire Fighting Fund $66,887 
Outback Regional Tourism $     600 
Cobb & Co $  1,000 
Kamilaroi Highway $  3,000 

 

10.9  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (m) 

10.9.1  Statement of Human Resources Activities   
 
Human Resource activities are those aimed at managing and improving the quality, performance, 
opportunities and safety conditions of Council employees. A well trained, skilled and dedicated 
workforce is an important asset to the community. The key activities of this function are: 
 
• Performance Management 
• Change management 
• Recruitment  
• Occupational Health & Safety and 
• Training and education 
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10.10  Local Government Act 1993 Section 482(2)(m) 

10.10.1  HR Activities 2006/07 
 
ACTIVITIES OBJECTIVES KEY PERFORMANCE 

MEASURES 
Performance Management / 
Change Management 

• Implementation of a new Organisational structure 
which requires: 

 Position descriptions  
 Adequate requirements for positions 
 Competencies 

• Development of an integrated appraisal process 
including: 

 Create performance assessments 
 Regular feedback between management & 

employees on performance 
 Regular review of competencies between 

management & employees 
 Implementation of OO-Soft  
 Creation of skill matrix  
 Conduct Needs analysis  
 Development & training implemented with 

competencies 
 Creation of career planning and succession 

planning 

Position descriptions for all 
positions on the 
organisational structure 
created. 
 
New appraisal system 
introduced. 

Recruitment • Increase in staff numbers and staff retention 
 Fill vacant positions 
 Concentrate on the Workshop where there is a 

skill shortage 
 Create strategies to attract key staff 
 Induction program 
 Policy & Procedures 

Reduction in the number of 
staff vacancies. 
 
Retention and employment 
of skilled staff. 

Occupational Health & Safety 
/ Workers Compensation 

• Implementation of policy and procedures 
• Decrease in premiums and number of workplace 

incidents 
 Regular review of all outstanding cases 
 Quarterly reporting  

• Regular review of all wage and expenses claims 

Reduction in the number of 
workplace injuries and injury 
costs. 

Training • Implementation of training plans based on skills 
matrix and needs analysis 

 See below 

65% of the workforce to 
attend some form of training 
each year 

Payroll / Personnel • Fortnightly processing of wages and reporting 
 Quarterly reporting on Sick leave 
 Monitor leave 
 Monthly Superannuation reporting 
 Confidentiality of all employee records 
 Address issues when/where required 

Increased reporting and 
more accurate reflection of 
details in employee records. 

Trainees • Progress and increase in skills 
 Record attendance 
 Review payment to Employer 
 Work together with Employer to ensure training 

plans are followed 

Increase in work output. 
 
Increase attendance rates to 
85% across the board. 
 
Completion of Training 
Plans. 

NB – An overall Human Resources Plan is to be in place by 2008. 

10.10.2  Training Activities Conducted during the period  2006/07 
 
COURSE PARTICIPANTS 
OH&S Induction for Construction 2 
Traffic Control using Stop/Slow bat (BLUE) 13 
Intro to Traffic Control at Roadworks (YELLOW) 9 
First Aid 12 
Confined Spaces 8 
Confined Spaces Refresher 6 
Chemical Users 4 
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Chemical Users Refresher 1 
Manual Handling 35 
Cable Awareness presentation 6 
Taking minutes workshop 1 
OO-Soft 2 
Records Management 2 
Certificate III Business Management 2 
Statecover OH&S Workshop 1 
Shire Website training 5 
NB – Mainly reactive style training due to lack of training over previous years. 
 

10.10.3  Training Budget Allocation 2006/07 
 
DEPARTMENT ESTIMATE ACTUAL DIFFERENCE 
Indoor 
(gst free) 

$7,000.00 
$5,000.00 

$6,168.09 
$1,150.00 

$831.91 
$3,850.00 

Outdoor 
(gst free) 

$30,000.00 
$5,000.00 

$30,461.97 
$2,300.00 

($461.97) 
$2,700.00 

Engineering 
(gst free) 

$10,000.00 
 

$5,096.69 $4,903.31 

Health & Building 
(gst free) 

$2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 

Tourism staff 
Tourism Manager 
(gst free) 

$1,250.00 
$1,250.00 
 

$278.58 
$186.46 

$971.42 
$1,063.54 

TOTALS $61,500.00 $45,641.79 $15,858.21 
NB – Differences were attributed to lack of staff in Engineering, Health & Building and Tourism Departments 
 

10.11  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (n) 

10.11.1  Statement of Equal Employment Opportunity Management 
 
The Brewarrina Shire Council recognises that Equal Employment opportunity (EEO) is a key 
component of sound management. It is committed to removing all sources of workplace 
discrimination and ensuring that EEO principles underpin Council activity and reinforce Councils 
values of honesty, fairness, integrity and the valuing of people. The key activities of this function 
are: 
 
• EEO Awareness 
 
• Promotion of EEO 
 
• EEO in Council positions 
 
• EEO for Career progression 
 
• Awareness of Grievance & Harassment in the workplace 
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ACTIVITIES OBJECTIVES KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
MEASURES 

All employees have an awareness 
of EEO  

• Implementation of key programs/procedures to 
create this environment such as: 

 Induction 
 Job Descriptions for all employees 
 Skill matrix for employees 
 Awareness/Training Sessions 
 Surveys 

EEO 
programs/procedures. 
 
Questions in EEO 
Survey.  

Promote EEO within the 
workplace 

• The creation an EEO Committee to address 
issues as below: 

 Policies, principles, plans & programs  
(including family friendly/remote location 
policies) 

 Legislation 
 Annual reports 
 Communications within the workplace 

Establishment of EEO 
committee in 2007. 
 
Implementation of 
policies. 
 
EEO report included 
in Annual Report. 

Ensure EEO for all Council 
positions 

• Implementation of employment 
procedures/practices 

 Recruitment advertisements comply 
with EEO principles 

 Include EEO Statement on 
advertisements 

 Advertisements to target EEO groups 
(e.g. Aboriginals, women, disability 
etc...) 

 Interview questions to reflect EEO 
 Availability of exit interviews 

EEO employment 
procedures/practices.  
 
EEO reflected in job 
advertisements and 
interview questions. 
 
Composite selection 
panel. 

EEO for Career progression • Implementation of Succession planning and 
Training & Development plans based on needs 
and skill requirements. 

Establishment of skills 
matrix and succession 
plans. 

Awareness of Grievance & 
Harassment in the workplace 

• Implementation of key programs/procedures to 
create this environment such as: 

 Induction 
 Awareness/Training sessions – employees 

& supervisors 
 Training Sessions – public contact 

• Review policies and procedures by EEO 
committee 

Grievance procedures 
established. 
 
Staff Training. 
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10.11.2  Brewarrina Shire Council Workforce Profile 2006/07 
 
EMPLOYEES 
 

NUMBER PERCENTAGE (FTE’s) 

From NESB 1 2.3% 
Female 14 31.8% 
Aboriginal  18 40.9% 
Under 25 2 4.5% 
Over 55 11 25% 
With disabilities 0 0% 
Aboriginal Staff in positions over 
$40,000 

4 9.1% 

Number of EEO complaints 0 0% 
 
TOTALS 
 
TOTAL Full Time      44 Total Part Time      3 TOTAL Casual      5 TOTAL Trainees      7 
 
Council’s Equal Opportunity Policy is attached and marked as Appendix E. 

10.12  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (o) 

10.12.1  Statement of All External Bodies that Exercise Functions Delegated by Council 
 
There were no external bodies exercising any Council function during the year 2006-07. 
 

10.13  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (p) 

10.13.1  Statement of Companies in Which Council Held a Controlling Interest 
 
Council did not have a controlling interest in any company at any time during 2006-07.      
                                                                                                                                                                                    

10.14  Local Government Act 1993 Section 428(2) (q) 

10.14.1  Statement of Partnerships Co-Operatives and Joint Ventures 

10.14.1.1  Northern Regional Library and Information Service 
 
This Regional Library Facility is based in Moree and is administered by 
Moree Plains Shire Council. Membership of the Northern Regional Library and Information 
Service enables the provision of a far better level of services and access to resources than would be 
achieved under a stand alone Library and offers the service at far less cost than otherwise would be 
incurred. Members of the Northern Regional Library and Information Service are: - 
 
Moree Plains Shire, Brewarrina Shire, Walgett Shire and Gwydir Shire. 
 

10.14.1.2  Statewide Mutual Insurance Group. 
 
Statewide Mutual is a Local Government based insurance group administered by Jardine Lloyd 
Thomas Pty Ltd and supported by the Local Government and Shires Association of NSW and a 
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large percentage of NSW Councils. The object of the group is to develop insurance products to 
meet the needs of Local Government and to negotiate the best possible price for all members. 
Significant savings have resulted in all classes of insurance and in particular the area of Public 
Liability and Professional Indemnity. 

10.14.1.3  Living Outback Region. 
 
Brewarrina Shire falls within the Living Outback Region. This region covers the western third of 
NSW, incorporating 8 LGA’s and the unincorporated region of NSW. Council continues to play a 
key role as one of the eight Local Government authorities which make up the outback region, 
within Tourism NSW 14 regions system. Council is represented by two (2) delegates to the 
organisation which meets bi-monthly. 

10.14.1.4  Kidman way Tourism Promotion Group. 
 
Brewarrina Shire is an associate member of the Kidman Way Tourism Promotions Group which 
has a strategic focus on the Kidman Way Highway which as a route promotion now links Jerilderie 
in the south of NSW to Bourke in the north of NSW and continues to be active within the 4-wheel 
drive and camping market to promote the western NSW region served by this Highway.  Council 
recognises that while the Kidman way does not physically pass through Brewarrina Shire, it is 
nevertheless a major source of tourist traffic for Brewarrina and as such contributes staff resources 
to the group, and financial resources to the printing of the major promotional brochure. 

10.14.1.5  Kamilaroi Highway Tourism Promotion Group. 
 
The six Shire Councils along the route have formed the Kamilaroi Highway Group to promote it as 
a link from the New England to the Outback. The 600 kilometre highway takes in Gunnedah, 
Narrabri, Walgett, and Brewarrina. The Group had a number of promotional initiatives during the 
year 2006-07. These initiatives have successfully increased the number of tourists and there has 
been a noticeable increase in the number of caravans on the highway. 

10.14.1.6  Barwon Darling Alliance 
 
Brewarrina Shire continues to be an active participator in the Barwon Darling Alliance, a regional 
grouping of Local Government Authorities and the Murdi Paaki Regional Council of the 
Indigenous Co-ordination Centre in far north-western NSW. Through the Barwon Darling Alliance, 
Council is able to much more effectively lobby both State and Federal Governments relative to a 
wide variety of issues including employment generation, funding of asset construction and 
maintenance in rural NSW, community justice, and law and order issues. 
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11.  ACCESS AND EQUITY ACTIVITY SUMMARY 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council is committed to developing a social or community plan every 5 years to 
assist Council take into account the needs of its community and provide or advocate for appropriate 
and accessible services and facilities for the benefits of its community. Council will consider the 
findings of this social plan when formulating its future annual management plans. 
 
Council developed its social plan in 2006/10, to examine the needs of residents and visitors to the 
Local Government area. This social plan includes demographic information about the population of 
the LGA in addition to looking at the needs of people with disabilities, people from culturally and 
linguistically diverse backgrounds, Aboriginal people, children and young people, women, older 
people and unemployed people, and compiling strategies to meet these needs. 
 

• Promote fairness in the distribution of resources particularly to those people and areas 
identified as most in need 

• Recognises and promotes people’s rights and improves the accountability of decision 
makers 

• Enable residents to have access to the economic resources and services essential to meeting 
their basic needs and improving their quality of life 

• Allow residents the opportunity for participation and consultation in decisions affecting 
them directly or indirectly 

• Identifying those areas of needs within the community which should be given greatest 
priority with particular emphasis on the provisions of services for youth, aged, disabled and 
disadvantaged 

 
The Council is continuing to establish improved relationship and partnerships with community 
groups and aligning community action plans with the current Social and Community plan of 
Council (2006-10). 
 
The areas of needs priorities are identified as: 
 

• Employment/unemployment 
• Educational choices and pathways 
• Recreational, sporting and social opportunities 
• Drug and alcohol problems 

 
In addition to the Community Social Plan for 2006-10, which was adopted by Council in June 
2007, Council is in the process of developing a crime prevention plan.  
 
These needs and strategies/activities to resolve these needs are contained in the Social and 
Community Plan 2006-10 of Council, ref pages 34-65 and are summaried in Item 7 (page 64-65) of 
the plan. 
 
All planning processes will involve extensive community consultation ensuring, as far as possible, 
these strategic plans reflect the opinions of the community members and adequately address needs 
and expectations.  

11.1  Access and Equity Activities 
 
As outlined in the Social and Community Plan 2006-10; page 50 and page 66, and the Management 
Plan of 2006-10, Council is continuing to provide maintenance to the disabled access facilities, and 
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its various facilities, as well as providing additional access for the disabled, as necessary. 

11.2  Problems with Remote Location. 
 
Like many communities in remote locations residents within the Shire face the difficulty in 
accessing services which our city counterparts take for granted, and which are often provided by 
the private sector on a commercial basis in areas of higher population density. 
 
Due to low population density many of the services have either never been available or are slowly 
disappearing.  Council is mindful of the void the reduction of these services can leave within a 
community and has where possible, lobbied for their retention, or assisted in the provision of a 
substitute service.  Examples include: - 
 

• RTA facility 
• Free internet facilities at the Library 
• Housing and commercial premises for medical practitioners, pharmacists and Council 

professional staff 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council has for many years been a strong advocate for improvement of services 
for its residents and those in rural NSW and will continue to petition both the two (2) other tiers of 
Government in this regard. 

11.3  Community Support 
 
As mentioned, in many instances Council becomes involved in the provision of services in 
response to community need and the absence of alternatives.  Council is however, fortunate in 
having strong community input in the provision of services on a voluntary basis as residents 
recognise the needs of their fellow community members. 

11.4  Council Commitment 
 
Council is committed to ensuring that the services it provides are available to all sectors of the 
community it serves. At the same time, Council will continue its commitment to seeking better 
access to facilities and services to the members of all rural communities and work to turn around 
the degradation of State and Federal Government services experienced by our community.   

11.5  National Competition Policy 
 
Whilst acknowledging the economies of scale and cost factors involved, Australia can ill afford a 
further decline in the rural communities as the population drifts to larger cities.  The responsibility 
to address this problem rests with all tiers of Government and will start with reinstatement retention 
and improvement of services and facilities. 

11.5.1  Category 1 Business Activities 
 
Council does not have any business activities which have sales in excess of $2,000,000 and as such, 
no category 1 Business Activities.  

11.5.2  Category 2 Business Activities 
 
Council has two business activities which it has deemed to be category 2 businesses and these are: - 
 
Brewarrina Shire Water Supply 
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Brewarrina Shire Sewerage Services. 
 
The financial statements for each of the above form part of Council’s Annual Financial Reports and 
are contained in Appendix A (as previously mentioned on page 7). 

11.5.3  Principles of Competitive Neutrality 
 
Council is mindful of the principles of competitive neutrality and has applied them in its category 2 
operations. 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council is a small rural Shire in western NSW and in many instances undertakes 
activities which in large centres may also be provided by the private sector. Council, however, 
provides these activities as a service to the Community, as distance, isolation and low population 
base prevents the provision of the service by the private sector when motivated by profit rather than  
the community service obligation of Council. 

11.5.4  Complaints Handling for Competitive Neutrality 
 
As part of its general Complaints Policy Council has provided a mechanism for the handling of 
complaints regarding competitive neutrality. A copy of the Complaints Policy is appended to this 
report in Appendix F.  
 
Anyone who indicates that they wish to make a complaint concerning Council operations is offered 
a copy of the Policy and can at the first instance direct enquires to the Council’s Public Officer. 

11.5.5  Summary of Handling for Competitive Neutrality Complains 
 
No complaints were received in the 2006-07 financial year. 

12.  RATES AND CHARGES WRITTEN OFF  
 
The total amount of rates and charges written off for the period 1st July 2006 to 30th June 2007 
totalled $55,320.31, which included $16,512.67 in pensioner concessions. 

13.  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (1989) 
Section 68(6) of the Freedom of Information Act 
Council is required by the Freedom of Information Act to include in its annual report statistics 
relating to applications received for access to its records under the Freedom of Information Act and 
these are detailed hereunder: - 
 

 2005-06 2006-07 
FOI REQUESTS Personal Other Total Personal Other Total 
New (inc. transferred in) Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Brought forward Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Total to be processed Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Completed Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Transferred out Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Withdrawn Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Total Processed Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Unfinished (carried forward) Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

 
Council provides adequate access to records and information.  
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14.  PRIVACY AND PERSONAL INFORMATION PROTECTION ACT (1998) 
 
Council adopted the Model Privacy Management Plan and the Model code of Practice for Local 
Government in 2000 and has not made any amendments to the Plan. Council continues to assist 
customers by providing information to legitimate enquiries.  
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Contents

1. Statement by Councillors & Management

2. Primary Financial Statements:

- Income Statement

- Balance Sheet

- Statement of Changes in Equity

- Cash Flow Statement

3. Notes to the Financial Statements

4. Independent Auditor's Reports:

 - On the Financial Report   (Sect 417 [2])

 - On the Conduct of the Audit   (Sect 417 [3])

Overview

(i) This Financial Report covers the consolidated operations for Brewarrina Shire Council.

(ii) Brewarrina Shire Council is a body corporate of NSW, Australia - being constituted as a Local Government

area by proclamation and is duly empowered by the Local Government Act (LGA) 1993 of NSW.

Council's Statutory Charter is specified in Section 8 of the LGA and includes;

carrying out activities and providing goods, services & facilities appropriate to the current & future

needs of the Local community and of the wider public

responsibility for administering regulatory requirements under the LGA and other applicable legislation, &

a role in the management, improvement and development of the resources of the local government area.

A description of nature of Councils operations and it's principal activities are provided in Note 2(b).

(iii) All figures presented in this Financial Report represent Australian Currency.

(iv) This Financial Report was authorised for issue by the Council on 2 November 2007.

Council has the power to amend and reissue the financial report.
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Income Statement
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$ '000

Income from Continuing Operations

Revenue:

Rates & Annual Charges

User Charges & Fees

Interest & Investment Revenue

Other Revenues

Grants & Contributions provided for Operating Purposes

Grants & Contributions provided for Capital Purposes

Other Income:

Net gains from the disposal of assets

Share of interests in Joint Ventures & Associated Entities

using the Equity Method

Total Income from Continuing Operations

Expenses from Continuing Operations

Employee Benefits & on-costs

Borrowing Costs

Materials & Contracts

Depreciation & Amortisation

Impairment

Other Expenses

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations

Operating Result from Continuing Operations

Discontinued Operations

Net Profit/(Loss) from Discontinued Operations

Net Operating Result for the Year

Net Operating Result attributable to Council

Net Operating Result attributable to Minority Interests

Net Operating Result for the year before Grants and

Contributions provided for Capital Purposes

Original Budget as approved by Council - refer Note 16

285               1,286            374               

1,318            

-                   

1,856          

1,856            

7,578          

-                 

1,318      

-                 

1,856      

4e 784             787             

4a 2,730          2,760          

4b 84               50               

4c 1,982          2,650          

4d 1,328          1,331          

4d -                 -                 

6,908          

1,318          

6,584          

495             

86               

814             

-                 

1,463          

498             

157             

55               

Budget(1)

2007  

ActualActual

Notes 2007 2006

495               

(1)

3e,f

-                 

495         

-                 

797             

1,358          

-                 

7,079          

3,529          

19

-                   

1,359          1,824          

324             220             

4,696          

210             32               1,482          

1,479          1,608          

3e,f

-                 

3a

3b

3c

3d

-                 

4,084          

9,434          8,226          

141             158             

4,730          

5 32               187             
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Balance Sheet
 as at 30 June 2007

$ '000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Investments

Receivables

Inventories

Other

Non-current assets classified as "held for sale"

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Investments

Receivables

Inventories

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

Investments Accounted for using the equity method

Investment Property

Intangible Assets

Other

Total Non-Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables

Interest Bearing Liabilities

Provisions - anticipated as being payable within the next 12 months

Provisions - anticipated as being payable after the next 12 months

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables

Interest Bearing Liabilities

Provisions

Total Non-Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Net Assets

EQUITY

Retained Earnings

Revaluation Reserves

Total Equity

10 510               421               

6b

7

8

8

22

20

6a

6b

Actual Actual

Notes 2007 2006

4,902            

20

25

10

10

10

10

10

8

7

8

9

14

19

4,682            

-                    -                    

683               847               

385               558               

-                    -                    

96                 

-                    -                    

6,084            6,183            

114               

92                 

-                    -                    

51,357          40,805          

125               

40,897          

-                    

-                    -                    

1,959            

636               1,200            

587               105               

1,892            

3,157          3,328          

1,265            1,369            

43,752      

45,070          43,752          

9,339            -                    

-                    

159               233               

-                    

-                    -                    

51,482          

54,409      

54,409      

57,566        47,080        

43,752      

10 23                 15                 

-                    -                    

1,242            1,354            

-                    
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$ '000

Opening Balance (as per Last Years Audited Accounts)

a. Correction of Prior Period Errors

b. Transfers to/(from) Asset Revaluation Reserve

c. Other Adjustments

d. Net Operating Result for the Year

Equity - End of Reporting Period Balance

$ '000

Opening Balance (as per Last Years Audited Accounts)

a. Adjustments on adoption of AASB 132 and

     AASB139 as at (1/7/05)

b. Correction of Prior Period Errors

c. Changes in Accounting Policies (prior year effects)

d. Net Operating Result for the Year

Equity - End of the Reporting Period Balance

Equity

Reserves Council Equity Minority Total

-                 

Retained

Earnings

Reserves

(Refer 20b)Notes

Notes Earnings

20b (ii)

20b (ii)

43,752       

2007

2006

(Refer 20b) Interest Interest Equity

20 (c)

43,752       -                 43,752       

1,856         -                 1,856         

-                 

1,318         -                 

-                 -                 

1,318         

-                 1,856         

-                 -                 20 (d)

54,409       

41,896       

-                 -                 

-                 

-                 -                 

-                 

20 (c)

-                 -                 -                 

-                 

-                 -                 

-                 

-                 

-                 9,339         9,339         

-                 -                 -                 

1,318         -                 

9,339         

43,752       -                 

-                 -                 

43,752       

-                 

-                 9,339         

43,752       -                 

-                 -                 

Council Equity

Interest

Minority

Interest

Total

-                 

Retained

45,070       

41,896       

54,409       

41,896       
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Cash Flow Statement
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$ '000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts:

Rates & Annual Charges

User Charges & Fees

Interest & Interest Received

Grants & Contributions

Other

Payments:

Employee Benefits & On-costs

Materials & Contracts

Borrowing Costs

Other

Net Cash provided (or used in) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Receipts:

Sale of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

Payments:

Purchase of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equip.

Net Cash provided (or used in) Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Receipts:

Proceeds from Borrowings & Advances

Payments:

Nil

Repayment of Borrowings & Advances

Net Cash Flow provided (used in) Financing Activities

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

plus: Cash & Cash Equivalents - beginning of year

Cash & Cash Equivalents - end of the year

Please refer to Note 11 for information on the following:

- Non Cash Financing & Investing Activities.

- Financing Arrangements.

- Net Cash Flow disclosures relating to any Discontinued Operations

819             

(2,090)         (2,509)         (2,223)         

1,773          2,359          1,204          11b

(105)              

-                    

4,460        11a

(105)           

(256)           

(106)           

(200)           (422)           

4,882            11a

4,426        4,682        

4,682            4,882            

(106)              (61)                

-                    880               

(2,090)           (2,705)           (2,449)           

-                    196               226               

(814)              (2,110)           

4,905            4,430            5,989            

55                 214               141               

(3,529)           

(3,503)           

498               

(797)              (1,022)           

20062007

1,385            

(2,732)           (2,864)           

1,872            905               

(86)                

(1,056)           

(51)                

Budget

215               

1,522            1,428            

Actual Actual

Notes 2007

271               157               

(87)                
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Contents of the Notes accompanying the Financial Statements

Details

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Council Functions - Financial Information

Council Functions - Component Descriptions

Income from Continuing Operations

Expenses from Continuing Operations

Gains or Losses on Disposal of Assets

Cash & Cash Equivalent Assets

Investments

Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments - Details

Receivables

Inventories & Other Assets

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

Restricted Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment - Current Year Impairments

Payables, Interest Bearing Liabilities & Provisions

Description of (& movements in) Provisions

Cash Flow Statement - reconciliation of cash & additional information

Commitments for Expenditure

Statement of Performance Measures

Investment Properties

Financial Instruments - Interest Rate Risk Exposures & Fair Values

Material Budget Variations

Statement of Developer Contributions

Contingencies and Other Liabilities/Assets not recognised

Investments accounted for using the Equity Method (ie. Associated Entities

and Interests in Joint Ventures), Joint Venture Operations & Subsidiaries

Equity - Retained Earnings and Revaluation Reserves
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3
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

 

  
  page 8 

The principal accounting policies adopted by 
Council in the preparation of this financial report are 
set out below in order to assist in its general 
understanding. 
 
Under Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), accounting 
policies are defined as those specific principles, 
bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by 
a reporting entity (in this case Council) in preparing 
and presenting it’s financial reports. 
 
 

(a) Basis of preparation 
 
(i) Background 
 
This financial report is a general purpose financial 
report which has been prepared in accordance with; 
 
� applicable Australian equivalents to 

International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AIFRSs), 

 
 
� other authoritative pronouncements of the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board, 
 
 
� Urgent Issues Group Interpretations, 
 
 
� the Local Government Act (1993) and 

Regulations and 
 
 
� the Local Government Code of Accounting 

Practice and Financial Reporting. 
 
 
(ii) Compliance with International Financial  
     Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
 
Australian Accounting Standards (AASB’s) include 
Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS’s). 
 
Because AASB’s are sector neutral, some 
standards either (i) have local Australian content 
and prescription that is specific to the Not-For-Profit 
sector (including Local Government) which are not 
in compliance with IFRS’s or (ii) specifically exclude 
application by Not for Profit entities. 
 

Examples include; 
 
� excluding Local Government from applying 

AASB 120 (IAS 20) for Grant Accounting and 
AASB 118 (IAS 18) for Segment Reporting, & 

 
� different requirements on (a) Impairment of 

Assets relating to Not-For-Profit AASB 136 (IAS 
36) and (b) IAS 116 (IAS 16) regarding 
accounting for the Revaluation of Assets. 

 
Accordingly in preparing this Financial Report 
and Accompanying Notes, Council has been 
unable to comply fully with International 
Accounting Standards, but has complied fully 
with Australian Accounting Standards. 

 
Under the Local Government Act, Regulations and 
Local Government Code of Accounting Practice & 
Financial Reporting, it should be noted that Councils 
in NSW only have a requirement to comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
 
(iii) Application of AAS 27 
 
Council is required to comply with AAS 27 –
“Financial Reporting by Local Government”, and 
where AAS 27 conflicts with AIFRS, the 
requirements of AAS 27 have been applied.  
 
Where AAS 27 makes reference to another 
Australian accounting standard, the new Australian 
IFRS equivalent standards will apply and in 
particular any specific “not for profit” reporting 
requirements.  
 
 
(iv) Basis of Accounting 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on 
an historical cost basis except for (i) financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, available-for-sale financial assets and 
investment properties which are all valued at fair 
value, (ii) the write down of any Asset on the basis 
of Impairment (if warranted) and (iii) certain classes 
of Infrastructure, property, plant & equipment. 
 
The accrual basis of accounting has also been 
applied in their preparation. 
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(v) Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
Council’s accounting policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated. 
 
Unless otherwise stated, there have also been no 
changes in accounting policies when compared with 
previous financial reports. 
 
 
(vi) Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of this financial report (and financial 
statements) in conformity with AIFRS requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
 
It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Council’s 
accounting policies. 
 

 
(b) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. 
 
Revenue is measured on major income categories 
as follows: 
 
 
Rates, Annual Charges, Grants and 
Contributions 
 
Rates, annual charges, grants and contributions 
(including developer contributions) are recognised 
as revenues when the Council obtains control over 
the assets comprising these receipts. 
 
Control over assets acquired from rates and annual 
charges is obtained at the commencement of the 
rating year as it is an enforceable debt linked to the 
rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of 
the rates. 
 
A provision for doubtful debts on rates has not been 
established as unpaid rates represent a charge 
against the rateable property that will be recovered 
when the property is next sold. 
 
Control over granted assets is normally obtained 
upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier 
notification that a grant has been secured, and is 
valued at their fair value at the date of transfer. 

Income from Contributions is recognised when the 
Council either obtains control of the contribution or 
the right to receive it, and (i) it is probable that the 
economic benefits comprising the contribution will 
flow to the Council and (ii) the amount of the 
contribution can be measured reliably. 
 
Where grants or contributions recognised as 
revenues during the financial year were obtained on 
condition that they be expended in a particular 
manner or used over a particular period and those 
conditions were undischarged at balance date, the 
unused grant or contribution is disclosed in Note 
3(g). 
 
Note 3(g) also discloses the amount of unused grant 
or contribution from prior years that was expended 
on Council’s operations during the current year. 
 
The Council has obligations to provide facilities from 
contributions required from developers under the 
provisions of S94 of the EPA Act 1991. 
  
Whilst Council generally incorporates these amounts 
as part of A Development Consents Orders, such 
developer contributions are only recognised as 
income upon their physical receipt by Council, due 
to the possibility that individual Development 
Consents may not be acted upon by the applicant or 
payable to Council. 
 
Developer contributions may only be expended for 
the purposes for which the contributions were 
required but the Council may apply contributions 
according to the priorities established in work 
schedules. 
 
A detailed Note relating to developer contributions 
can be found at Note 17. 
 
 
User Charges, Fees and Other Income 
 
User charges, fees and other income (including 
parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue 
when the service has been provided, the payment is 
received, or when the penalty has been applied, 
whichever first occurs. 
 
A provision for doubtful debt is recognised when 
collection in full is no longer probable. 
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A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is 
reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite 
service has not been provided as at balance date. 
 
 
Sale of Infrastructure, Property, Plant and 
Equipment 
 
The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined 
when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to 
the buyer. 
 
 
Interest and Rents 
 
Rents are recognised as revenue on a proportional 
basis when the payment is due, the value of the 
payment is notified, or the payment is received, 
whichever first occurs. 
 
Interest Income from Cash & Investments is 
accounted for using the Effective Interest method in 
accordance with AASB 139. 
 
 

(c) Principles of Consolidation 
 
These Financial Reports incorporate (i) the assets 
and liabilities of Council and any entities (or 
operations) that it controls (as at 30/6/07) and (ii) 
all the related operating results (for the financial 
year ended the 30th June 2007). 
 
The Financial Reports also include Council’s share 
of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 
any Jointly Controlled Operations under the 
appropriate headings. 
 
In the process of reporting on Council’s activities as 
a single unit, all inter-entity year end balances and 
reporting period transactions have been eliminated 
in full between Council and its controlled entities . 
 
 
(i) The Consolidated Fund 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 409(1) 
of the LGA 1993, all money and property received 
by Council is held in the Council’s Consolidated 
Fund unless it is required to be held in the Council’s 
Trust Fund. 
 
The consolidated fund and other entities through 
which the Council controls resources to carry on its 

functions have been included in the financial 
statements forming part of this report. 
The following entities have been included as part of 
the Consolidated fund: 
 
• General Purpose Operations 
• Water Supply 
• Sewerage Service 
 
 
(ii) The Trust Fund 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 411 of 
the Local Government Act 1993 (as amended), a 
separate and distinct Trust Fund is maintained to 
account for all money and property received by the 
Council in trust which must be applied only for the 
purposes of or in accordance with the trusts relating 
to those monies. 
 
Trust monies and property subject to Council’s 
control have been included in these reports. 
 
Trust monies and property held by Council but not 
subject to the control of Council, have been 
excluded from these reports. 
 
A separate statement of monies held in the Trust 
Fund is available for inspection at the Council office 
by any person free of charge. 
 
 
(iii) Joint Venture Entities 
 
Jointly Controlled Assets 
 
The proportionate interests in the assets, liabilities 
and expenses of a Joint Venture Activity have been 
incorporated in the financial statements under the 
appropriate headings. 
 
 
Jointly Controlled Entities 
 
The interest in a Joint Venture Partnership is 
accounted for using the equity method and is carried 
at cost. 
 
Under the equity method, the share of the profits or 
losses of the partnership is recognised in the income 
statement, and the share of movements in reserves 
is recognised in reserves in the balance sheet.  
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Details relating to such Entities and Partnerships 
(where applicable) are set out in Note 19. 
 
 
(iv) Associated Entities 
 
Where Council has the power to participate in the 
financial and operating decisions (of another entity), 
ie. where Council is deemed to have “significantly 
influence” over the other entities operations but 
neither controls nor jointly controls the entity, then 
Council accounts for such interests using the Equity 
Method of Accounting – in a similar fashion to Joint 
Venture Entities. 
 
Such entities are usually termed “Associates”. 
 
 
(v) County Councils 
 
Council is not a member of any County Councils. 
 
 
(vi) Additional Information 
 
Note 19 provides more information in relation to 
Joint Venture Entities, Associated Entities and Joint 
Venture Operations where applicable. 
 
 

(d) Leases 
 
All Leases entered into by Council are reviewed and 
classified on inception date as either Finance or 
Operating Leases. 
 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the 
Council has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. 
 
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s 
inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased 
property and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. 
 
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 
charges, are included in other long term payables. 
 
Each lease payment is allocated between the 
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a 
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. 

The interest element of the finance cost is charged 
to the income statement over the lease period so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
 
Property, plant and equipment acquired under 
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of 
each leased asset’s useful life and the lease term. 
 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. 
 
Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease. 
 
Lease income from operating leases is recognised in 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
 
(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes; 
 
� cash on hand, 
 
� deposits held at call with financial institutions, 
 
� other short-term, highly liquid investments with 

original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and 

 
� bank overdrafts. 
 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities on the balance sheet. 
 
 

(f) Investments and Other Financial Assets 
 
Council (in accordance with AASB 139) classifies 
each of its investments into one of the following 
categories for measurement purposes: 
 
� financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss, 
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� loans and receivables,  
 
� held-to-maturity investments, and 
 
� available-for-sale financial assets. 
 
Each classification depends on the 
purpose/intention for which the investment was 
acquired.  
Management determines each Investment 
classification at the time of initial recognition and re-
evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 
 
 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit  
    or loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are financial assets held for trading. 
 
A financial asset is classified in this category if 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the 
short term. 
 
Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless 
they are designated as hedges. 
 
Assets in this category are classified as current 
assets as they are primarily held for trading &/or are 
expected to be realised within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date. 
 
 
(ii) Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. 
 
They arise when the Council provides money, 
goods or services directly to a debtor with no 
intention (or in some cases ability) of selling the 
resulting receivable. 
 
They are included in current assets, except for 
those with maturities greater than 12 months after 
the balance sheet date which are classified as non-
current assets. 
 
 
(iii) Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

and fixed maturities that the Council’s management 
has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. 
 
In contrast to the “Loans & Receivables” 
classification, these investments are generally 
quoted in an active market. 
 
Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-
current assets, except for those with maturities less 
than 12 months from the reporting date, which are 
classified as current assets. 
 
 
(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. 
 
This classification principally comprises marketable 
equity securities. 
 
They are generally included in non-current assets 
unless management intends to dispose of the 
investment within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date or the term to maturity from the reporting date is 
less than 12 months. 
 
 
General Accounting & Measurement of Financial 
Instruments: 
 
(i) Initial Recognition 
 
Investments are initially recognised (and measured) 
at fair value, plus in the case of investments not at 
“fair value through profit or loss”, directly attributable 
transactions costs 
 
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised 
on trade-date - the date on which the Council 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Council 
has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership. 
 
 
 
 

Page 50 of 212



  Financial Report 2007 
 

Brewarrina Shire Council 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the financial year ended 30 June 2007 
 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

 

 
  page 13 

(ii) Subsequent Measurement 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss are 
subsequently carried at fair value. 
 
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity 
investments are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the financial assets 
classified as “fair value through profit or loss” 
category are included in the income statement in 
the period in which they arise. 
 
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of non monetary securities classified 
as available-for-sale are recognised in equity in the 
available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. 
 
When securities classified as available-for-sale are 
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments are included in the income statement 
as gains and losses from investment securities. 
 
The fair values of quoted investments are based on 
current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset 
is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Council 
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. 
 
These include reference to the fair values of recent 
arm’s length transactions, involving the same 
instruments or other instruments that are 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect 
the issuer’s specific circumstances. 
 
Council assesses at each balance date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
In the case of equity securities classified as 
available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value of a security below its cost is 
considered in determining whether the security is 
impaired. 
 
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale 
financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognised in profit and 

loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the 
income statement. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in the income 
statement on equity instruments are not reversed 
through the income statement. 
 
 
(iii) Types of Investments 
 
Council has an approved Investment Policy in order 
to undertake its investment of money in accordance 
with Section 625 of the Local Government Act and 
S212 of the LG (General) Regulations 2005. 
 
Investments are placed and managed in accordance 
with the Policy and having particular regard to 
authorised investments prescribed under the Local 
Government Investment Order. 
 
Council maintains its investment Policy in 
compliance with the Act and ensures that it or its 
representatives exercise care, diligence and skill 
that a prudent person would exercise in investing 
council funds. 
 
 

(g) Fair value estimation 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in 
active markets is based on quoted market prices at 
the balance sheet date. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques. 
 
Council uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each balance date. 
 
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments are used for long-term debt instruments 
held. 
 
Other techniques, such as estimated discounted 
cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the 
remaining financial instruments. 
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The nominal value less estimated credit 
adjustments of trade receivables and payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values. 
 
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure 
purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest 
rate that is available to the Council for similar 
financial instruments. 
 
 

(h) Receivables 
 
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, less 
provision for doubtful debts. 
 
Receivables (excluding Rates & Annual Charges) 
are generally due for settlement no more than 30 
days from the date of recognition. 
 
The collectibility of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectible are written off in accordance with 
Councils policy. 
 
A provision for doubtful receivables is established 
when there is objective evidence that the Council 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according 
to the original terms of each receivable. 
 
The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the effective interest rate. 
 
 

(i) Inventories 
 
Raw Materials and Stores, Work in Progress and 
Finished Goods 
 
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and 
finished goods in respect of business undertakings 
are all stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. 
 
Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and 
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on 
the basis of normal operating capacity. 
 
Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory 
on the basis of weighted average costs. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. 
 
Inventories held in respect of non-business 
undertakings have been valued at cost subject to 
adjustment for loss of service potential. 
 
 
Land Held for Resale/Capitalisation of Borrowing 
Costs 
 
Land held for resale is stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. 
 
Cost is assigned by specific identification and 
includes the cost of acquisition, and development 
and borrowing costs during development. 
 
When development is completed borrowing costs 
and other holding charges are expensed as 
incurred. 
 
Borrowing costs included in the cost of land held for 
resale are those costs that would have been avoided 
if the expenditure on the acquisition and 
development of the land had not been made. 
 
Borrowing costs incurred while active development 
is interrupted for extended periods are recognised 
as expenses. 

 
 
(j) Infrastructure, property, plant and  
    equipment 
 
Acquisition of assets 
 
All infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
assets under Council’s control) are stated at cost (or 
deemed cost) less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses, with the 
exception of: 
 
- Investment Properties which are valued at Fair 

Value – refer Note 1(k), and 
 
- Water and Sewerage Networks which are 

carried at Fair Value (generally based upon 
Depreciated Replacement Cost). 
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Council’s assets will be progressively revalued to 
fair value in accordance with a staged 
implementation as advised by the Department of 
Local Government: 
 
- 2006/07: Water and Sewerage 
 
- 2007/08: Property, plant and equipment, land, &   
                     buildings 
 
- 2008/09: Roads, bridges, footpaths and  
                     drainage 
 
 
Initial Recognition 
 
On initial recognition, an assets cost is measured at 
its fair value, plus all expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition. 
 
Where settlement of any part of an assets cash 
consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in 
the future are discounted to their present value as at 
the date of recognition to arrive at fair value. 
 
The discount rate used is the Council’s incremental 
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent 
financier under comparable terms and conditions. 
 
Where infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
assets are acquired for no cost or for an amount 
other than cost, the assets are recognised in the 
financial report at their fair value at acquisition date - 
being the amount that the asset could have been 
exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties 
in an arm’s length transaction. 
 
 
Subsequent costs 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to Council and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. 
 
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the income statement during the financial period in 
which they are incurred. 
 
 
 

Asset Revaluations 
 
In accounting for Asset Revaluations relating to 
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment: 
 
� Increases in the carrying amounts arising on 

revaluation are credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve. 

 
� To the extent that the increase reverses a 

decrease previously recognising profit or loss, 
the increase is first recognised in profit or loss. 

 
� Decreases that reverse previous increases of 

the same asset are first charged against 
revaluation reserves directly in equity to the 
extent of the remaining reserve attributable to 
the asset, with all other decreases charged to 
the Income statement. 

 
 
Capitalisation Thresholds 
 
Items of infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment are not capitalised unless their cost of 
acquisition exceeds the following; 
 
Land 
- council land 100% Capitalised  
- open space 100% Capitalised 
- land under roads 100% Capitalised 
 
 
Plant & Equipment 
Office Furniture > $1,000 
Office Equipment > $1,000 
Other Plant &Equipment > $1,000 
 
 
Buildings & Land Improvements 
Park Furniture & Equipment > $2,000 
 
Building 
- construction/extensions 100% Capitalised 
- renovations > $10,000 
 
Other Structures > $2,000 
 
 

Water & Sewer Assets 
Reticulation extensions > $5,000 
Other > $5,000 
 
 

Stormwater Assets 
Drains & Culverts > $5,000 
Other > $5,000 
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Transport Assets 
Road construction & reconstruction > $10,000 
Reseal/Re-sheet & major repairs: > $10,000 
 
Bridge construction & reconstruction > $10,000 

 
 
 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation on Councils infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment assets is calculated using the 
straight line method in order to allocate an assets 
cost (net of their residual values) over its estimated 
useful life. 
 
Land is not depreciated. 
 
The range of estimated useful lives for Councils 
assets include: 
 
  Plant & Equipment 
- Office Equipment  5 to 10  years 
- Office furniture   10 to 20 years 
- Computer Equipment  4 years 
- Vehicles   5 to 8  years 
- Heavy Plant/Road Making equip. 5 to 8  years 
- Other plant and equipment 5 to 15 years 
  
 
  Other Equipment 
- Playground equipment  5  to 15 years 
- Benches, seats etc  10 to 20 years 
 
 
  Buildings 
- Buildings – Masonry  50 to 100 years 
– Other 20 to 40  years                       
 
 
  Stormwater Drainage 
- Drains    80 to 100 years 
- Culverts   50 to 80  years 
 
 
  Transportation Assets 
- Sealed Roads : Surface  20 year 
- Sealed Roads : Structure  50 years 
- Unsealed roads 20 years 
 
- Bridge : Concrete 100 years 
- Bridge : Other 50 years 
 
- Road Pavements  60 years 
- Kerb, Gutter & Paths  40 years 

 
 
 

  Water & Sewer Assets 
- Dams and reservoirs 80 to 100 years 
- Bores 20 to 40  years 
  - Reticulation pipes : PVC 80 years 
- Reticulation pipes : Other 25 to 75  years 
- Pumps and telemetry 15 to 20   years 
 
 
 
  Other Infrastructure Assets 
- Bulk earthworks Infinite 

 
 
All asset residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount – refer Note 1 (p) on Asset 
Impairment. 
 
 
Disposal and De-recognition 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no further 
future economic benefits are expected from its use 
or disposal. 
 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in Council’s Income Statement in 
the year the asset is derecognised. 
 
 

(k) Intangible Assets 
 
IT development and software 
 
Costs incurred in developing products or systems 
and costs incurred in acquiring software and 
licenses that will contribute to future period financial 
benefits through revenue generation and/or cost 
reduction are capitalised to software and systems. 
 
Costs capitalised include external direct costs of 
materials and service, direct payroll and payroll 
related costs of employees’ time spent on the 
project. 
 
Amortisation is calculated on a straight line bases 
over periods generally ranging from 3 to 5 years. 
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IT development costs include only those costs 
directly attributable to the development phase and 
are only recognised following completion of 
technical feasibility and where Council has an 
intention and ability to use the asset. 
 
 

(l) Crown Reserves 
 
Crown Reserves under Council’s care and control 
are recognised as assets of the Council. 
 
While ownership of the reserves remains with the 
Crown, Council retains operational control of the 
reserves and is responsible for their maintenance 
and use in accordance with the specific purposes to 
which the reserves are dedicated. 
 
Improvements on Crown Reserves are also 
recorded as assets, while maintenance costs 
incurred by Council and revenues relating the 
reserves are recognised within Council’s Income 
Statement. 
 
A working party of interested representatives from 
both State and Local Government is being formed 
to 
consider the accounting issues related to the Crown 
Reserves, with the intention of developing a 
consistent approach to their recognition and future 
accounting treatment across both tiers of 
government. 
 
 

(m) Rural Fire Service assets 
 
Under section 119 of the Rural Fire Services Act 
1997, “all fire fighting equipment purchased or 
constructed wholly or from money to the credit of 
the Fund is to be vested in the council of the area 
for or on behalf of which the fire fighting equipment 
has been purchased or constructed”. 
 
At present, the accounting for such fire fighting 
equipment is not treated in a consistent manner 
across all Councils. 
 
Until such time as discussions on this matter have 
concluded and the legislation changed, council will 
continue to account for these assets as they have 
been doing in previous years, which is to 
incorporate the assets, their values and 
depreciation charges within these Financial Reports. 

 

(n) Investment property 
 
Investment property comprises land &/or buildings 
that are principally held for long-term rental yields or 
capital gains (or both) and is not occupied by 
Council. 
 
Investment property is carried at fair value, 
representing an in-house valuation based on a 
discounted cash flow analysis. 
 
Annual changes in the fair value of Investment 
Properties are recorded in the Income Statement as 
part of “Other Income”. 
 
Full revaluations are carried out every three years 
with an appropriate index utilised each year in 
between the full revaluations. 
 
 

(o) Land 
 
Land in accordance with Part 2 of Chapter 6 of the 
Local Government Act (1993) is classified on 
purchase as either Operational or Community.  
 
This classification of Land is disclosed in Note 9(a). 

 
 
(p) Land under roads 
 
Council has elected not to recognise land under 
roads in accordance with the deferral arrangements 
available to it under AASB 1045. 
 
These deferral arrangements cease to apply as of 
30 June 2008. 
 
 

(q) Provisions for close down, restoration  
    and for environmental clean up costs –  
    including Tips and Quarries 
 
Close down, Restoration and Remediation costs 
include the dismantling and demolition of 
infrastructure, the removal of residual materials and 
the remediation of disturbed areas. 
 
Estimated close down and restoration costs are 
provided for in the accounting period when the 
obligation arising from the related disturbance 
occurs, whether this occurs during the development 
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or during the operation phase, based on the net 
present value of estimated future costs. 
 
Provisions for close down and restoration costs do 
not include any additional obligations which are 
expected to arise from future disturbance. 
 
Costs are estimated on the basis of a closure plan. 
 
The cost estimates are calculated annually during 
the life of the operation to reflect known 
developments, eg updated cost estimates and 
revisions to the estimated lives of operations, and 
are subject to formal review at regular intervals. 
 
Close down, Restoration and Remediation costs are 
a normal consequence of tip and quarry operations, 
and the majority of close down and restoration 
expenditure is incurred at the end of the life of the 
operations. 
 
Although the ultimate cost to be incurred is 
uncertain, Council estimates the respective costs 
based on feasibility and engineering studies using 
current restoration standards and techniques. 
 
The amortisation or ‘unwinding’ of the discount 
applied in establishing the net present value of 
provisions is charged to the income statement in 
each accounting period. 
 
This amortisation of the discount is shown as a 
borrowing cost. 
 
Other movements in the provisions for Close down, 
Restoration and Remediation costs including those 
resulting from new disturbance, updated cost 
estimates, changes to the estimated lives of 
operations and revisions to discount rates are 
capitalised within property, plant and equipment.  
 
These costs are then depreciated over the lives of 
the assets to which they relate. 
 
Where rehabilitation is conducted systematically 
over the life of the operation, rather than at the time 
of closure, provision is made for the estimated 
outstanding continuous rehabilitation work at each 
balance sheet date and the cost is charged to the 
income statement. 
 
Provision is made for the estimated present value of 
the costs of environmental clean up obligations 
outstanding at the balance sheet date. 

These costs are charged to the income statement. 
 
Movements in the environmental clean up provisions 
are presented as an operating cost, except for the 
unwind of the discount which is shown as a 
borrowing cost. 
 
Remediation procedures generally commence soon 
after the time the damage, remediation process and 
estimated remediation costs become known, but 
may continue for many years depending on the 
nature of the disturbance and the remediation 
techniques. 
 
As noted above, the ultimate cost of environmental 
remediation is uncertain and cost estimates can vary 
in response to many factors including changes to the 
relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new 
restoration techniques or experience at other 
locations. 
 
The expected timing of expenditure can also 
change, for example in response to changes in 
quarry reserves or production rates. 
 
As a result there could be significant adjustments to 
the provision for close down and restoration and 
environmental clean up, which would affect future 
financial results. 
 
Specific Information relating to Councils provisions 
relating to Close Down, Restoration and 
Remediation costs can be found at Note 21. 
 
 

(r) Non-current assets held for sale 
 
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale 
and stated at the lower of their carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. 
 
The exception to this is plant and motor vehicles 
which are turned over on a regular basis. 
 
Plant and motor vehicles are retained in Non Current 
Assets under the classification of Infrastructure, 
Property, Plant and Equipment - unless the assets 
are to be traded in after 30 June and the 
replacement assets were already purchased and 
accounted for as at 30 June. 
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For any assets classified as “Non Current Assets 
Held for Sale”, an impairment loss is recognised 
where the assets carrying value is greater than its 
fair value less costs to sell. 
 
Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised 
while they are classified as held for sale. 
 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are 
presented separately from the other assets in the 
balance sheet. 
 
 

(s) Impairment of assets 
 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
For non-cash generating assets of Council such as 
roads, drains, public buildings etc - value in use is 
represented by the “deprival value” of the asset 
which is approximated as it’s written down 
replacement cost. 
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not 
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment. 
 
 

(t) Payables 
 
These amounts represent liabilities and include 
goods and services provided to the Council prior to 
the end of financial year which are unpaid. 
 
The amounts for goods and services are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 
 

(u) Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred.  
 
Borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. 

Amortisation results in any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount being recognised in the Income 
Statement over the period of the borrowings using 
the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless 
the Council has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the balance sheet date. 
 
 

(v) Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any 
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of 
time that is required to complete and prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing 
costs are expensed. 
 
The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount 
of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted 
average interest rate applicable to the Council’s 
outstanding borrowings during the year. 
 
 

(w) Provisions 
 
Provisions for legal claims and service warranties 
are recognised when: 
 
� Council has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of past events; 
 
� it is more likely than not that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the 
obligation; and 

 
� the amount has been reliably estimated.  
 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole. 
 
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an 
outflow with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small. 
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(x) Employee benefits 
 
(i) Wages & salaries, annual leave and sick leave 
  
Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-
monetary benefits), annual leave and vesting sick 
leave, are recognised in the provision for employee 
benefits in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date. 
 
These provisions are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  
 
Calculations therefore incorporate (where the leave 
is expected to be paid more than 12 months after 
the reporting date) the use of discounted cash 
flows. 
 
Liabilities for non vesting sick leave are recognised 
at the time when the leave is taken and measured 
at the rates paid or payable, and accordingly no 
Liability has been recognised in these reports. 
 
Wages & salaries, annual leave and vesting sick 
leave are all classified as Current Liabilities. 
 
 
(ii) Long service leave 
 
The liability for long service leave is recognised in 
the provision for employee benefits in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. 
 
Long Service Leave is measured at the present 
value of the expected future payments to be made 
using the projected unit credit method. 
 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. 
 
Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currency that match as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 
 
Due to the nature of when and how Long Service 
Leave can be taken, all Long Service Leave for 
employees with 4 or more years of service has been 
classified as Current, as it has been deemed that 
Council does not have the unconditional right to 
defer settlement beyond 12 months – even though it 

is not anticipated that all employees with more than 
4 years service (as at reporting date) will apply for 
and take their leave entitlements in the next 12 
months. 
 
 
(iii) Retirement benefit obligations 
 
All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits 
on retirement, disability or death.  
 
Council contributes to various defined benefit plans 
and defined contribution plans on behalf of its 
employees. 
 
A liability or asset in respect of defined benefit 
superannuation plans would ordinarily be recognised 
in the balance sheet, and measured as the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
reporting date plus unrecognised actuarial gains 
(less unrecognised actuarial losses) less the fair 
value of the superannuation fund’s assets at that 
date and any unrecognised past service cost. 
 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
based on expected future payments which arise 
from membership of the fund to the reporting date, 
calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. 
 
However, when this information is not reliably 
available, Council can account for its obligations to 
defined benefit plans on the same basis as its 
obligations to defined contribution plans. 
 
Council is party to an Industry Defined Benefit Plan 
under the Local Government Superannuation 
Scheme, named the “Local Government 
Superannuation Scheme – Pool B” 
 
This Scheme has been deemed to be a “multi 
employer fund” for the purposes of AASB 119.  
 
Sufficient information is not available to account 
for the Scheme as a defined benefit plan (in 
accordance with AASB 119) because the assets 
to the scheme are pooled together for all 
Councils. 
 
Accordingly, Councils contributions to the 
scheme have been recognised as an expense 
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and disclosed as part of Superannuation 
Expenses at Note 4(a). 
 
The last valuation of the Scheme was performed 
by Mr Martin Stevenson BSc, FIA, FIAA on 19

th
 

June 2007 and covers the period ended 30 June 
2006. 
 
This valuation found that the Schemes assets 
were $3,291.1 million and its past service 
liabilities were $2,980.3 million, giving it a 
Surplus of $310.8 million. 
 
The existence of this surplus has resulted in 
Councils contributing during the 06/07 year at 
half the normal level of contributions. 
 
The financial position of the Scheme is 
monitored annually. 
 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an expense as they become payable. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available. 

 
 
(iv) Employee Benefit On-Costs 
 
Council has recognised at year end the aggregate 
on-cost liabilities arising from employee benefits, 
and in particular those arising from the  payment of 
employee benefits in future periods – including 
Superannuation and Workers Compensation 
expenses which will be payable upon the future 
payment of some Leave Liabilities accrued as at 
30/6/07. 
 
 

(y) Allocation between current and 
      non-current 
 
In the determination of whether an asset or liability 
is classified as current or non-current, consideration 
is given to the time when each asset or liability is 
expected to be settled. 
 
The asset or liability is classified as current if it is 
expected to be settled within the next 12 months, 
being the Council’s operational cycle. 
 
 
 
 

Exceptions 
 
In the case of liabilities where Council does not have 
the unconditional right to defer settlement beyond 12 
months (such as vested long service leave), the 
liability is classified as current even if not expected 
to be settled within the next 12 months. 
 
In the case of inventories that are “held for trading”, 
these are classified as current even if not expected 
to be realised in the next 12 months. 
 
 

(z) Taxes 
 
The Council is exempt from both Commonwealth 
Income Tax and Capital Gains Tax. 
 
Council does however have to comply with both 
Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services Tax 
(GST). 
 
 
Goods & Services Tax (GST) 
 
Income, expenses and assets are all recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian 
Tax Office (ATO). 
 
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense. 
 
Receivables and payables within the Balance Sheet 
are stated inclusive of any applicable GST. 
The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable 
to the ATO is included as a current asset or current 
liability in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Operating cash flows within the Statement of Cash 
Flows are on a gross basis, ie. they are inclusive of 
GST where applicable. 
 
Investing and Financing cash flows are treated on a 
net basis (where recoverable form the ATO), ie. they 
are exclusive of GST. 
 
Accordingly, the GST component of investing and 
financing activity cash flows which are recoverable 
from or payable to the ATO are classified as 
operating cash flows. 
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Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net 
of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority. 
 
 

(aa) New accounting standards and UIG  
       interpretations 
 
Certain new accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for 30 June 2007 reporting periods. 
Council’s assessment of the impact of these new 
standards and interpretations is set out below. 
 
(i) AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures, 

and 
 
(ii) AASB 2005-10: Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, 
AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, 
AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038] 

 
AASB 7 and AASB 2005-10 are applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2007. 
 
Council has not adopted the standards early.  
 
Application of the standards will not affect any of the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements, but 
will impact the type of information disclosed in 
relation to the Council’s financial instruments. 

 
 
(ab) Rounding of amounts 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, amounts in the financial 
report have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars. 
 

(ac)  Comparative Figures 
 
To ensure comparability with the current reporting 
period’s figures, some comparative period line items 
and amounts may have been reclassified or 
individually reported for the first time within this 
Financial Report and/or the Notes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(ad)  Disclaimer 
 
Nothing contained within this report may be taken to 
be an admission of any liability to any person under 
any circumstance. 
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Note 2(a). Functions

1. Includes: Rates & Annual Charges (incl. Ex-Gratia), Non-Capital General Purpose Grants & Unrestricted Investment Income.

ActualBudget

2007

Actual

2007 2006

3,479      57,566    47,080    4,393      1,318      6,908      7,578      1,856      9,434      6,584      495         

2,872      -              -              -              2,882      

Actual

2007 2006

-              

37           

2             

(829)        

ActualBudget

2007

10           

(40)          178         

(160)        

(256)        

-              -              

(505)        

29           19           

744         1,430      1,063      

(547)        22           

2007 2006 2007

21           

-              

168         74           

(95)          (111)        

Actual Actual

(109)        

(1,016)     7,578      

(97)          (250)        

(1,641)     

2,959      

-              -              

2,050      

-              

2,872      

7,030      

6,625      

Actual

2006

2             

-              

2             

3,677      19           

204         

-              

1,950      

-              

2,629      

-              

798         

2,627      

-              

42           

2,343      

578         

-              

2006

Actual

2,023      

2,927      

665         

4,340      9,080      

-              

2             2             

-              

57,566    47,080    

-              

579         

31,400    28,272    

p
a
g
e
 2

3

-              -              -              -              -              

 Operating Result from

-              

7,079      8,226      

2,959      

 Continuing Operations

 Share of Gains in Associates & Joint

1,423      

2,056       General Purpose Income 
1

2,882      

(2,387)     

     Ventures (using the Equity Method) -              

10           35           

 Total Functions & Activities 4,197      5,267      6,562      

 Economic Affairs 313         103         216         410         353         325         

6,584      6,908      

 Transport & Communication 2,388      3,572      4,705      

-              

2,603      2,828      3,275      (215)        

(25)          (30)          -              30           27           (22)           Mining, Manufacturing & Construction 8             2             7             

 Fuel & Energy -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

 Recreation & Culture 31           36           59           669         541         606         (638)        

 Sewerage Services 289         268         232         264         239         213         25           

 Water Supplies 504         601         462         481         433         441         

(662)        637         1,114      935         (327)        

23           

617         

 Housing & Community Amenities 310         285         273         

(33)          268         234         279         (50)           Community Services & Education 218         201         239         

(160)        (129)        19           

30            Health 62           62           61           155         157         172         (93)          

 Public Order & Safety 8             26           40           

(472)        

168         186         169         

538         367         1,126       Administration 66           111         268         

 Governance (361)        (429)        -              -              361         429         -              -              -              

Income from Continuing 

Operations

-              -              

Actual

2007

Original

Actual

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l R
e
p
o
rt 2

0
0
7

(858)        15           30           

28           

89           98           31           

311         277         

$ '000 Income, Expenses and Assets have been directly attributed to the following Functions/Activities.

Details of these Functions/Activities are provided at Note 2(b).

 Functions/Activities
Original Original

Budget

2007

Expenses from Continuing 

Operations

Operating Result from 

Continuing Operations

Grants included in 

Income from 

Continuing 

Operations

Total Assets held 

(Current &           

Non-current)
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Note 2(b). Components of Functions

The activities relating to the Council's functions reported on in Note 2(a) are as follows:

GOVERNANCE

Costs relating to the Council’s role as a component of democratic government, including elections, members

fees and expenses, subscriptions to local authority associations, meetings of council and policy making

committees, area representation and public disclosure and compliance, together with related administration costs.

ADMINISTRATION

Costs not otherwise attributed to other functions.

PUBLIC ORDER & SAFETY

Fire protection, animal control, beach control, enforcement of local government regulations, emergency services,

other.

HEALTH

Administration and inspection, immunisations, food control, insect/vermin control, noxious plants, health centres,

other.

COMMUNITY SERVICES & EDUCATION

Administration, family day care, child care, youth services, other family and children, aged and disabled, migrant

services, Aboriginal services, other community services, education.

HOUSING & COMMUNITY AMENITIES

Housing, town planning, domestic waste management services, other waste management services, street

cleaning, other sanitation and garbage, urban stormwater drainage, environmental protection, public, cemeteries,

public conveniences, other community amenities.

WATER SUPPLIES

SEWERAGE SERVICES

RECREATION & CULTURE

Public libraries, museums, art galleries, community centres, public halls, other cultural services, swimming pools,

sporting grounds, parks and gardens (lakes), other sport and recreation.

FUEL & ENERGY - Gas Supplies

MINING, MANUFACTURING & CONSTRUCTION

Building control, abattoirs, quarries and pits, other.

TRANSPORT & COMMUNICATION

Urban roads, sealed rural roads, unsealed rural roads, bridges, footpaths, aerodromes, parking areas, bus shelters

and services, water transport, RTA works, street lighting, other.

ECONOMIC AFFAIRS

Camping areas, caravan parks, tourism and area promotion, industrial development promotion, saleyards &

markets, real estate development, commercial nurseries, other business undertakings.
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations

$ '000

(a). Rates & Annual Charges

Ordinary Rates

Residential

Farmland

Business

Total Ordinary Rates

Special Rates

Water Supplies

Sewerage Services

Levee Bank

Total Special Rates

Annual Charges (pursuant to s.496 & s.501)

Domestic Waste Management Services

Water Supply Services

Sewerage Services

Other Waste Management Services (non-domestic)

Total Annual Charges

TOTAL RATES & ANNUAL CHARGES

Council has used 2004 valuations provided by the NSW Valuer General in calculating its rates.

422               

Notes 2007 2006

632               

359               

177               

Actual Actual

1,608        1,479        

54                 50                 

577               575               

268               

7                   

106               

488               

64                 

7                   

638               

303               

168               

21                 

77                 

199               

22                 

548               

124               

154               

68                 66                 
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(b). User Charges & Fees

Specific User Charges (per s.502 - Specific "actual use" charges)

Other Waste Management Services (non-domestic)

Other

Total User Charges

Other User Charges & Fees

(i) Fees & Charges - Statutory & Regulatory Functions (per s608, 610A & 611)

Planning & Building Regulation

Private Works - Section 67

Registration Fees

Section 149 Certificates (EPA Act)

Section 603 Certificates

Total Fees & Charges - Statutory/Regulatory

(ii) Fees & Charges - Other (incl. General User Charges (per s.610C))

Caravan Park

Aged Care

Cemeteries

Child Care

Leaseback Fees - Vehicles

Multipurpose Centre

Park Rents

RTA Charges (State Roads not controlled by Council)

Sundry Sales

Water Connection Fees

Sewer Connection Fees

Other

Total Fees & Charges - Other

TOTAL USER CHARGES & FEES

-                    

1,359        

1,276            

1,224            

7                   

70                 

4                   

1                   -                    

176               

-                    

13                 

3                   

5                   

Actual Actual

Notes

13                 

-                    11                 

80                 

3                   

3                   

9                   

-                    

3                   

-                    

2                   

1,824        

1,615            

20                 

-                    

2007

1                   2                   

-                    

10                 

2006

2                   

3                   

196               

-                    

2                   

-                    

2                   

-                    

4                   

-                    

14                 

-                    

1,592            
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(c). Interest & Investment Revenue

Interest on Overdue Rates & Charges

Interest earned on Investments

TOTAL INTEREST & INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest Revenue is attributable to:

Unrestricted Investments/Financial Assets:

Overdue Rates & Annual Charges

General Council Investments

Restricted Investments/Funds - External:

Water Fund Operations

Sewerage Fund Operations

Restricted Investments/Funds - Internal:

Internal Restricted Assets

Total Interest & Investment Revenue Recognised

(d). Other Revenues

Rental Income - Other Council Properties

Brewarrina News

Commissions & Agency Fees

Diesel Rebate

Insurance Claim Recoveries

Sales - General

Other

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE

92                 

13                 

21                 

-                    

Notes

265               

19                 

282               

220           

42                 

324           

2007

Actual

2006

Actual

5                   

324               

-                    

12                 12                 

184               

-                    

5                   

-                    

220               

73                 

11                 

28                 

201               

19                 42                 

6                   

15                 

141           

13                 

22                 

5                   

-                    

158           
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(e). Grants

General Purpose (Untied)

Financial Assistance - General Component

Financial Assistance - Local Roads Component

Pensioners' Rates Subsidies - General Component

Total General Purpose

Specific Purpose

Pensioners' Rates Subsidies:

  - Water

  - Sewerage

  - Domestic Waste Management

Water Supplies

Bushfire & Emergency Services

Community Care Services

Heritage & Cultural

Library

Noxious Weeds

Street Lighting Subsidy

Tourist Centres

Transport (Roads to Recovery)

Transport (Other Roads & Bridges Funding)

Other

Total Specific Purpose

Total Grants

Grant Revenue is attributable to:

- Commonwealth Funding

- State Funding

- Other Funding -                 

865             

-                 

3,447          

2,915          

35               -                 

-                 

-                 

204             178             

19               

2                 2                 

-                 

31               

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

2,050          

899             

-                 

-                 869             

2                 2                 

2                 

2007

Operating

2006

-                 

3                 

2007

-                 

32               

15               

-                 

32               

32               

-                 

32               

30               28               -                 

3                 

1,478          

Capital

30               

-                 

-                 

-                 

2006

Capital

-                 

-                 

1,155          1,179          

Operating

2                 

2,056          

59               -                 12               -                 

-                 

7                 

-                 

1,450          

7                 30               -                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

28               

-                 8                 -                 

1,049          500             

10               

-                 

1,391          

3,447          

-                 

-                 

5                 

-                 

1,478          

1,478          

-                 

1,478          

17               

-                 

2,915          

2,389          

-                 

2,548          1,058          

367             

-                 

-                 

-                 
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Note 3. Income from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(f). Contributions

Developer Contributions:

(s93 & s94 - EP&A Act, s64 of the NSW LG Act):

Nil

Total Developer Contributions

Other Contributions:

RTA Contributions (Regional/Local, Block Grant)

Other

Total Other Contributions

Total Contributions

TOTAL GRANTS & CONTRIBUTIONS

(g). Restrictions relating to Grants and Contributions

Certain grants & contributions are obtained by Council on condition

that they be spent in a specified manner:

Unexpended at the Close of the Previous Reporting Period

add: Grants and contributions recognised in the current period which have

not been spent:

less: Grants an contributions recognised in a previous reporting period

which have been spent in the current reporting period:

Net Increase (Decrease) in

Restricted Assets during the Current Reporting Period

Unexpended at the Close of this

Reporting Period and held as Restricted Assets

Comprising:

- Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants

- Other Contributions

2007

1,482      

(483)           

1,102          

Actual

1,612          

1,160          

2007

4,730      

-                 

-                 

1,367          

1,169          

9                 

1,283          

1,169       

-                 

1,367       

-                 

(245)           

-                 

32           

-                 

(1,347)        

4                 

2006

Actual

4                 

4              -               

-                 

-                 

1,283          

-                 -                 

1,033          

1,516          

1,367          

579             

1,612       

1,226          

1,283       

4,084      

17

2007 2006

386             

1,612          

Operating Operating Capital Capital

2006
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Note 4. Expenses from Continuing Operations

$ '000

(a) Employee Costs

Salaries and Wages

Employee Termination Costs (other than leave paid)

Travelling

Employee Leave Entitlements (ELE)

Superannuation

Workers' Compensation Insurance

Fringe Benefit Tax (FBT)

Training Costs (other than Salaries & Wages)

Protective Clothing

Other

Total Employee Costs

less: Capitalised Costs

TOTAL EMPLOYEE COSTS EXPENSED

Number of "Equivalent Full Time" Employees at year end

(b) Borrowing Costs

(i) Interest Bearing Liability Costs

Interest on Loans

Total Interest Bearing Liability Costs

less: Capitalised Costs

Total Interest Bearing Liability Costs Expensed

(ii) Other Borrowing Costs

Nil

Total Other Borrowing Costs

TOTAL BORROWING COSTS EXPENSED

84                 

-                    

84                 

84                 

2,730        

2,906            

4                   12                 

2007

47                  

Actual

(191)              

2,921            

2,169            

3                   

7                   

36                 

65                 

282               

-                    

3                   

165               

187               

50                 

84             

Notes

50                 

2,760        

50                 

(146)              

-                    

51                  

19                 

235               

184               

-                    

2,073            

Actual

2006

31                 

-                    

352               

-                    

50             
-                    
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Note 4. Expenses from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(c) Materials & Contracts

Raw Materials & Consumables

Contractor & Consultancy Costs

- Bitumen sealing

- Garbage & Street Cleaning

- Swimming pool

- Risk Management

- Building construction

- Consultant staff

Auditors Remuneration

 - Council's Auditor:

   i.   Audit Services

Legal Expenses - Levee Bank Dispute 
2

Legal Expenses - Other

Legal Expenses - Debt Recovery

Operating Lease Rentals - Minimum Lease Payments 
1

Total Materials & Contracts

less: Capitalised Costs

TOTAL MATERIALS & CONTRACTS

1. Operating Leases are attributable to:

- Other

1,982        
-                    

1,982            2,650            

-                    

-                    

3                   

1                   

34                 

461               

50                 

2,650        

34                 

Notes

201               185               

591               

2007

Actual

535               

-                    

-                    

-                    

93                 

662               

822               

17                 

197               

Actual

2006

34                 

19                 

21                 

29                 

119               

343               

79                 

94                 

76                 
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Note 4. Expenses from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(d) Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment

Plant and Equipment

Office Equipment

Furniture & Fittings

Buildings

Other Structures

Infrastructure:

  - Roads, Bridges & Footpaths

  - Bulk Earthworks - Levee bank

  - Stormwater Drainage

  - Water Supply Network

  - Sewerage Network

Total Depreciation & Impairment Costs

less: Capitalised Costs

TOTAL DEPRECIATION &
IMPAIRMENT COSTS EXPENSED

Actual

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

Impairment Costs  

Actual

-                 

2007

-                 

-                 

21               

5                 

2006

-                 

25               

-                 

47               48               

1,328          

-                 

1,331          

40               

Actual

Depreciation/Amortisation 

Actual

2007

418             

37               

75               71               

25               

5                 

10               

-                 

185             

474             

197             

52               48               

458             

-                 

2006

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 -                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

1,328          1,331          -                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

418             

-                 
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Note 4. Expenses from Continuing Operations (continued)

$ '000

(e) Other Expenses

Other Expenses for the year include the following:

Advertising

Bad & Doubtful Debts

Bank Charges

Contributions to Other Levels of Government

- NSW Fire Brigade Levy

- NSW Rural Fire Service Levy

Councillor Expenses - Mayoral Fee

Councillor Expenses - Councillors Fees

Councillors Expenses (incl Mayor) - Other (excluding fees above)

Donations, Contributions & Assistance to other organisations (Section 356)

 - Tourist Associations

 - Barwon Darling Alliance

 - Moree Regional library

Electricity & Heating

Insurance

Office Expenses (including computer expenses)

Postage

Printing & Stationery

Street Lighting

Telephone & Communications

Valuation Fees

Total Other Expenses

less: Capitalised Costs

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

27                 

-                    

221               

-                    

Notes

67                 

25                 

2                   

14                 

Actual

7                   

10                 

-                    

787               

58                 

787           

4                   

55                 

68                 

6                   

143               

5                   

13                 

3                   

45                 

48                 

34                 

6                   

784           

1                   

142               

3                   

11                 

71                 

7                   

6                   

36                 

784               

30                 

7                   

34                 

18                 

59                 

5                   

14                 

35                 

211               

2007

Actual

2006

20                 
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Note 5. Gains or Losses on Disposal of Assets

$ '000

Property (excl. Investment Property)

Proceeds from Disposal

less: Carrying Amount of Property Assets Sold

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal

Plant & Equipment
Proceeds from Disposal

less: Carrying Amount of P&E Assets Sold

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal

NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 32             

221               

2006

5                   

4                   

(1)                  

Actual

32                 

-                    

196               

Actual

(164)              

2007Notes

-                    

-                    

187           

(38)                

183               
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Note 6a. - Cash Assets and Note 6b. - Investment Securities

$ '000

Cash & Cash Equivalents (Note 6a)
Cash on Hand and at Bank

Cash-Equivalent Assets
1

- Deposits at Call

- Short Term Deposits

Total Cash & Cash Equivalents

Investment Securities (Note 6b)
Nil

Total Investment Securities

TOTAL CASH ASSETS, CASH
EQUIVALENTS & INVESTMENTS

1 
Those Investments where Maturity (from date of purchase) is < 3 mths.

Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments were

classified at year end in accordance with

AASB 139 as follows:

Cash & Cash Equivalents
a. "At Fair Value through the Profit & Loss"

Investments

Nil

Investments

2006

700             

Non Current

-                 

-                 

Actual

-                 

-                 -                 -                 

4,902          

-              

-                 -                 -                 -                 

4,902      

-                 104             

4,798          

-                 

Current Non Current

-              

2007

-                 

-                 

Actual Actual

-                 

Current

18               

Actual

4,682          

4,682          

-                 3,964          

-                 

4,902          

4,682      

-                 

-                 
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Note 6c. Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments

$ '000

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents and
Investment Securities

attributable to:

External Restrictions (refer below)

Internal Restrictions (refer below)

Unrestricted

Details of Restrictions

External Restrictions - Included in Liabilities

Nil

Specific Purpose Unexpended Loans-General (A)

Roads to Recovery Funds

DOCS Advance

External Restrictions - Included in Liabilities

External Restrictions - Other

RTA Contributions (E)

Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants (F)

Water Supplies (G)

Sewerage Services (G)

Other Special Levies (G)

External Restrictions - Other

Total External Restrictions

2,659          

3,639          421             

421             2,623          

(1,107)        2,953          

(457)           

453             

49               

259             

4,902          

450             

4,902      

1,002          

Actual Actual

Current Non Current

-                 

2,953          

947             

510             

980             

20               

335             

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

386             

1,226          

-                 

141             

157             

74               

-                 384             

(71)             262             

610             

-                 

-                 

330             

-                 
-                 

1,042          

(386)           

-                 

1,367          -                 

-                 

(650)           

330             (120)           

(510)           

4,682      

Actual

Current

-              

-                 

Actual

Balance

2007

1                 

-                 

-              

Non Current

-                 3,639          

2006

Opening Transfers to Closing

Balance Restrictions Restrictions

Transfers from

(20)             

4,682          
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Note 6c. Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments (continued)

$ '000

Internal Restrictions

Employees Leave Entitlement

Construction of Buildings

Office Equipment

Roadworks

Aerodromes

Goodooga Town Drainage

Brewarrina Town Drainage

Levee Banks

Other

Total Internal Restrictions

TOTAL RESTRICTIONS

A Loan moneys which must be applied for the purposes for which the loans were raised. 

B Advances by the Roads and Traffic Authority for works on the State's classified roads. 

C Self Insurance liability resulting from reported claims or incurred claims not yet reported.  

D Development contributions which are not yet expended for the provision of services and amenities in accordance

with contributions plans (refer Note 17). 

E RTA Contributions which are not yet expended for the provision of services and amenities in accordance with

those contributions. 

F Grants which are not yet expended for the purposes for which the grants were obtained.  (refer Note 1) 

G Water, Sewerage, Domestic Waste Management (DWM) & Special Rates/Levies/Charges are externally

restricted assets and must be applied for the purposes for which they were raised.

2007 Opening

198             

Transfers to

70               

Restrictions

-                 

-                 

319             

(536)           

-                 

187             -                 

144             54               

127             

-                 

(23)             

3                 

132             

(300)           

-                 

Balance

Transfers from Closing

-                 100             

46               

20               

31               

(56)             44               

(3)               

135             (3)               

4,681       
1,042          (621)           1,002          

3,955       (1,728)      

594             

-                 

581             

1,002       

Balance Restrictions

92               

450             

-                 

70               

31               

78               
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Note 7. Receivables

$ '000

Purpose

Rates & Annual Charges

Interest & Extra Charges

User Charges & Fees

Private Works

Contributions to Works

Accrued Revenues

  - Interest on Investments

Government Grants & Subsidies

Workers Compensation claims

Other Debtors

Total

less: Provision for Doubtful Debts

Rates & Annual Charges

Interest & Extra Charges

Other Debtors (specify if material)

Total Provisions for Doubtful Debts

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES

Externally Restricted Receivables

Water Supply

- Specific Purpose Grants

- Rates & Availability Charges

Sewerage Services

- Specific Purpose Grants

- Rates & Availability Charges

Domestic Waste Management

Drainage

Total External Restrictions

Internally Restricted Receivables

Unrestricted Receivables

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES

Notes on Debtors above:

(i)   Rates & Annual Charges Outstanding are secured against the property.

(ii)  Doubtful Rates Debtors are provided for where the value of the property is less than the debt outstanding.

      An allowance for other doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that a receivable is impaired.

(iii) Interest is charged on overdue rates at 9.00% (2006 9.00%).

Generally all other receivables are non interest bearing.

(iv) Please refer to Note 15 for issues concerning Credit Risk and Fair Value disclosures.

25               -                 -                 -                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

54               

-                 

-                 

-                 

92           
350             125             634             

683         125         847         
92               

333             -                 213             

-                 -                 

79               -                 

170             -                 124             

5                 -                 8                 

79               -                 27               

(53)             

92           683         125         847         

(74)             (40)             (54)             

(18)             -                 (18)             -                 

(43)             

(8)               (14)             (5)               (10)             

(48)             (26)             (31)             

-                 

757             165             901             145             

23               -                 

115             -                 43               

95               

49               -                 

-                 

67               -                 

-                 

24               49               26               

311             116             252             

-                 

65               

-                 -                 

2006

19               

-                 17               

339             

89               

Current Non Current

37               

-                 

-                 

-                 159             

-                 

-                 -                 

2007

Current

-                 

Non Current

-                 

48               
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Note 8. Inventories & Other Assets

$ '000

Inventories

Stores & Materials

Crushed Rock & Sand Aggregate

Total Inventories

Other Assets

Prepayments

Total Other Assets

TOTAL INVENTORIES
& OTHER ASSETS

(i) Externally Restricted Assets

Water

Stores & Materials

Total Water

Sewerage

Nil

Total Sewerage

Domestic Waste Management

Nil

Total Domestic Waste Management

Other

Nil

Total Other

Total Externally Restricted Assets

Total Internally Restricted Assets

Total Unrestricted Assets
TOTAL INVENTORIES & OTHER ASSETS

(ii) Other Disclosures

(a) Current Assets not anticipated to be settled within the next 12 months

None

(b) Inventory Write Downs

There were no amounts recognised as an expense relating to the

write down of Inventory balances held during the year.

Non Current

-                 375             

385             -                 558             

114             -                 96               

-                 

-                 

-                 96               

499         -              654         

12               -                 17               

12               -                 17               

17               

-                 -                 -                 

487             -                 637             
499             -                 654             -                 

-                 

-              

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 

-                 -                 

-                 

2006

-                 -                 -                 

-                 

-                 -                 -                 

12               -                 

-                 -                 

183             

CurrentNon Current

-                 -                 

210             

2007

175             

Current

114             
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Note 9a. Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

Depreciation

1.
 Includes Asset Renewals for the year of $2,685,792 and Expenditure on New Assets of $19,260.

Impairment

-           

-           

-           

-           

-           

-           

-           

-           

1,500    68,444   20,000   51,357   35,587   9,339      (1,328)     PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIP. 69,569   

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE,
40,805   2,705     (164)      

-              

-              

-              

-              

3,408      

5,931         -  Sewerage Network 934       -            -            10,000   6,400     3,600     -           516       -            -            (47)          

-            10,000   5,200     4,800     -           1,854     13         -            (75)             -  Water Supply Network 2,719     -            865          

846       -            675       171       -              

493       

   -  Stormwater Drainage 846       -            700       -            -            (25)          

2,097     -            -              104       

28,906   

   -  Bulk Earthworks: Levee Bank 2,097     503       -            -            (10)          

45,304   -            -              16,398   1,839     -            (474)           -  Roads, Bridges, Footpaths 43,465   27,541   

 Infrastructure

2,403     812       73         -            (52)           Other Structures 2,330     -              833       1,570     

9,124     -            6,810     119       -            (185)        

-            

6,744     -              2,380      Buildings 9,005     -            2,195       

38         -            38         -            38         -            -            -                 -  Operational 38         -            -               

371       -            371       -           359       12         -            -                 -  Community 359       -            -               

 Land

34         106       -            

64         

 Furniture & Fittings 106       39         -            (5)            

539       -            495       57         44         -            (37)           Office Equipment

 Plant & Equipment 7,175     

as at 30/6/2007

At At Carrying

$ '000

as at 30/6/2006

Carrying

ValueImpairment

At

Cost

-            

-            

1,500     

-            

-            

1,500     

Dep'n

475       

72         

-            

-            (418)        1,576     605       (164)      6,017     -              1,599     7,616     -            

Revaluation 

Increments 

to Equity 

(ARR)

Asset 

Additions 
1

Value

Depreciation 

Expense

WDV-

Asset 

Disposals Cost Fair Value

Asset Movements during the Reporting Period

438          

67            

p
a

g
e

 4
0

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l R
e

p
o

rt 2
0

0
7

418          

27,264     

Accumulated

1,500    

1,518       

15,924     

94            

146          

Accumulated

5,599       
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Note 9b. Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

               that is Externally Restricted

Note 9c. Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
               Gains/(Losses) arising from the Impairment of Assets

Council neither recognised or reversed any Impairment Losses during the year.

467         

516         

1             

1             

4             

81           

86           

-                14             -                14           14           

5             

54             

-                

-              

2               

19             

56             

2               

Carrying 

Value

6               -                

39           

-                

At

Value

-                

83           

78           

8               -                

5,200      2,719        -                

-                

30           

59             

Actual

2007

Actual

2006

At

108           147           -                

At

Cost

Dep &

Impairm't

Carrying 

ValueValue

Dep &

Impairm't

1,796      

1,854      

48           

-              

3               

-                148           118           

14             

59             59             -              59             

Cost

-                

   - Operational Land

-                

At

 Infrastructure

 Total Water Supply

 Sewerage Services

 Plant & Equipment

 Office Equipment

-                8               3               5             

-                9,771        4,620        5,151      

865           

2,491        -                695           

-                10,000      4,800        

-                48             

-                

-                19             

1               -                1             

96             53             43           96             

-                -                1               

3,528        6,356      818           -                351           

-                10,000      3,600        6,400      934           -                418           

-                9,884        

1               1             

135           -                57             

142           -                59             

19             19             -              

-                -                

4             6               

1               -                

-                

-                

135           -                

142           -                

$ '000

 Class of Asset

 Water Supply

 Plant & Equipment

 Office Equipment

 Land

 Buildings

 Infrastructure

 Total Sewerage Services

 Land

   - Operational Land

 Domestic Waste Management

 Plant & Equipment

 Land

   - Operational Land

 Other Structures

 Total DWM

TOTAL RESTRICTED I,PP&E 2,456      142         20,000    8,459      11,683    3,795      -              1,339      
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Note 10a. Payables, Interest Bearing Liabilities & Provisions

$ '000

Payables
Goods & Services - Operating

Payments Received In Advance

Accrued Expenses;

 - Interest Bearing Liabilities

Security Bonds, Deposits & Retentions

ATO - Net GST Payable

Roads to Recovery

DOCS (Youth Centre)

Wages/RDO Suspense

Other

Total Payables

Interest Bearing Liabilities
Bank Overdraft

Loans - Secured 
1

Total Interest Bearing Liabilities

Provisions
Employee Benefits;

Annual Leave

Long Service Leave

Total Provisions

Total Payables, Interest Bearing
Liabilities & Provisions

(i) Liabilities relating to Restricted
    Assets

Water

Sewer

Loan from Special Rate (Levee Bank)

Grants received in advance

Total Restricted Liabilities

1.
 Loans are secured over the General Rating Income of Council

   Disclosures on Liability Interest Rate Risk Exposures, Fair Value Disclosures & Security can be found in Note 15.

306             

-                 -                 530             -                 

669             23               

1,892      1,265      

357             23               372             

312             -                 282             

587             1,242          105             

464             -                 372             

21               -                 18               

1,369      

-                 -                 12               

Current Non Current

-                 

327             

Current

13               19               

15               

Non Current

15               

1,354          

25               

10               

2006

27               

74               271             

54               252             51               

-                 

7                 -                 15               -                 

111             1,242          

-                 

49               

9                 -                 

2007

654             

1,959      

2006

-                 

-                 

2007

Current Non Current

476             -                 -                 

-                 41               

-                 

-                 

-                 -                 510             

636             

Notes

145             

1,354          

1,200          

105             

-                 

-                 

-                 

Current Non Current

13               

609             

21               

58               -                 

-                 -                 

55               -                 

-                 

-                 20               
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Note 10a. Payables, Interest Bearing Liabilities & Provisions (continued)

$ '000

(ii) Current Liabilities not anticipated to be settled within the next 12 months

The following Liabilities, even though classified as current, are not expected

to be settled in the next 12 months.

Provisions: including Employees Leave Entitlements

Other Liabilities: Bonds & Deposits

Note 10b. Description of and movements in Provisions

a. Employees Leave Entitlements & On-Costs represents those benefits accrued and payable and an estimate of those

   that will become payable in the future as a result of past service.

2007 2006

TOTAL

Decrease due to 

Payments

Remeasurement 

effects due to 

Discounting

Unused 

amounts 

reversed

-                    

-                    

Annual Leave 282               169               (139)              

Closing Balance 

as at 30/6/07

312               -                    

2007

Additional 

Provisions

-                    380               Long Service Leave 387               48                 (55)                

Class of Provision
Opening 

Balance as at 

1/7/06

2006

118             

531             539             

21               

510             421             

-                    692               669               282               (259)              -                    
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Note 11. Cash Flow Statement - Additional Information

$ '000

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Assets
Total Cash & Cash Equivalent Assets

Less Bank Overdraft

BALANCES as per CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(b) Reconciliation of Net Operating Result
     to Cash provided from Operating Activities

Net Operating Result from Income Statement

Adjust for non cash items:

Depreciation & Amortisation

Net Losses/(Gains) on Disposal of Assets

+/- Movement in Operating Assets and Liabilities & Other Cash Items:

Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables

Increase/(Decrease) in Provision for Doubtful Debts

Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories

Decrease/(Increase) in Other Current Assets

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables

Increase/(Decrease) in accrued Interest Payable

Increase/(Decrease) in other accrued Expenses Payable

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Current Liabilities

Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Leave Entitlements

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM/(USED IN)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES from CASH FLOW STATEMENT

4,682            

10 (476)              -                    

Actual

92                 

Actual

Notes 2007 2006

(32)                

7                   

173               

6a 4,902            

4,682            

1,318            1,856            

4,426            

1,331            1,328            

(187)              

(387)              

(18)                (90)                

(2)                  -                    

124               (48)                

(654)              (1,304)           

(1)                  -                    

(112)              

33                 

2,359            

23                 

1,204            

113               
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Note 11. Cash Flow Statement - Additional Information (continued)

$ '000

(c) Non-Cash Investing & Financing Activities

Nil

Total Non-Cash Investing & Financing Activities

(d) Financing Arrangements

(i) Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the

    following lines of credit:

Bank Overdraft Facilities 
1

Credit Cards / Purchase Cards

Total Financing Arrangements

Amounts utilised as at Balance Date:

- Bank Overdraft Facilities

- Credit Cards / Purchase Cards

Total Financing Arrangements Utilised

1. The Bank overdraft facility may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice.

   Interest rates on overdrafts are Interest Rates on Loans & Other Payables are disclosed in Note 15.

(ii) Secured Loan Liabilities

      Loans are secured by a mortgage over future years Rate Revenue only.

200               

476               

206               

6                   

Actual Actual

2007 2006Notes

206               

-                    

6                   

-                    

476               -                    

-                    -                    

200               

-                    
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Note 12. Commitments for Expenditure

$ '000

(a) Capital Commitments (exclusive of GST)

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not

recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Property, Plant & Equipment

Buildings

Investment Property

Nil

Total Commitments

These expenditures are payable as follows:

Within the next year

Later than one year and not later than 5 years

Later than 5 years

Total Payable

Sources for Funding of Capital Commitments:

Unrestricted General Funds

Total Sources of Funding -                    200               

-                    200               

-                    -                    

-                    200               

Actual

Notes 2007 2006

Actual

-                    200               

-                    200               

-                    -                    

-                    200               
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Note 12. Commitments for Expenditure (continued)

$ '000

(b) Other Expenditure Commitments (exclusive of GST)

Other Non Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting

date but not recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Waste Management Services & Street Cleaning

Audit Services

Other - Swimming Pool

Other - Valuation of Water & Sewer assets

Total Commitments

These expenditures are payable as follows:

Within the next year

Later than one year and not later than 5 years

Later than 5 years

Total Payable

(c) Finance Lease Commitments

Nil

(d) Operating Lease Commitments (Non Cancellable)

Nil

(e) Investment Property Commitments 

Nil

(f) Remuneration Commitments

Commitments for the payment of salaries & other remuneration

under long-term employment contracts in existence at reporting

date but not recognised as liabilities are payable:

Within the next year

Later than one year and not later than 5 years

Later than 5 years

Total Payable

(g) Investment in Associates / Joint Ventures - Commitments

For Capital Commitments and Other Commitments relating to 

Investments in Associates & Joint Ventures, refer to Note 19 (b)

289               

583               1,168            

437               879               

-                    

-                    

249               368               

-                    

-                    18                 

568               367               

218               

586               

288               

537               

537               586               

146               

-                    

163               -                    

7                   -                    

Actual Actual

Notes 2007 2006
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Note 13. Statement of Performance Measurement

$ '000

1. Unrestricted Current Ratio

Current Assets less all External Restrictions 
(1)

Current Liabilities less Specific Purpose Liabilities 
(2,3)

2. Debt Service Ratio

Debt Service Cost

Revenue from Continuing Operations

excluding Capital Items & Specific

Purpose Grants/Contributions

3. Rates & Annual Charges

   Coverage Ratio

Rates & Annual Charges

Revenue from Continuing Operations

4. Rates, Annual Charges, Interest &

   Extra Charges Outstanding Percentage

Rates, Annual & Extra Charges Outstanding

Rates, Annual & Extra Charges Collectible

5. Asset Renewals Ratio

Asset Renewals (4)

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment

Notes

(1) Refer Notes 6-8 inclusive.

   Also excludes any Real Estate & Land for resale not expected to be sold in the next 12 months

(2) Refer to Note 10(a).

(3) Refer to Note 10(c) - excludes all ELE not expected to be paid in the next 12 months.

(4) Asset Renewals represents Capital Expenditure on the replacement, refurbishment or upgrade to an existing Asset/s.

Note 14. Investment Properties

Council has not classified any Land or Buildings as "Investment Properties"

2.07%

15.68%

2006 2005

17.19%

16.66% 16.22%

2.16 : 1

1.88%

2.89

Amounts

2007 2007

3.44%

Indicator

1,947        
20.75%

19.55%

5,520        

2,786        

1,287        

8,226        

404           

190           

1,608        

1,328        

2.82

n/a

Prior Periods

2,686        
202.26% n/a
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Note 15. Financial Instruments

$ '000

(a) Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

Council's exposure to Interest Rate Risk & the effective weighted average interest rates by maturity for each class of 

Financial Assets & Financial Liabilities is set out below. Exposures arise predominantly from assets & liabilities with

variable interest rates, which Council intends to hold to maturity.

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Receivables

Total Financial Assets

Weighted Avg Interest Rate

Bank Overdraft

Trade/Other Payables

Loans & Advances

Total Financial Liabilities

Weighted Avg Interest Rate

Net Financial

Assets/Liabilities

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Receivables

Total Financial Assets

Weighted Avg Interest Rate

Trade/Other Payables

Loans & Advances

Total Financial Liabilities

Weighted Avg Interest Rate

Net Financial

Assets/Liabilities

95          768        566        

(111)      

2,444    

615       

525        111        118        126        

-            -            111        118        126        768        

808       455        

-            

476       

5,710    455        

566        

-            -            -            

-            -            

-            

90          -            

> 5 Yrs≤ 1 Year 1-2 Yrs

-            

-            

4-5 Yrs

(95)        

4,902    -            -            

-            

-            -            -            -            

-            -            -            -            -            -            -            1,182     1,182    

126        135        864        1,459    

2,641    

-            

864        1,182     

(510)      (864)      

476        

49          

126        

Interest

-            

-            

Rate

6.3% 0.0%

-            5,165     90          

Floating

3-4 Yrs

-            -            4,902     

Fixed Interest Rate

5,621    

3,266     

939       

4,682    

1,353    

6.125%

(768)      

-            

2-3 Yrs

-            -            -            

-            

-            672        

672        

-            

-            -            -            

-            

6.125%

-            

95          

135        

135        

-            -            

(28)        (126)      

6.125% 6.125%

-            

(135)      

Total

Non

Interest

Bearing

6.125%6.125%

-            -            

46          

-            

(126)      (135)      

9.0%

(118)      

118        

6.125%

135        

6.125% 6.125% 6.125%

118        

18          4,780     (65)        

-            105        111        

2007

5.7% 5.7%

(525)      5,054     

14.05% 6.125%

263        

2006

-            105        111        

-            221        

18          4,885     46          

18          4,664     

6.125% 6.125%

2,980     

6.125%
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Note 15. Financial Instruments (continued)

$ '000

(b) Net Fair Value

A comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values

of Council's Financial Assets & Financial Liabilities recognised

in the financial statements is presented below.

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Receivables

Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities

Bank Overdraft

Payables

Loans / Advances

Total Financial Liabilities

The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial

liabilities approximates their carrying value.

Where a market exists, the net fair value of other financial assets and liabilities is based upon market prices -

otherwise the expected future cash flows are discounting by the prevailing interest rates for assets and liabilities with

similar risk profiles.

Amount

615          

2,444       

Notes Amount Value

Carrying Net Fair

20062007

Value

Carrying Net Fair

4,682         4,902       4,902         4,682       

808          808            939          939            

5,621       

-                 

5,621       5,710       5,710       

476          476            -               

1,459         

615            1,182       1,182         

1,353       1,353         1,459       

2,444       2,641       2,641       
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Note 15. Financial Instruments (continued)

$ '000

(c) Credit Risk

The credit risk of financial assets (excluding investment securities) is the carrying amount net of any provision

for doubtful debts.

Council has an Investment Policy which seeks to minimise the risk of capital loss. Investments are placed in

accordance with the Local Government Investment Order which restricts investments to securities carrying a

credit rating of "A" or better, Governments, and deposit facilities with Banks, Building Societies and Credit Unions.

Debtors for rates & charges are secured by a charge over the land to which it relates.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk to any single debtor or group of debtors - apart from a

natural geographic concentration relating to Rates & Annual Charges that pertain to Council's Local Government

Area.

(d) Policies

Council's accounting policies in respect of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are described in Note 1.

(e) Terms & Conditions

There are no Terms & Conditions associated with Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities which may

significantly affect the amount, timing and certainty of future cash flows.

page 51Page 89 of 212



Financial Report 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

Note 16. Material Budget Variations

$ '000

Council's Original Financial Budget for 06/07 was incorporated as part of its Management Plan and was adopted

by the Council on 30 June 2006.

While the Income Statement included in this General Purpose Financial Report must disclose the Original

Budget adopted by Council, the Local Government Act permits Council to review its Financial Budget on a

Quarterly Basis, so that it is able to manage the various movements in actuals versus budget that invariably

occur throughout the year.

This Note accordingly sets out the details of MATERIAL VARIATIONS between Council's  Original Budget and

its Actual results for the year as per the Income Statement - even though such variations may have been adjusted

adjusted for during each Quarterly Budget Review.

Material Variations represent those variances that amount to 10% or more of the original budgeted figure.

Note that for Variations: F = Favourable Budget Variation, U = Unfavourable Budget Variation

REVENUES

Rates & Annual Charges

User Charges & Fees

Interest & Investment Revenue

Other Revenues

Operating Grants & Contributions

Capital Grants & Contributions

Net Gains from Disposal of Assets 32                 

Council's interest received was improved by the level of grant and other funds received.

106%

156%

1%

This result is affected by Council decisions not to proceed with some capital projects.

861          

167          

34            

should have been $1,611, a variance of only 0.2%

Invitation Contract and $148 waste annual charges. The actual variance is an increase of $427 (46% favourable).

The major variances were additional income of $531 from RTA Single Invitation Contract and a reduction of $83 

173%

Some user charges and fees were incorrectly classified in the original budget, including $693 from RTA Single

in private works undertaken due to the drought.

-                    

budget is adopted.

(178)         

32            0%

The level of grants received depends on decisions made by State and Federal governments after the original

F

4,696            

Waste annual charges were incorrectly classified in original budget and not included here. So, the original budget 

498               1,359            F

1,463            1,608            F

Budget Actual Variance*

145          

U(85%)

F

86            F

2007 2007 2007

9.9%

This amount from the changeover of Council vehicles and plant was not included in the original budget.

4,730            

This variance is a result of the re-classification of other revenues. The correct variance is only 5%.

F

157               324               

55                 141               

210               32                 
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Note 16. Material Budget Variations (continued)

$ '000

EXPENSES

Employee Benefits & On-Costs

Borrowing Costs

Materials & Contracts

Depreciation & Amortisation

Other Expenses

Note 17. Statement of Developer Contributions

Council currently has no S94 Developer Contribution Plans or Funds on hand from prior years.

814               1,982            U

84                 2              

(1,168)      

Some expenditure items were incorrectly classified in the original budget.

F

F799          

F

2,730            

13            

3,529            

2%797               784               F

1,328            

23%

2%

(143%)

Council did not fill all vacant positions during the year and had to use contract staff.

2007

Budget

2007 2007

Variance*Actual

The budget amount includes depreciation on water and sewer assets that have been re-valued.

30            

86                 

Additional expenditure due to increased roadworks from extra grant funds plus contract staff were used to fill

some vacant positions.

1,358            2%
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Note 18. Contingencies & Other Assets/Liabilities Not Recognised

$ '000

2. Other Liabilities

(i). Third Party Claims

The Council is involved from time to time in various

(i) Defined Benefit Superannuation

    Contribution Plans

those listed above.

(iii) Other Guarantees

These future equity contributions would be required

to maintain the company’s minimum level of Net

Assets in accordance with its Licence Requirements.

Council has provided no other Guarantees other than

StateCover Limited (Continued)The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for

recognition in the Balance Sheet,

but their knowledge & disclosure is considered

relevant to the users of Council's Financial Report.

ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED:

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED:

1. Guarantees

(i) Statewide Mutual

Council is a member of Statewide Mutual, a mutual

pool scheme providing liability insurance to Local

Government. Membership includes the potential to

share in either the net assets or liabilities of the

fund depending on its past performance. 

Council has been advised that, as at 30 June 2007,

Statewide Mutual achieved a trading result across the

three Schemes (Liability, Property and Fidelity),

where Total Assets exceed Liabilities by

$7,277,219 There is therefore no necessity for 

Council to carry provosions in its Annual Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 2007.

(ii) StateCover Limited

Council is a member of StateCover Mutual Limited

and holds a partly paid share in the entity.

StateCover is a company providing workers

compensation insurance cover to the NSW Local

Government Industry and specifically Council.

Council has a contingent liability to contribute further

equity in the event of the erosion of the Company's

capital base as a result of the company's past

performance and/or claims experience or as a

of any increased prudential requirements of APRA.

claims incidental to the ordinary course of business

including claims for damages relating to its services.

Council believes that it is appropriately covered

for all claims through its Insurance Coverage and

does not expect any material liabilities to eventuate.

Council participates in an employer sponsored

Defined Benefit superannuation Scheme, and makes

contributions as determined by the Superannuations

Trustees.
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Note 18. Contingencies & Other Assets/Liabilities Not Recognised (continued)

$ '000

Note 19. Controlled Entities, Associated Entities & Interests in Joint Ventures

Council has no interest in any Controlled Entities, Associated Entities or Joint Ventures.

however, has advised that it is unable to provide

they become payable - similar to accounting for a

Roads.

This is due to the divergence of opinion as to what

benefit scheme are recognised as an expense when

recognition ends on 31 December 2007.

As permitted under AASB 1045 and in accordance

    Contribution Plans (Continued)

The Local Government Superannuation Scheme

Council with an accurate estimate of its share of the

Defined Benefit Schemes assets and liabilities in

accordance with AASB 119.

The Schemes most recent full actuarial review

indicated that the Net Assets of the Scheme were

more than sufficient to meet the accrued beneifts of

the Schemes defined benefit member category.

Council has not recorded any asset in these

Financial Reports to represent any future economic

benefit relating to the Scheme's Financial Position,

nor has it recorded any movements in the Schemes

Financial Position in these Accounts.

to account in these Reports the value of Land Under

value should be ascribed to such assets.

(ii) Land Under Roads

with DLG recommendations, Council has not brought

At present, the transitional period for deferral of

(i) Defined Benefit Superannuation Accordingly, contributions made to the defined 

defined contributions plan.
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$ '000

a. Retained Earnings

Movements in Retained Earnings were as follows:

Balance at beginning of Year (from previous years audited accounts)

a. Adjustments on adoption of AASB 132/AASB139 as at 1/7/05

b. Correction of Prior Period Errors

c. Other Adjustments

d. Net Operating Result for the Year

Balance at End of the Reporting Period

b. Reserves

(i) Reserves are represented by:

- Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment Reserve

Total

(ii). Reconciliation of movements in Reserves:

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment Reserve

- Opening Balance

- Revaluations for the year

- Balance at End of Year

"Available for Sale" Financial Investments

- Opening Balance

- Adjustments on adoption of AASB 132/AASB139 as at 1/7/05

- Gains/(Losses) in Value for the year

- Transfer of "Available for Sale" to the P&L - Disposals

- Balance at End of Year

TOTAL VALUE OF RESERVES

(iii). Nature & Purpose of Reserves

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Reserve

- The Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation

   Reserve is used to record increments/decrements of Non

  Current Asset values due to their revaluation.

c. Correction of Error/s relating to a Previous Reporting Period

     Council made no correction of errors during the current reporting period.

d. Voluntary Changes in Accounting Policies

     Council made no voluntary changes in any accounting policies during the year.

9,339         

-                    

-                    

9,339            -                    

9(a) 9,339            

-                    

43,752          

-                    

n/a

Actual

Notes 2007 2006

Actual

41,896          

-                    

-                    

-                    -                    

1,318            1,856            

45,070      43,752      

-                    9,339            

9,339         -                 

-                 

-                    -                    
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ENSURING OUR CONTINUED FOCUS IS TO 

SERVE THE COMMUNITY
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Contents

1. Statement by Councillors & Management

2. Special Purpose Financial Reports:

- Income Statement of Water Supply Business Activity

- Income Statement of Sewerage Business Activity

- Balance Sheet of Water Supply Business Activities

- Balance Sheet of Sewerage Business Activities

3. Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Reports

4. Auditor's Report

Background

These Special Purpose Financial Reports have been prepared for the use by both Council and the Department of

Local Government in fulfilling their requirements under National Competition Policy.

The principle of competitive neutrality is based on the concept of a level playing field between persons competing

in a market place, particularly between private and public sector competitors.

Essentially, the principle is that government businesses, whether Commonwealth, State or local, should operate

without net competitive advantages over other businesses as a result of their public ownership.

For Council, the principle of competitive neutrality & public reporting applies only to declared business activities.

These include (a) those activities classified by the Australian Bureau of Statistics as business activities being

water supply, sewerage services, abattoirs, gas production and reticulation and (b) those activities with a turnover

of over $2Million that Council has formally declared as a Business Activity (defined as Category 1 activities).

In preparing these financial reports for Councils self classified Category 1 businesses and ABS defined activities,

councils must (a) adopt a corporatisation model and (b) apply full cost attribution including  tax equivalent regime

payments, debt guarantee fees (where the business benefits from councils borrowing position by comparison with

commercial rates).

(i)

(ii)

Page

3

4

(iii)

(iv)

2

7

6

5

16

page 1Page 103 of 212



Page 104 of 212



SPFR 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Income Statement of Councils Water Supply Business Activity
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$ '000

Income from continuing operations

Access charges

User charges

Fees

Interest

Grants and contributions provided for non capital purposes

Profit from the sale of assets

Other income

Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations

Employee benefits and on-costs

Borrowing costs

Materials and contracts

Depreciation and impairment

Water purchase charges

Calculated taxation equivalents

Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)

Other expenses

Total expenses from continuing operations

Surplus (deficit) from Continuing Operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes

Surplus (deficit) from Continuing Operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from Discontinued Operations

Surplus (deficit) from ALL Operations before tax

less: Corporate Taxation Equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

plus Opening Retained Profits

plus Adjustments for amounts unpaid:

- Taxation equivalent payments

- Debt guarantee fees

- Corporate taxation equivalent

less:

– Tax Equivalent Dividend paid

– Surplus dividend paid

Closing Retained Profits

Return on Capital %

Subsidy from Council

Calculation of dividend payable:

Surplus (deficit) after tax

less: Capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions)

Surplus for dividend calculation purposes

Potential Dividend calculated from surplus

Actual

-                 -                 -                 

Actual

2006

Actual

20052007

567             494             488             

2                 3                 -                 

24               24               28               

61               2                 2                 

-                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                 

654             523             518             

182             196             131             

-                 -                 -                 

213             188             165             

75               71               72               

-                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                 

-                 1                 43               

470             456             411             

184             67               107             

12               -                 92               

67               199             196             

-                 -                 -                 

(55)             (20)             (32)             

141             47               167             

2,461            2,394            2,195            

-                   -                   -                   

-                   -                   -                   

55                 20                 32                 

-                   -                   -                   

-                   -                   -                   

2,657            2,461            2,394            

3.5% 3.6%

141               -                   -                   

141               47                 167               

(12)               -                   (92)               

75                 

64                 23                 37                 

196             67               199             

129               47                 
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$ '000

Income from continuing operations

Access charges

User charges

Liquid Trade Waste Charges

Fees

Interest

Grants and contributions provided for non capital purposes

Profit from the sale of assets

Other income

Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations

Employee benefits and on-costs

Borrowing costs

Materials and contracts

Depreciation and impairment

Calculated taxation equivalents

Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)

Other expenses

Total expenses from continuing operations

Surplus (deficit) from Continuing Operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes

Surplus (deficit) from Continuing Operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from discontinued operations

Surplus (deficit) from ALL Operations before tax

less: Corporate Taxation Equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

plus Opening Retained Profits

adjustments for amounts unpaid:

- Taxation equivalent payments

- Debt guarantee fees

- Corporate taxation equivalent

less:

– Tax Equivalent Dividend paid

– Surplus dividend paid

Closing Retained Profits

Return on Capital %

Subsidy from Council

Calculation of dividend payable:

Surplus (deficit) after tax

less: Capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions)

Surplus for dividend calculation purposes

Potential Dividend calculated from surplus

47               47               58               

-                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                 

-                 2                 13               

261             224             255             

26               26               (5)               

-                 -                 25               

26               26               20               

-                 -                 -                 

26               26               20               

(8)               (8)               -                 

18               18               20               

879               853               833               

-                   -                   -                   

-                   -                   -                   

8                   8                   -                   

-                   -                   -                   

-                   -                   -                   

905               879               853               

0.4% 5.0%

373               -                   -                   

18                 18                 20                 

-                   -                   (25)               

Actual Actual Actual

2007 2006 2005

273             235             231             

-                 -                 4                 

-                 -                 -                 

11               11               13               

1                 -                 -                 

2                 2                 2                 

-                 -                 -                 

-                 2                 -                 

287             250             250             

18                 18                 -                   

9                   9                   -                   

97               85               79               

116             89               103             

1                 1                 2                 
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$ '000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Receivables

Inventories

Other

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Investments

Receivables

Inventories

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

Investments accounted for using equity method

Investment property

Other

Total non-Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables

Interest bearing liabilities

Provisions

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables

Interest bearing liabilities

Provisions

Total Non-Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Retained earnings

Revaluation reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

610                  453                  

12                    17                    

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

871                  

Actual

2006

Actual

2007

621                  

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

249                  151                  

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

5,200               1,855               

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

5,200               1,855               

6,071               2,476               

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

7                      15                    

7                      15                    

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

7                      15                    

6,064          2,461          

2,656               2,461               

3,408               -                       

6,064          2,461          
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$ '000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Receivables

Inventories

Other

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Investments

Receivables

Inventories

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

Investments accounted for using equity method

Investment property

Other

Total non-Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables

Interest bearing liabilities

Provisions

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables

Interest bearing liabilities

Provisions

Total Non-Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Retained earnings

Revaluation reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

Actual Actual

2007 2006

384                  335                  

-                       -                       

84                    62                    

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

468                  397                  

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

6,400               516                  

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

6,400               516                  

6,868               913                  

2                      2                      

11                    11                    

13                    13                    

-                       -                       

19                    21                    

-                       -                       

19                    21                    

32                    34                    

6,836          879             

905                  879                  

5,931               -                       

6,836          879             
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These financial statements are Special Purpose Financial Reports (SPFR’s) prepared for use by the Council, 
the Department of Local Government and the Department of Water & Energy. 
 
For the purposes of these statements, the council’s activities (listed herein) are based upon them not being 
reporting entities. 
 
This special purpose financial report, unless otherwise stated, has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations, the Local Government Act and Regulations, the Local 
Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting and the Local Government Asset 
Accounting Manual. 
 
The statements are also prepared on an accruals basis. They are based on historic costs and do not take 
into account changing money values or, except where specifically stated, current values of non-current 
assets. 
 
Certain taxes and other costs, appropriately described, have been imputed for the purposes of the National 
Competition Policy. 
 
National Competition Policy 
 
Council has adopted the principle of ‘competitive neutrality’ to its business activities as part of the national 
competition policy which is being applied throughout Australia at all levels of government. 
 
The framework for its application is set out in the June 1996 Government Policy statement on the “Application 
of National Competition Policy to Local Government”. The “Pricing & Costing for Council Businesses A Guide 
to Competitive Neutrality” issued by the Department of Local Government in July 1997 has also been 
adopted. 
 
The pricing & costing guidelines outline the process for identifying and allocating costs to activities and 
provide a standard of disclosure requirements. These disclosures are reflected in Council’s pricing and/or 
financial reporting systems and include taxation equivalents; council subsidies; return on investments (rate of 
return); and dividends paid. 
 
Declared Business Activities 
 
In accordance with Pricing & Costing for Council Businesses - A Guide to Competitive Neutrality, council has 
declared that the following are to be considered as business activities: 
 
Category 1 (where gross operating turnover is over $2 million) 

 
None 
 
Category 2 (where gross operating turnover is less than $2 million) 
 
a. Brewarrina Shire Water Supplies 
 
Comprising the whole of the water supply operations and net assets servicing the town of Brewarrina and the village of 
Goodooga. 

 

b. Brewarrina Shire Sewerage Service 
 

Comprising the whole of the sewerage reticulation and treatment operations and net assets servicing the town of 
Brewarrina and the village of Goodooga. 
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Monetary Amounts 
 
Amounts shown in the financial statements are in Australian currency and rounded to the nearest one 
thousand dollars, with the exception of Note 2 (Water Supply Best Practice Management Disclosures - A513) 
and Note 3 (Sewerage Best Practice Management Disclosures – A514). 
 
As required by the Department of Water & Energy, the amounts shown in Notes 2 and Note 3 are shown in 
whole dollars. 
 
(i) Taxation Equivalent Charges 
 
Council is liable to pay various taxes and financial duties. Where this is the case, they are disclosed as a cost 
of operations (General Purpose Financial Report) just like all other costs. 
 
However, where council does not pay some taxes which are generally paid by private sector businesses, 
such as income tax, these equivalent tax payments have been applied to all council nominated business 
activities and are reflected in the SPFR. 
For the purposes of disclosing comparative information relevant to the private sector equivalent the following 
taxation equivalents have been applied to all council nominated business activities (this does not include 
council’s non-business activities): 
 
Notional Rate Applied % 
 
Corporate Income Tax Rate – 30% 
 
Land Tax – 1.7% + $100 on combined land values above $352,000 
 
Payroll Tax – 6% on Salaries and Wages in excess of $600,000 
 
In accordance with the guidelines for Best Practice Management of Water Supply and Sewerage, a payment 
for the amount calculated as the annual tax equivalent charges (excluding income tax) must be paid from 
Water Supply and Sewerage Business activities. 
 
The payment of taxation equivalent charges, referred in the Best Practice Management of Water Supply and 
Sewerage Guides to as a “Dividend for Taxation equivalent”, may be applied for any purpose allowed under 
the Local Government Act, 1993. 
 
Achievement of substantial compliance against the guidelines for Best Practice Management of Water Supply 
and Sewerage is not a prerequisite for the payment of the tax equivalent charges, however the payment must 
not exceed $3 per assessment. 
 
Income Tax 
 
An income tax equivalent has been applied on the profits of the business. Whilst income tax is not a specific 
cost for the purpose of pricing a good or service, it needs to be taken into account of in terms of assessing 
the rate of return required on capital invested. Accordingly, the return on capital invested is set at a pre-tax 
level (gain/(loss) from ordinary activities before capital amounts) as would be applied by a private sector 
competitor – that is, it should include a provision equivalent to the corporate income tax rate, currently 30%. 
 
Income Tax is only applied where a positive gain/(loss) from ordinary activities before capital amounts has 
been achieved. 
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Since the taxation equivalent is notional - that is, it is payable to the “Council” as the owner of business 
operations, it represents an internal payment and has no effect on the operations of the council. Accordingly, 
there is no need for disclosure of internal charges in the GPFR. 
 
The rate applied of 30% is the equivalent company tax rate prevalent as at balance date. No adjustments 
have been made for variations that have occurred during the year. 
 
Local Government Rates & Charges 
 
A calculation of the equivalent rates and charges for all Category 1 businesses have been applied to all 
assets owned or exclusively used by the business activity. 
 
Loan & Debt Guarantee Fees 
 
The debt guarantee fee is designed to ensure that council business activities face “true” commercial 
borrowing costs in line with private sector competitors. In order to calculate a debt guarantee fee, council has 
determined what the differential borrowing rate would have been between the commercial rate and the 
council’s borrowing rate for its business activities. 
 
(ii) Subsidies 
 
Government policy requires that subsidies provided to customers and the funding of those subsidies must be 
explicitly disclosed. 
 
Subsidies occur where council provides services on a less than cost recovery basis. This option is exercised 
on a range of services in order for council to meet its community service obligations. 
 
Accordingly, Subsidies disclosed (in relation to National Competition Policy) represents the difference 
between revenue generated from ‘rate of return’ pricing and revenue generated from prices set by the council 
in any given financial year. 
 
The overall effect of subsidies is contained within the Income Statement of Business Activities. 
 
(iii) Return on Investments (Rate of Return) 
 
The Policy statement requires that councils with Category 1 businesses “would be expected to generate a 
return on capital funds employed that is comparable to rates of return for private businesses operating in a 
similar field”. Such funds are subsequently available for meeting commitments or financing future investment 
strategies. The rate of return is disclosed for each of Councils business activities on the Income Statement. 
 
(iv) Dividends 
 
Council is not required to pay dividends to either itself as owner of a range of businesses or to any external 
entities. 
 
Local Government Water Supply and Sewerage Businesses are permitted to pay an annual dividend from its 
water supply or sewerage business surplus. 
 
The dividend, calculated and approved in accordance with the Best Practice Management Guidelines, must 
not exceed 50% of this surplus in any one year, or the number of water supply or sewerage assessments at 
30 June 2007 multiplied by $30 (less the payment for tax equivalent charges, not exceeding $3 per 
assessment). 
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In accordance with the guidelines for Best Practice Management of Water Supply and Sewerage, a Dividend 
Payment form, Statement of Compliance, Unqualified Independent Financial Audit Report and Compliance 
Audit Report are required to be submitted to the Department of Water & Energy prior to making the dividend 
and only after the Department has approved its payment. 
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Note 2. Water Supply Business

             Best Practice Management disclosure requirements

Dollars Amounts shown below are in WHOLE DOLLARS (unless otherwise indicated)

Calculation and Payment of Tax-Equivalents

[All Local Government Local Water Utilities must pay this dividend for tax-equivalents]

Calculated Tax Equivalents

No of assessments multiplied by $3/assessment

Amounts payable for tax-equivalents [lesser of (i) and (ii)]

Amounts paid for Tax Equivalents

Dividend from Surplus
50% of Surplus before Dividends
[Calculated in accordance with Best Practice Management for Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines]

No. of assessments multiplied by $30/assessment, less tax equivalent
charges/assessment

Cumulative surplus before Dividends for the 3 years to 30 June 2007, less the
cumulative dividends paid for the 2 years to 30 June 2006

2007 Surplus 2006 Surplus 2005 Surplus

2006 Dividend 2005 Dividend

Maximum Dividend from Surplus [least of (i), (ii) and (iii) above]

Dividend paid from Surplus [refer below for required pre-dividend payment Criteria]

Required outcomes for 6 Criteria
[To be eligible for the payment of a "Dividend from Surplus", ALL the Criteria below need a "YES"]

Completion of Strategic Business Plan (including Financial Plan)

Full Cost Recovery, without significant cross subsidies
[Refer Item 2(a) in Table 1 on page 22 of the Best Practice Guidelines]

- Complying charges [Item 2(b) in Table 1]

- DSP with Commercial Developer Charges [Item 2(e) in Table 1]

- If Dual Water Supplies, Complying Charges [Item 2(g) in Table 1]

Sound Water Conservation and Demand Management implemented

Sound Drought Management implemented

Complete Performance Reporting Form (by 31 October each year)

Integrated Water Cycle Management Evaluation (by June 2007)

(iii)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(i)

(ii)

(v)

-                       

1,899               

-                       

-                       

(iii)

(iv)

64,400             

18,990             

250,600           

NO

18,990             

128,800       46,900         74,900         

-                   -                   

(vi)

YES

YES

NO

(iv)

YES

YES

YES

YES

YES

(v)
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Note 2. Water Supply Business

             Best Practice Management disclosure requirements

Dollars Amounts shown below are in WHOLE DOLLARS (unless otherwise indicated)

National Water Initiative (NWI) Financial Performance Indicators

Calculated Tax Equivalents

Revenue from Residential Usage Charges (w6b) x 100 divided by the sum of

[Residential Usage Charges (w6a) + Residential Access Charges (w6b) + Environmental Levies

 for Water Supply]

Total Revenue (Water)
Total Revenue (w13) + Gains/Loss on Disposal of Assets (w14) - Grants for the Acquisition

of Assets (w11a) - Interest Income (w9)

Capital Works Grants (Water)
Grants for the Acquisition of Assets (w11a)

Economic Real Rate of Return (Water)
[Total Revenue (w13) - Interest Income (w9) - Grants for Assets (w11a) - Total Cost (NWI F9)]

x 100 divided by Written Down Replacement Cost of Operational Assets (w47)

Operating Cost (OMA) (Water)
Management Expenses (w1) + Operational & Maintenance Expenses (w2)

Total Cost (Water)
Operating Cost (NWI F6) + Current Cost Depreciation (w3a + w3b)

Note: The NWI Performance Indicators are based upon the National Performance Framework Handbook

for Urban Performance Reporting Indicators & Definitions.

NWI F9 469                  

$'000

$'000

NWI F13 3.33%%

NWI F6 394                  

NWI F20 12                    

$'000

$'000

642                  NWI F1

0.00%NWI F4 %
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Note 3. Sewerage Business

             Best Practice Management disclosure requirements

Dollars Amounts shown below are in WHOLE DOLLARS (unless otherwise indicated)

Calculation and Payment of Tax-Equivalents

[All Local Government Local Water Utilities must pay this dividend for tax-equivalents]

Calculated Tax Equivalents

No of assessments multiplied by $3/assessment

Amounts payable for Tax Equivalents [lesser of (i) and (ii)]

Amounts paid for Tax Equivalents

Dividend from Surplus
50% of Surplus before Dividends
[Calculated in accordance with Best Practice Management for Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines]

No. of assessments multiplied by $30/assessment, less tax equivalent
charges/assessment

Cumulative surplus before dividends for the 3 years to 30 June 2007, less the
cumulative dividends paid for the 2 years to 30 June 2006

2007 Surplus 2006 Surplus 2005 Surplus

2006 Dividend 2005 Dividend

Maximum dividend from surplus [least of (i), (ii) and (iii) above]

Dividend paid from surplus [refer below for required pre-dividend payment Criteria]

Required outcomes for 4 Criteria  

[To be eligible for the payment of a "Dividend from Surplus", ALL the Criteria below need a "YES"]

Completion of Strategic Business Plan (including Financial Plan)  

Pricing with full cost-recovery, without significant cross subsidies  
[Refer Item 2(a) in Table 1 on page 22 of the Best Practice Guidelines]

Complying charges Residential [Item 2(c) in Table 1]  

Non Residential [Item 2(c) in Table 1]  

Trade Waste [Item 2(d) in Table 1]  

DSP with Commercial Developer Charges [Item 2(e) in Table 1]  

Liquid Trade Waste Approvals & Policy [Item 2(f) in Table 1]  

Complete Performance Reporting Form (by 15 September each year)  

Integrated Water Cycle Management Evaluation (by June 2006)  

NO

YES

NO

(a)

(b)

(c)

YES

YES

NO

YES

YES

YES

-               -               

9,100               

9,100               

17,220             

36,400             

18,200     18,200     -               

-                       

1,722               

-                       

-                       

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(iii)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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Note 3. Sewerage Business

             Best Practice Management disclosure requirements

Dollars Amounts shown below are in WHOLE DOLLARS (unless otherwise indicated)

National Water Initiative (NWI) Financial Performance Indicators

Total Revenue (Sewerage)
Total Revenues (s14) + Gains/Losses on Disposal of Assets (s15) - Grants for Acquisition

of Assets (s12a) - Interest Income (s10)

Capital Works Grants (Sewerage)
Grants for the Acquisition of Assets (12a)

Capital Expenditure (Water & Sewerage)
Acquisition of Fixed Assets (w16 + s17)

Economic Real Rate of Return (Sewerage)
[Total Revenue (s14) - Interest Income (s10) - Grants for Assets (s12a) - Total Cost (NWI F10)]

x 100 divided by Written Down Replacement Cost (ie. WDRC) of Operational Assets (s48)

Economic Real Rate of Return (Water & Sewerage)
[Total Revenue (w13 + s14) - Interest Income (w9 + s10) - Grants for Assets (w11a + s12a)

minus Total Cost (NWI F9 + NWI F10)] x 100 divided by WDRC of Operational Assets (w47 + s48)

Net Debt to Equity (Water & Sewerage)
Overdraft (w36 + s37) + Borrowings (w38 + s39) - Cash & Investments (w30 + s31)

x 100 divided by [Total Assets (w35 + s36) - Total Liabilities (w40 + s41)]

Interest Cover (Water & Sewerage)
Earnings before Interest & Tax x 100 divided by Net Interest (ie. Interest Expense -

Interest Income)

[Operating Result (w15a + s16a) - Interest (w9 - w4a + s10 - s4a) - Gain/Loss on Sale of Assets

(w14 + s15)] x 100 divided by [Interest Expense 9w4a + s4a) - Interest Income (w9 + s10)]

Net Profit After Tax (Water & Sewerage)
[Surplus before Dividends less Tax Paid]. Refer Notes 2 & 3 previously.

Community Service Obligations (Water & Sewerage)
Grants for Pensioner Rebates (w11b + s12b)

Revenue from Community Service Obligations (Water & Sewerage)
Community Service Obligations (NWI F19) x 100 divided by Total Revenue (NWI F1 + NWI F2)

Operating Cost (OMA) (Sewerage)
Management Expenses (s1) + Operational & Maintenance Expenses (s2)

Total Cost (Sewerage)
Operating Cost (NWI F7) + Current Cost Depreciation (s3a + s3b)

Note: The NWI Performance Indicators are based upon the National Performance Framework Handbook

for Urban Performance Reporting Indicators & Definitions.

NWI F2 $'000 282                  

NWI F21 $'000 -                       

NWI F11 $'000 12                    

NWI F14 % 0.34%

NWI F12 % 1.68%

NWI F16 % -7.54%

NWI F10 $'000 260                  

NWI F19 $'000 4                      

NWI F5 % 0.43%

NWI F7 $'000 213                  

NWI F17 % -1212.50%

NWI F18 $'000 159                  
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Special Schedules

for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

Contents

Special Schedules1

Net Cost of Services

Statement of Long Term debt (all purposes)

Statement of Internal Loans (Sect. 410(3) LGA 1993)

Water Supply - Income Statement

Water Supply - Balance Sheet

Sewerage Service - Income Statement

Sewerage Service - Balance Sheet

- Notes to Special Schedules No. 3 & 5

Condition of Public Works

Financial Projections

1
 Special Purpose Schedules are not audited.

Background

These Special Schedules have been designed to meet the requirements of special purpose users such as;

the NSW Grants Commission

the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS),

the Department of Energy, Utilities & Sustainability (DEUS), and

the Department of Local Government (DLG).

The financial data is collected for various uses including;

the allocation of Financial Assistance Grants,

the incorporation of Local Government financial figures in national statistics,

the monitoring of loan approvals,

the allocation of borrowing rights, and

the monitoring of specific service financial activities.

- Special Schedule No. 1

- Special Schedule No. 2(a)

- Special Schedule No. 2(b)

- Special Schedule No. 3

16

12

i

i

i

i

i

21

- Special Schedule No. 6

(ii)

Page

2

5

7

11

6

- Special Schedule No. 4

- Special Schedule No. 5

i

i

i

- Special Schedule No. 7

(i)

17

i

- Special Schedule No. 8

18
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Special Schedule No. 1 - Net Cost of Services
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

Governance

Administration

Corporate Support

Engineering and Works

Other Support Services

Public Order and Safety

Contributions to Fire Service Levy

Fire Protection – Other

Animal Control

Beach Control

Enforcement of Local Govt Regs

Emergency Services

Other

Health

Administration and Inspection

Immunisations

Food Control

Insect/Vermin Control

Noxious Plants

Health Centres

Other

Community Services and Education

Administration

Family Day Care

Child Care

Youth Services

Other Families and Children

Aged and Disabled

Migrant Services

Aboriginal Services

Other Community Services

Education

Net Cost of 

Services

Net Cost Group Totals

Income from

continuing operations

Non Capital 

Revenues

Capital 

Revenues

Group 

Totals

Function or Activity
continuing operations

Expenses Group Totals

Expenses from

(137)           

429            429            

195            

-              (429)           

172            32           15           (125)           

58           -              

-                 367            6             -              111         6                (256)           

-                 -              -              -                 

91              5             -              (86)             

66              2             -              (64)             

-                 -              -              -                 

-                 -              -              -                 

29              19           -              (10)             

-                 186            -              -              26           -                 (160)           

54              -              -              (54)             

-                 -              -              -                 

-                 -              -              -                 

-                 -              -              -                 

54              30           -              (24)             

-                 -              -              -                 

49              157            32           -              62           (17)             (95)             

-                 -              -              -                 

-                 -              -              -                 

18              3             -              (15)             

160            165         -              5                

-                 -              -              -                 

(7)               

-                 -              -              -                 

16              

-              -              

9             -              

-                 

40              24           -              (16)             

-                 

201         -                 (33)             -                 234            -              -              

(429)           
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Special Schedule No. 1 - Net Cost of Services (continued)
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

Housing and Community

Amenities

Housing

Town Planning

Domestic Waste Management

Other Waste Management

Street Cleaning

Other Sanitation and Garbage

Urban Stormwater Drainage

Environmental Protection

Public Cemeteries

Public Conveniences

Other Community Amenities

Water Supplies

Sewerage Services

Recreation and Culture

Public Libraries

Museums

Art Galleries

Community Centres

Public Halls

Other Cultural Services

Swimming Pools

Sporting Grounds

Parks and Gardens (Lakes)

Other Sport and Recreation

Fuel and Energy

Gas Supplies

Mining, Manufacturing and

Construction

Building Control

Abattoirs

Quarries and Pits

Other

102            35           -              (67)             

23              13           -              (10)             

128            128         -              -                 

14              25           -              11              

90              -              -              (90)             

3                3             -              -                 

30              -              -              (30)             

676            68           -              (608)           

25              13           -              (12)             

23              -              -              

-                 1,114         -              -              

601         168            168            

(23)             

285         -                 (829)           

433            433            589         12           

29              239            239            268         

60              

268         29              

(39)             16           5             

-                 

-                 -              -              -                 

115            10           -              (105)           

-              -              

11              -              -              (11)             

4                -              

(149)           -              -              

3             -              

41              2             -              (39)             

-                 541            -              -              

-              -                 -                 

36           -                 (505)           

-                 -                 -              -              

-                 

(22)             24              2             -              

Capital 

Revenues

Group 

Totals
Net Cost

-              -              

(158)           

(4)               -              

3                -              -              

Non Capital 

Revenues

Income from Net Cost of 

continuing operations continuing operations

-                 27              -              -              

Services

161            

Function or Activity

Expenses from

Expenses Group Totals

149            

-                 

2             -                 (25)             

Group Totals

(3)               

-                 
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 1 - Net Cost of Services (continued)
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

Transport and Communication

Urban Roads (UR) - Local

Urban Roads - Regional

Sealed Rural Roads (SRR) - Local

Sealed Rural Roads - Regional

Unsealed Rural Roads (URR) - Local

Unsealed Rural Roads - Regional

Bridges on UR - Local

Bridges on UR - Regional

Bridges on SRR - Local

Bridges on SRR - Regional

Bridges on URR - Local

Bridges on URR - Regional

Footpaths

Aerodromes

Parking Areas

Bus Shelters and Services

Water Transport

RTA Works (State)

Street Lighting

Other

Economic Affairs

Camping Areas

Caravan Parks

Tourism and Area Promotion

Industrial Development Promotion

Saleyards and Markets

Real Estate Development

Commercial Nurseries

Other Business Undertakings

Totals – Functions

General Purpose Revenues
(1)

Share of interests - joint ventures &

associates using the equity method

NET OPERATING

RESULT FOR YEAR
Notes:

(1) Includes: Rates & Annual Charges (incl. Ex Gratia), Non Capital General Purpose Grants & Interest on Investments (excl. Restricted Assets)

165            -              -              (165)           

-                 -              -              -                 

4                -              -              (4)               

355            1,284      -              929            

879            1,049      -              170            

49              -              -              (49)             

-                 -              -              -                 

-                 -              -              -                 

-                 -              -              -                 

-                 -              -              -                 

41              -              -              (41)             

-                 -              -              -                 

105            -              -              (105)           

78              -              -              (78)             

-                 -              -              -                 

16              7             -              (9)               

-                 -              -              -                 

1,100         1,224      -              124            

36              8             -              (28)             

-                 2,828         -              -              3,572      -                 744            

-                 

26              -              -              (26)             

-                 

25           -              

-              -              

(201)           

-                 -              -              -                 

226            

1                -              -              

-                 -              -              

(1)               

-                 

-                 

100            353            

6,908         5,235      32           

103         78           -              

-                 -                 -              

6,908         8,194      32           8,226      1,318         

-              -                 

1,318         

2,959      

-                 -              

2,959      

-              

Function or Activity

Expenses from Income from

Expenses Group Totals
Non Capital 

Revenues

Capital 

Revenues

Group 

Totals

Net Cost of 

continuing operations continuing operations Services

Net Cost Group Totals

-                 

5,267      (1,641)        

2,959         2,959         

(22)             (250)           
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 2(a) - Statement of Long Term Debt (all purpose)
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

Notes: Excludes (i) Internal Loans & (ii) Principal Inflows/Outflows relating to Loan Re-Financing.

             This Schedule is prepared using the Face Value of debt obligations, rather than Fair Value (as per the GPFR's).

p
a
g
e
 5

S
p
e
c
ia

l S
c
h
e
d
u
le

s
 2

0
0
7

-               -               -               

111          1,242       1,353       Total Debt 105          

-               Total Long Term Debt -               -               -               -               -               -               

1,354       1,459       -               106          -               -               84            

-               

Other Long Term Debt

Nil

84            111          1,242       1,353       -               106          -               -               Total Loans 105          1,354       1,459       

84            111          1,242       1,353       106          Financial Institutions 105          1,354       1,459       

at the end of the year

Classification of Debt Current

Non   

Current Total

From 

Revenue

Sinking 

Funds Current

Transfers 

to Sinking 

Funds

Principal outstanding

Interest 

applicable 

for Year Total

Non   

Current

New 

Loans 

raised 

during the 

year

at beginning of the year

Debt redemption 

during the year

Loans (by Source)

Principal outstanding

Page 124 of 212



Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 2(b) - Statement of Internal Loans [Section 410(3) LGA 1993]

for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

Note: The summary of Internal Loans (above) represents the total of Council's Internal Loans categorised according to the borrower.

Summary of Internal Loans

Details of Individual Internal Loans

Principal Outstanding

(Principal & Interest) at end of year

Total repaid during the year
Amount originally raisedBorrower (by purpose)

Nil

Totals -                                                        -                                                        -                                                        

Principal

(Princ. & Int.)

Total repaid

Borrower Lender Date of Term Dates of Rate of Amount during the year outstanding

(by purpose) (by purpose) Ministers approval (years) Maturity Interest originally raised at end of year

-                   -                -                   

Nil

p
a
g
e
 6

Totals

S
p
e
c
ia

l S
c
h
e
d
u
le

s
 2

0
0
7

Date Raised
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 3 - Water Supply Income Statement
Includes ALL INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS, ie. prepared on a Gross Basis.

for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

A Expenses and Income
Expenses

1. Management expenses

a. Administration

b. Engineering and Supervision

2. Operation and Maintenance

- Dams & Weirs

a. Operation expenses

b. Maintenance expenses

- Mains

c. Operation expenses

d. Maintenance expenses

- Reservoirs

e. Operation expenses

f.  Maintenance expenses

- Pumping Stations

g. Operation expenses (excluding energy costs)

h. Energy costs

i.  Maintenance expenses

- Treatment

j.  Operation expenses (excluding energy costs)

k. Chemical costs

l.  Maintenance expenses

- Other

m. Operation expenses

n.  Maintenance expenses

o.  Purchase of water

3. Depreciation

a. System assets

b. Plant and equipment

4. Miscellaneous expenses

a. Interest expenses

b. Revaluation Decrements

c. Other expenses

d. Tax Equivalents Dividends (actually paid)

5. Total expenses

Actuals

2007

Actuals

2006

-                       -                       

470                  456                  

1                      1                      

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

75                    71                    

59                    -                       

-                       -                       

19                    51                    

17                    11                    

9                      10                    

92                    126                  

29                    32                    

46                    39                    

9                      3                      

2                      6                      

4                      -                       

62                    72                    

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

30                    24                    

16                    10                    
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 3 - Water Supply Income Statement
 
(continued)

Includes ALL INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS, ie. prepared on a Gross Basis.

for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

Income

6. Residential charges

a. Access (including rates)

b. User charges

7. Non-residential charges

a. Access (including rates)

b. User charges

8. Extra charges

9. Interest income

10. Other income

11. Grants

a. Grants for acquisition of assets

b. Grants for pensioner rebates

c. Other grants

12. Contributions

a. Developer charges

b. Developer provided assets

c. Other contributions

13. Total income

14. Gain or loss on disposal of assets

15. Operating Result

15a. Operating Result (less grants for acquisition of assets) 184                  67                    

-                       

196                  67                    

-                       -                       

666                  523                  

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

2                      2                      

59                    -                       

2                      3                      

12                    -                       

12                    12                    

12                    12                    

150                  -                       

-                       -                       

417                  290                  

-                       204                  

Actuals Actuals

2007 2006
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 3 - Water Supply Income Statement
 
(continued)

Includes ALL INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS, ie. prepared on a Gross Basis.

for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

B Capital transactions
Non-operating expenditures

16. Acquisition of Fixed Assets

a. Subsidised scheme

b. Other new system assets

c. Renewals

d. Plant and equipment

17. Repayment of debt

a. Loans

b. Advances

c. Finance leases

18. Transfer to sinking fund

19. Totals

Non-operating funds employed

20. Proceeds from disposal of assets

21. Borrowing utilised

a. Loans

b. Advances

c. Finance leases

22. Transfer from sinking fund

23. Totals

C Rates and charges

24. Number of assessments

a. Residential (occupied)

b. Residential (unoccupied)

c. Non-residential (occupied)

d. Non-residential (unoccupied)

25. Number of ETs for which developer charges were received

26. Total amount (actual dollars) of pensioner rebates

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

12                    28                    

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

12                    28                    

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

Actuals Actuals

2007 2006

90                    83                    

3                      3                      

502                  550                  

38                    39                    

3,806$             4,000$             

ET ET
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 3 - Water Supply Cross Subsidies
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

D Best practice annual charges and developer charges
#

27. Annual charges

a. Does Council have best-practice water supply annual charges

    and usage charges*?

If Yes, go to 28a.

If No, please report if council has removed land value from access

charges (ie rates)?

* Such charges for both residential customers and non-residential

customers comply with section 3.2 of Water Supply, Sewerage and

Trade Waste Pricing Guidelines, Department of Water & Energy,

December, '2002. Such charges do not involved significant cross

subsidies.

b. Cross-subsidy from residential customers using less than

     allowance (page 25 of Guidelines)

c. Cross-subsidy to non-residential customers (page 24 of Guidelines)

d. Cross-subsidy to large connections in unmetered supplies

     (page 26 of Guidelines)

28. Developer charges

a. Has council completed a water supply Development Servicing**

    Plan?

b. Total cross-subsidy in water supply developer charges for

    2006/07 (page 47 of Guidelines)

** In accordance with page 9 of Developer Charges Guidelines for

Water Supply, Sewerage and Stormwater, Department of Water and

Energy, Dec 2002.

29. Disclosure of cross-subsidies

Total of cross-subsidies (27b +27c + 27d + 28b)

# Councils which have not yet implemented best practice water supply

   pricing should disclose cross-subsidies in items 27b, 27c and 27d above.

However, disclosure of cross-subsidies is not required where a Council has

implemented best practice pricing and is phasing in such pricing over a

period of 3 years.

212                  

No

No

112                  

100                  

Yes No Amount

No
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 4 - Water Supply Balance Sheet
Includes INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS, ie. prepared on a Gross Basis.

as at 30 June 2007

$'000

ASSETS

30. Cash and investments

a. Developer charges

b. Special purpose grants

c. Accrued leave

d. Unexpened loans

e. Sinking fund

f. Other

31. Receivables

a. Specific purpose grants

b. Rates and charges

c. Other

32. Inventories

33. Property, plant and equipment

a. System assets

b. Plant and equipment

34. Other assets

35. Total assets

LIABILITIES

36. Bank overdraft

37. Creditors

38. Borrowings

a. Loans

b. Advances

c. Finance leases

39. Provisions

a. Tax equivalents

b. Dividend

c. Other

40. Total liabilities

41. NET ASSETS COMMITTED

EQUITY

42. Accumulated surplus

43 Asset revaluation reserve

44. TOTAL EQUITY

Note to system assets:

45. Current replacement cost of system assets

46. Accumulated current cost depreciation of system assets

47. Written down current cost of system assets

12                    

-                       79                    

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       

7                      

5,200               6,064               

-                       7                      

-                       -                       

Actuals

Total

-                       

-                       -                       

5,170               5,170               

30                    30                    

-                       

Actuals

Current

-                       -                       

Actuals

Non Current

-                       -                       -                       

-                       

-                       

-                       -                       -                       

610                  -                       610                  

79                    

170                  -                       170                  

-                       -                       -                       

12                    

-                       

-                       

-                       

871                  

-                       -                       -                       

5,200               6,071               

-                       

-                       -                       -                       

-                       

-                       

-                       -                       

-                       

864                  

2,656               

-                       

7                      

7                      -                       

5,200                  

10,000                

(4,800)                

3,408               

6,064               
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 5 - Sewerage Income Statement
Includes ALL INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS, ie. prepared on a Gross Basis.

for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

A Expenses and Income
Expenses

1. Management expenses

a. Administration

b. Engineering and Supervision

2. Operation and Maintenance

- Mains

a. Operation expenses

b. Maintenance expenses

- Pumping Stations

c. Operation expenses (excluding energy costs)

d. Energy costs

e. Maintenance expenses

- Treatment

f. Operation expenses (excl. chemical, energy, effluent & biosolids management costs)

g. Chemical costs

h. Energy costs

i.  Effluent Management

j.  Biosolids Management

k. Maintenance expenses

- Other

l.    Operation expenses

m. Maintenance expenses

3. Depreciation

a. System assets

b. Plant and equipment

4. Miscellaneous expenses

a. Interest expenses

b. Revaluation Decrements

c. Other expenses

d. Tax Equivalents Dividends (actually paid)

5. Total expenses

10                    10                    

13                    -                       

-                       -                       

21                    34                    

34                    32                    

15                    14                    

32                    13                    

73                    61                    

-                       -                       

8                      6                      

-                       

47                    47                    

5                      -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

1                      -                       

-                       -                       

261                  224                  

-                       2                      

-                       1                      

Actuals

2007

Actuals

2006

-                       -                       

2                      4                      

-                       
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 5 - Sewerage Income Statement (continued)

Includes ALL INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS, ie. prepared on a Gross Basis.
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

Income

6. Residential charges (including rates)

7. Non-residential charges

a. Access (including rates)

b. User charges

8. Trade Waste Charges

a. Annual Fees

b. User charges

c. Excess mass charges & re-inspection fees

9. Extra charges

10. Interest income

11. Other income

12. Grants

a. Grants for acquisition of assets

b. Grants for pensioner rebates

c. Other grants

13. Contributions

a. Developer charges

b. Developer provided assets

c. Other contributions

14. Total income

15. Gain or loss on disposal of assets

16. Operating Result

16a. Operating Result (less grants for acquisition of assets)

220                  235                  

53                    -                       

-                       -                       

6                      6                      

5                      5                      

1                      2                      

-                       -                       

2                      2                      

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

287                  250                  

-                       -                       

26                    26                    

26                    26                    

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

Actuals Actuals

2007 2006
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 5 - Sewerage Income Statement (continued)

Includes ALL INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS, ie. prepared on a Gross Basis.
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

B Capital transactions
Non-operating expenditures

17. Acquisition of Fixed Assets

a. Subsidised scheme

b. Other new system assets

c. Renewals

d. Plant and equipment

18. Repayment of debt

a. Loans

b. Advances

c. Finance leases

19. Transfer to sinking fund

20. Totals

Non-operating funds employed

21. Proceeds from disposal of assets

22. Borrowing utilised

a. Loans

b. Advances

c. Finance leases

23. Transfer from sinking fund

24. Totals

C Rates and charges

25. Number of assessments

a. Residential (occupied)

b. Residential (unoccupied)

c. Non-residential (occupied)

d. Non-residential (unoccupied)

26. Number of ETs for which developer charges were received

27. Total amount (actual dollars) of pensioner rebates 4,000$             

ET ET

463                  510                  

39                    34                    

69                    69                    

3                      3                      

-                       -                       

Actuals Actuals

2007 2006

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

2                      2                      

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

2                      2                      

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 5 - Sewerage Cross Subsidies
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

$'000

D Best practice annual charges and developer charges
#

28. Annual charges

a. Does Council have best-practice sewerage annual charges,

    usage charges and trade waste fees & charges*?

If Yes, go to 29a.

If No, please report if council has removed land value from access

charges (ie rates)?

* Such charges for both residential customers and non-residential

customers comply with section 4.2 & 4.3 of the Water Supply,

Sewerage and Trade Waste Pricing Guidelines, Department of Water

and Energy, December, 2002. Such charges do not involve significant

cross subsidies.

b. Cross-subsidy to non-residential customers (page 45 of Guidelines)

c. Cross-subsidy to trade waste discharges (page 46 of Guidelines)

29. Developer charges

a. Has council completed a sewerage Development Servicing**

    Plan?

b. Total cross-subsidy in sewerage developer charges for

    2006/07 (page 47 of Guidelines)

** In accordance with page 9 of Developer Charges Guidelines for

Water Supply, Sewerage and Stormwater, Department of Water &

Energy , Dec 2002.

30. Disclosure of cross-subsidies

Total of cross-subsidies (28b + 28c + 29b)

# Councils which have not yet implemented best practice sewer pricing &

   liquid waste prising should disclose cross-subsidies in items 28b and 28c

   above.

However, disclosure of cross-subsidies is not required where a Council has

implemented best practice sewerage and liquid waste pricing and is phasing

in such pricing over a period of 3 years.

Yes No Amount

No

No

No

48                    

48                    
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 6 - Sewerage Service Balance Sheet
Includes INTERNAL TRANSACTIONS, ie. prepared on a Gross Basis.

as at 30 June 2007

$'000

ASSETS

31. Cash and investments

a. Developer charges

b. Special purpose grants

c. Accrued leave

d. Unexpened loans

e. Sinking fund

f. Other

32. Receivables

a. Specific purpose grants

b. Rates and charges

c. Other

33. Inventories

34. Property, plant and equipment

a. System assets

b. Plant and equipment

35. Other assets

36. Total Assets

LIABILITIES

37. Bank overdraft

38. Creditors

39. Borrowings

a. Loans

b. Advances

c. Finance leases

40. Provisions

a. Tax equivalents

b. Dividend

c. Other

41. Total Liabilities

42. NET ASSETS COMMITTED

EQUITY

42. Accumulated surplus

44. Asset revaluation reserve

45. TOTAL EQUITY

Note to system assets:

46. Current replacement cost of system assets

47. Accumulated current cost depreciation of system assets

48. Written down current cost of system assets

6,836               

455                  

905                  

6,400                  

10,000                

(3,600)                

5,931               

-                       

11                    

13                    19                    

-                       

-                       

-                       -                       

-                       

-                       

2                      19                    21                    

468                  

-                       -                       -                       

6,400               6,868               

-                       

-                       

-                       

-                       

79                    -                       79                    

-                       -                       -                       

384                  -                       384                  

5                      

-                       

-                       -                       -                       

-                       -                       -                       

-                       

Actuals

Current

-                       -                       

Actuals

Non Current

Actuals

Total

-                       

-                       -                       

6,357               6,357               

43                    43                    

-                       

-                       

32                    

6,381               6,836               

-                       11                    

-                       -                       

-                       

-                       -                       

-                       -                       

-                       

-                       5                      

-                       -                       

-                       -                       
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Notes to Special Schedule No.'s 3 & 5
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

Administration
(1)

Engineering and supervision
(1)

(item 1a of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprises the following: (item 1b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprises the following:

•  Administration staff: • Engineering staff:

− Salaries and allowance − Salaries and allowance

− Travelling expenses − Travelling expenses

− Accrual of leave entitlements − Accrual of leave entitlements

− Employment overheads. − Employment overheads.

• Meter reading. • Other technical and supervision staff:

− Salaries and allowance

• Bad and doubtful debts. − Travelling expenses

− Accrual of leave entitlements

• Other administrative/corporate support services. − Employment overheads.

Operational expenses (item 2 of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprise the day to day operational expenses

excluding maintenance expenses.

Maintenance expenses (item 2 of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprise the day to day repair and maintenance

expenses. (Refer to Section 5 of the Local Government Asset Accounting Manual regarding capitalisation

principles and the distinction between capital and maintenance expenditure).

Other expenses (item 4b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) include all expenses not recorded elsewhere.

Residential charges
(2)

 (items 6a, 6b and item 6 of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) include all income

from residential charges. Item 6 of Schedule 3 should be separated into 6a Access Charges (including rates if

applicable) and 6b User Charges.

Non-residential charges
(2)

 (items 7a, 7b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) include all income from non-residential

charges separated into 7a Access Charges (including rates if applicable) and 7b User Charges.

Trade waste charges (item 8 of Special Schedule 5) include all income from trade waste charges separated

into 8a Annual Fees, 8b Usage Charges and 8c Excess Mass Charges and Re-inspection Fees.

Other income (items 10 and 11 of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) include all income not recorded

elsewhere.

Other contributions (items 12c and 13c of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) include capital contributions

for water supply or sewerage services received by Council under Section 565 of the Local Government Act.

Notes:
(1)

 Administration and engineering costs for the development of capital works projects should be reported as part of the capital

    cost of the project and not as part of the recurrent expenditure (ie. in item 16 for water supply and item 17 for sewerage,

    and not in items 1a and 1b).

(2)
 To enable accurate reporting of average residential bills, it is essential for councils to accurately separate their residential

    (item 6) charges and non-residential (item 7) charges.
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 7 - Condition of Public Works
as at 30 June 2007

$'000

S
p
e
c
ia

l S
c
h
e
d
u
le

s
 2

0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

8

20           50           3             426         

3             30           6             6             384         -              97           287         Aged Units 2% 8             

3             30           5             2             114         -              36           78           Caravan Park 2-10% 3             

3             25           10           10           69           -              20           49           Airports 2-5% 2             

3             50           18           21           

15           21           22           

Amenities / Toilets 2-10% 32           1,276       -              418         

Emergency Services 2-5% 5             

352         3             

8,947       -              

145         -              61           84           3             

858         

7             421         -              69           

-              281         

standard 
(1)

918         3             

101         94           

351         

Library

Childcare Centre

Medical Facilities

20           3             15           6             

20           

Council Halls

Council Houses

Tourist Centre

100         82           

1,334       3             100         72           -              374         

-              2             

50           -              

32           1,708       

22           

476         10           

Buildings

Public Roads

Council Offices

Council Works Depot

Footpaths

2%

2%

2%

1.55%

2%

160         15           12           2% 24           1,199       

2-5% 16           770         -              164         606         3             60           55           66           

2% 39           1,901       -              477         1,424       3             50           

74           

6             

2% 7             380         -              72           308         3             15           10           

15           13           13           

10           

615         

29,943     -              

8,865       -              2,121       6,744       

6,974       2,514       

11,982     17,961     4             

6,433       4             

4,868       865         711         

1,585       -              

1.25% 41           3,451       -              -              

815         770         4             65           

457         2,994       4             

4             -              630         748         -              

45,304     -              

5             

197         10           

1,027       

197         46           

344         sub total

Sealed Roads

Unsealed Roads

ASSET CLASS
Cost Valuation

satisfactory

Impairment (WDV) Condition
#

condition Maintenance Maintenance

(%) ($) & Amount Asset  Annual Annual

Dep'n.

Required
(2)

Current
(3)

cost to

Depreciation Carrying bring up to aExpense

Accumulated

Estimated

Dep'n.

Rate

<<<<<<<<<<<< per Note 9 >>>>>>>>>>>>per Note 4

Asset Category

Bridges

<<<<<<<< per Section 428(2d) >>>>>>>>per Note 1

185         

85           

1.55% 297         

16,398     28,906     12,236     870         

Kerb and Gutter

sub total 474         

1,378       1.40% 20           

2.85% 31           
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 7 - Condition of Public Works (continued)

as at 30 June 2007

$'000

80           

18           

3             447         76           

3             20           18           4,610       1,122       3,488       Mains 6             

2,020       1,598       422         Treatment Works 26           

16           

22           

5             

14           

16           

6             

6             

50           

10           

60           

3             

3             

3             

3             

3             

-              

20           2             18           Treatment Works

740         110         630         Reservoirs 2             

269         152         117         Pumping Stations 3             

1,160       620         540         Mains 12           

15           7             8             Inlet Works

Goodooga -              

p
a
g
e
 1

9

S
p
e
c
ia

l S
c
h
e
d
u
le

s
 2

0
0
7

10           8             660         1,280       3             132         Reservoirs 17           

3             5             Treatment Works 1             360         150         210         

170         300         3             5             Pumping Stations 1             

15           7             8             3             10           

-              

Mains 32           

Inlet Works

Brewarrina 

per Note 1 per Note 4 <<<<<<<<<<<< per Note 9 >>>>>>>>>>>> <<<<<<<< per Section 428(2d) >>>>>>>>

Asset Category

satisfactory Annual

standard 
(1)

Condition
#

condition MaintenanceCost Valuation Impairment (WDV)

Current
(3)

& Amount Asset  Annual

Depreciation Carrying bring up to a

(%) ($)

Rate Expense

cost toDep'n. Accumulated

Estimated

Dep'n.

470         

1,940       

Required
(2)

Maintenance

130         50           

ASSET CLASS

Water

2,800       1,100       3             3,900       40           

Pumping Stations 3             424         305         119         3             460         44           34           

Treatment Works 6             1,517       137         1,380       3             230         80           80           

sub total 75           -              10,000     4,800       5,200       1,088       220         205         

Sewerage Brewarrina -              

Pumping Stations 11           1,040       360         680         3             90           34           49           

Goodooga -              

Mains 2             1,500       200         1,300       3             10           

sub total 47           10,000     -              3,600       147         6,400       577         128         
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Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 7 - Condition of Public Works (continued)

as at 30 June 2007

$'000

Notes:

(1). Satisfactory refers to estimated cost to bring the asset to a satisfactory condition as deemed by Council. It does not include any planned enhancements to the existing asset.

(2). Required Annual Maintenance is what should be spent to maintain assets in a satisfactory standard.

(3). Current Annual Maintenance is what has been spent in the current year to maintain assets.

# Asset Condition "Key" - as per NSW Local Government Asset Accounting Manual:

Near Perfect - Ranges from New or Good Requires Major Reconstruction - Ranges from Poor to Critical

Superficial Deterioration - Ranges from Generally Good to Fair Asset Unserviceable - Critical, Beyond Repair

Deterioration Evident - Ranges from Fair to Marginal
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80           116         -              36           2             12           Gorss Polluntant Trap 1.25% 12           

Estimated

Dep'n. Dep'n. cost toAccumulated

Rate Expense Carrying bring up to aDepreciation Required
(2)

Current
(3)

(%) ($) & AnnualAnnual

Cost Valuation Impairment (WDV) Condition
#

Amount Asset  satisfactory

condition

ASSET CLASS Asset Category
Maintenance Maintenance

per Note 1 per Note 4 <<<<<<<<<<<< per Note 9 >>>>>>>>>>>> <<<<<<<< per Section 428(2d) >>>>>>>>

standard 
(1)

Drainage Works

Outfalls 1.25% 2             121         -              21           100         2             17           

Stormwater Conduits 1.25% 9             493         -              93           400         2             17           10           3             

Inlet and Junction Pits 1.25% 2             112         -              20           92           2             17           

Head Walls 1.25% 4             -              1             3             2             17           

sub total 25           846         -              171         3             675         80           10           

TOTAL - ALL ASSETS 806         1,736       1,569       55,015     20,000     27,090     47,925     

5

14,596     

p
a
g
e
 2

0

1

2

4
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Special Schedules 2007

Brewarrina Shire Council

Special Schedule No. 8 - Financial Projections
as at 30 June 2007

$ million

(i) RECURRENT BUDGET

Income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations

Operating Result from Continuing Operations

(ii) CAPITAL BUDGET

New Capital Works (2)

Replacement/Refurbishment of Existing Assets

Total Capital Budget

Funded by:

– Loans

– Asset sales

– Reserves

– Grants/Contributions

– Recurrent revenue

– Other

Notes:

(1) From 06/07 Income Statement.

(2) New Capital Works are major non-recurrent projects, eg new Leisure Centre, new Library, new Swimming pool etc.

(3) If Council has only adopted 3 years of projections then only show 3 years.

-        

2.6        1.0        0.5        0.5        

2.6        1.0        0.5        0.5        

2.6        1.0        0.5        0.5        -        

0.5        0.6        0.5        0.5        

1.9        0.2        

0.1        0.0        

0.1        0.2        

1.3        0.3-        0.3-        0.3-        -        

6.9        7.5        7.4        7.6        

09/10 10/11

8.2        7.2        7.1        7.3        

Actual(1)

06/07 07/08 08/09

Forecast(3)Forecast(3)ForecastForecast
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

 
GOVERNANCE 
 

To ensure the sound management of Council and the promotion of a favourable image of Council and its staff. 
• Effective organisational structure  • Reviewed annually • Reviews of structure undertaken in 

August 2006 & March 2007 
• Policies are relevant & meet 

objectives  
• Reviewed annually • On-going 

Elected Council, 
General Manager 
 
 

• Strategies & performance indicators in 
the Management Plan are met  

• Reviewed quarterly • Has met the strategies & performance 
indicators developed 

 
INFRASTRUCTURE OWNERSHIP AND OPERATION 
 

Provide effective and efficient rural land transportation network which meets the community based needs and commercial 
needs at costs which stakeholders are able to pay for. 
• Maintain Brewarrina Aerodrome within 

licence conditions. 
• Aerodrome maintained to Licence 

requirement 
• Licence is current-works ongoing 

• Maintain Goodooga Aerodrome within 
certification conditions. 

• Aerodrome maintained to Certification 
requirement  

• Certification is current-works ongoing 

• Maintain Weilmoringle Aerodrome as 
a landing and take off strip. 

• Aerodrome maintained to Emergency 
Strip  requirement 

• This is being met and is ongoing 

• Seal Brenda Road from Goodooga to 
Airport 2007. 

• Sealed all-weather road to the 
Aerodrome 

• Ongoing-Sub-base work completed 
as of June 30th 2007 

• Build Reserves to fund resealing of 
Brewarrina Aerodrome in 2008 

• Reserve progressively built to fund 
resealing 

• Build Reserves to fund resealing of 
Goodooga Aerodrome in 2010 

• Reserve progressively built to fund 
resealing 

Air Transportation 

• Build Reserves to fund resealing of 
Weilmoringle Aerodrome in 2009 

• Reserve progressively built to fund 
resealing 

 
• Alternately, Council has been 

exploring external funds to maintain 
all three Aerodromes and has applied 
for grants under “Safer Runways in 
Remote Australia” programme. 

Provide effective and efficient rural land transportation network which meets the community based needs and commercial 
needs at costs which stakeholders are able to pay for. 
• To develop program for all rural 

sealed roads within Shire by 2008. 
• To develop resealing program for 

rural regional sealed roads within 
Shire 

• Ongoing progress- is on track to 
achieve the development of the 
program 

Land Transportation 
Rural 

• Seek special funding from RTA to 
improve road surface State Highway 
MR70. 

• Improve 5.00 road surface State 
Road MR70. 

• Council managed to secure approximately 
1.1 M from RTA for these two state roads 
maintenance in the financial year 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY UTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

O

• Seek special funding from RTA to 
improve road surface State Highway 
SH29. 

• Seek special funding for State 
Highway SH29 improvement from 
RTA 

• As above 

• Extend 5 kilometres of seal on 
Regional Road from Brewarrina to 
Goodooga by 2008. 

• Sealing of unsealed part of road from 
Brewarrina to Goodooga 

• Lobbying for Federal and State grants 
ongoing. 

• Develop and Implement annual 
regrade program for local unsealed 
roads. 

• Annual regrading program for local 
unsealed roads is implemented 

• Ongoing-workshop planned in the 
next financial year  to prioritize local 
roads to be included under R2R 
program 2008-2014 

• Carry out routine maintenance on rural 
roads. 

• 10 ramp approaches to be sealed on 
local roads 

• Ongoing 

• Complete sealing of road from 
Brewarrina to Weilmoringle 

• Implement annual regrade program 
for local unsealed roads 

• Sealing completed 

• Provide up to 2000 linear meter of new 
gravel causeways to improve 
drivability on existing soil roads 

• Routine maintenance on rural roads • Ongoing 

Provide effective and efficient rural land transportation network which meets the community based needs and commercial 
needs at costs which stakeholders are able to pay for. 
• To develop resealing program for all 

urban sealed roads within Shire 
by2008. 

• Resealing program for Brewarrina 
Township sealed roads to be 
developed 

• Ongoing 

• Develop Asset Management System 
for the Shire Infrastructure 

• Asset Management System for the 
Shire infrastructure  

• Ongoing- Preliminary work on Asset 
Register, Asset Management 
Policy(draft) and workgroup started. 

• Develop effective and efficient 
Geographic Information System 

• Geographic Information System • Ongoing- Mapping software procured. 

• Repair at least 200 linear meters of 
kerb & gutter within Brewarrina 
Township 

 

• 200 linear metres of kerb and gutter 
within Brewarrina Township to be 
repaired 

• Ongoing 

• Repair70 linear metres of paved 
footpath within Brewarrina Township  

 

• 70 linear metres of paved footpath 
within Brewarrina Township to be 
repaired 

• Deferred and to be included under 
R2R program 

Land Transportation 
Urban and Design 

• Provide design and management 
support for maintenance & 
reconstruction of road system 

 • Ongoing 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

Provide Water Supply services to Brewarrina and Goodooga residents, and commercial interest at World Heath Water 
quality standards. 
• Reduce average water operating cost 

per connection to 70th percentile for 
Brewarrina & 60th percentile for 
Goodooga, of reported costs for Rural 
Agriculture Medium (RAM) councils – 
Year 2006-07 

• <3 complaints per month regarding 
water supply 

• <15 complaints per year regarding 
service supply 

• Not more than (5) mains supply 
interruptions with a duration >2 hours 

• Exceed health related water quality 
criteria (microbiology) for 100% of the 
supply program 

 
 
 
 

• Being complied with in each case 

• Develop draft Strategic Water Supply 
Business Plan for 2007-2010. 

• Business Plan developed. 

• Develop strategy for funding system 
depreciation. 

• Strategies developed and 
implemented. 

• Develop a program for infrastructure 
renewal, upgrading and maintenance. 

• Program for infrastructure renewal 
developed. 

 

Water Supply  
Services to 
Brewarrina and 
Goodooga 

• Develop funding strategy for (5) year 
capital works. 

• 5 Year Funding strategy for capital 
works is developed. 

 

• Development of Strategic Water 
Supply &Sewerage Business Plan 
deferred until 2008-9 Financial year 
due to lack of allocation in 2006-7. 

To address sewerage collection and treatment needs in Brewarrina and Goodooga in a congenial, cost efficient and 
effective manner. 
• Reduce average sewerage service 

operating cost per connection to 70th 
percentile for Brewarrina and 60th  
percentile for Goodooga, of reported 
costs for Rural Agricultural Medium 
(RAM) councils – target of $264 per 
connection in Brewarrina and $215 in 
Goodooga (Down from$295) based 
on 1996/97 data. 

 

Efficiency and Effectiveness: 
• Not more than 5 confirmed sewer 

chokes requiring more than 3 hours to 
clear per annum 

• Not more than 3 sewer chokes in any 
section of main per annum 

• 100% discharge licence compliance. 
• Operating Benchmarks met 
• < 3 Service complaints per month 

 
 
 
 
• Being complied with in each case 

Sewerage Services 
to Brewarrina and 
Goodooga 

• Develop Strategic Business Plan 
ensuring compliance with Department 
of Energy Utilities and Sustainability 
Performance Comparisons. 

 

• Business Plan   
 
 

• Development of Strategic Water Supply 
&Sewerage Business Plan deferred 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY TORS STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICA
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

• Develop strategy for funding system 
depreciation. 

• Strategies developed and 
implemented. 

• Develop a program for infrastructure 
renewal, upgrading and maintenance. 

• Program for infrastructure renewal 
developed. 

• Develop funding strategy for (5) year 
capital works. 

• 10 Year Funding strategy for capital 
works is developed. 

until 2008-9 Financial year due to lack 
of allocation in 2006-7. 

• Maintain/update current assets 
register. 

• Current Assets register developed. • Ongoing-Water & Sewer Asset 
valuation initiated. 

• Complete construction planning and 
documentation for effluent disposal in 
Brewarrina to achieve zero discharge 
with a failure probability < 1%. 

•  • To be incorporated in  Strategic Water 
Supply &Sewerage Business plan 

• Develop a mapping strategy for sewer 
blockages 

•  • To be undertaken under MIS in 2008-9 

Commence construction of new levee bank to protect the town of Brewarrina from 1 in 100 year flood. 
• Finalise Legal and association costs • Finalise legal proceedings 
• Legal & associated cost to be 

formalised & accounted for 
• Legal and associated cost to be 

formalized and accounted for. 

• Terms and conditions of final payment 
endorsed by June Council meeting.  

Levee Bank 

• Determine future action required - 
develop a program to rehabilitate and 
repair the levee bank 

• Determine future action required • Consultants Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Australia Pty. Ltd., appointed to 
carryout the Preparation of Contract 
Documents for the Brewarrina Levee 
Remedial Works 
 

Provide maintain and improve where possible cemetery services which meet the expectations of the Community 
• Adequately maintain the cemeteries in 

the Shire. Seek to minimise user 
costs. 

• Contain costs of maintenance 
• Respond to service requests within 24 

hours 
• < 2 complaints/month regarding 

maintenance of cemeteries. 
 

• Cemeteries maintained to required 
level 

• Costs maintained as per budget 

• Provision of a portable shelter  •  • Purchased 

Cemetery 

• Develop a maintenance program and 
costing for the cemetery 

• Maintenance program  to be 
developed and implemented. 

• Costing for cemetery in line with 
community capacity 

 

• Ongoing 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

 
COMMUNITY SUPPORT INFRASTRUCTURE OWNERSHIP AND OPERATIONS 
 

To address provision of caravan park facilities. 
• Investigate funding sources for 

relocation of Caravan Park. 
• If funding available proceed with 

relocation of  the caravan park  

• Application lodged with Sustainable 
Regions program and was 
unsuccessful 

• Investigate future use of the existing 
caravan site (if relocation proceeds) 

• Funding for relocation of Caravan 
Park  

• Visitor satisfaction level for guest. 
• Occupancy rate of Caravan Park. 

• Low occupancy rates are consistent 
with facilities provided. 

• Improve facilities at Four Mile 
camping area 

• Facilities to be improved at 4 mile 
camping 

• Facilities required have been 
identified. Timetable for improvements 
to be developed. 

Caravan Park 

• Improve amenities in the open space 
next to historic Barwon River Bridge 

•  • Continuing to source funding 

To address provision of tourist information, partner with the community to provide cultural and sporting facilities. 
• Promote tourism and economic 

development through the Tourist 
Information Centre. 

• Inter net facilities in Tourist info centre. 
• Install Internet 

 

• Internet facilities installed at Tourist 
Information Centre 

• Promote use of Tennis Courts. • Use of Tennis Courts • Activities in use 

Tourist Information 
Centre and Regional 
Museum 

• Promote use of Bowling Greens • Use of Lawn Bowling Greens. • Used as required 
Land management Plan to determine future direction and opportunities offered by Sale Yard be operational asset. 
• Input from prospective stakeholders. • View of stakeholders on the process.  
• Determine direction and cost-time line.  • Not Functional 

Saleyards 

• Land Management Plan for Saleyards. • Acceptance of Land Management Plan.  
Provide attractive infrastructure for medical practitioners by providing good, efficient and effective medical facilities to the 
citizens of Brewarrina Shire Council. 
• Routine maintenance of assets • Ability to maintain Medical and 

Pharmacy service within Brewarrina 
Township. 

• Doctors and Pharmacist satisfaction 
level with infrastructure provided by 
Council. 

• Any service requests will be 
responded to within two working days 

• Maintenance plan to be developed 
and implemented. Routine 
maintenance ongoing. 

Medical Centre, 
Doctors House and 
Pharmacy 

• Develop a 6 year Maintenance 
program for the assets. 

• Doctors and Pharmacist satisfaction level 
with infrastructure provided by Council 

• Deferred to the 2008-9 financial year. 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

To provide acceptable housing that facilitates the hiring of appropriate staff. 
• Future direction for Council as 

property owner 
• Expectations of Council as property 

owner. 
• Currently under consideration 

• Established a regular income stream 
to the housing reserve. 

• Regular income stream to housing 
reserve to be developed. 

• Ongoing 
 

• Develop a 12 year maintenance 
Program if funding is available. 

• Develop 12 year maintenance 
Program. 

• Deferred to 2008-9 Financial Year 

Staff Housing 

• Develop Routine Maintenance 
program. 

• Routine Maintenance program to be 
developed. 

• Any routine service requests will be 
responded to within 2 working days 

• Maintenance plan to be developed. 
Maintenance ongoing. 

 
NATURAL RESOURCE AND ENVIORNMENTAL MANAGEMENT AND PROTECTION 
 

To determine the future direction of development, and the desired State of the Environment. 
• Monitor new LEP, and supporting 

Development Control Plans. 
• Progress on new Local Environmental 

Plan. 
• Made new joint funding application 

with Bourke and Central Darling Shire 
Councils. LEP 2000 to be repealed by 
2011. 

 
• Identify opportunities to develop a long 

term planning strategy for the 
Brewarrina Shire 

 • Due for completion in 2007/8 

• Manage and Maintain Council Owned 
Land Register and Community Land 
Management Plan. 

• Manage and maintain Council owned 
Land Register and Community Land 
Management Plan 

• New land register completed in 2007. 
• New Reserve register completed in 

2007. 
• Development of generic plan of 

management for parks and reserves 
to commence early 2008. 

 

Strategic Town 
Planning 

• Prepare a Section 94 Contribution 
Plan for urban roads, sewerage, 
drainage and open spaces. 

• Formulate Section 94 Plan. • Awaiting new guidelines from the 
Minister for the development of 
section 94A contribution plans. New 
guidelines to come out in early 2008. 

Provide direction to development in maintenance of harmony with Heritage and Culture of the area. Environmental 
Planning and 
Heritage Control 

• Establish a local heritage fund 
heritage development. 

• Establish Local heritage assistance 
fund. 

• Fund established 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

• Notify Heritage office and/or National 
Parks service of any Development 
Applications which impact a cultural or 
heritage site. 

• Notify Heritage office and/or National 
Parks service of any Development 
Applications which impact on a 
cultural or heritage site. 

• Ongoing. 

• Provide a heritage and cultural 
advisory service to promote local 
heritage within the Shire  

• Provide a heritage advisory service to 
promote local heritage within the 
Shire.  

 

• Established 

Performance of activities which constitute services to the community which affect the environment or services on behalf 
of the goal of environmental quality maintenance. 
• Provide complying State of 

Environment Report 
• State of Environment Report review 

complete by 30 July 2006. 
• State of the Environment report for 

2006/7 submitted to DLG on 30 
November 2007. 

• Monitor potential sources of pollution. • Respond to a notified potential 
pollution event within 2 days 

• Respond to a notified pollution incident 
within 3 hours 

• No instances reported 

• Provide a weekly domestic waste 
service to all urban premises (except 
Angledool). 

• Waste minimisation initiatives – 
measure waste stream volumes and 
establish benchmarks. 

• < 1% of domestic waste services 
missed per month 

• < 4 complaints a month of Council not 
meeting reasonable community litter 
control standards 

• Maintained as required 

• Manage Council’s waste disposal 
facilities in accordance with the 
requirements of the Department of 
Environment and Conservation 
(DEC). 

 

• Ongoing 

• Maintain waste minimisation 
strategies for green waste, scrap 
metal and tyres 

 • Ongoing 

Pollution and Waste 
Management 

• Service all street litter bins in the CBD 
of Brewarrina daily, and Goodooga 
twice weekly. 

 

 • Ongoing 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

Performance of activities which constitute services to the community and protect the community from flooding and 
efficient and effective drainage system. Which in effective provide for good environmental quality maintenance. 
• Finalise an inventory of existing 

stormwater drainage systems in town 
and village areas  

• Finalise an inventory of existing 
stormwater drainage systems in town 
and village areas  

• Document stormwater drainage 
improvement needs 

• Document stormwater drainage 
improvement needs 

• Document stormwater requirements for 
Goodooga 

• Document stormwater drainage 
improvement needs 

• Prepare and implement annual 
maintenance programme for 
stormwater systems 

• Prepare and implement annual 
maintenance programme for 
stormwater systems 

Storm Water 
Management 

• Prepare a Stormwater Management 
Plan in accordance with requirements 
set by the Department of Environment 
and Conservation (DEC). 

 

• Stormwater Management Plan in 
accordance with requirements set be 
the Department of Environment and 
Conservation (DEC)  

 
 
 
 
• Stormwater Management Plan being 

reviewed by consultants- 
Barnsons/WCMA including possibility 
of 12 Mass Pollutants Traps in 
Brewarrina town 

Control of development and environmental factors to provide a healthy outcome for the public. 
• Develop a register of all onsite 

disposal systems outside township. 
 

• Register of onsite disposal systems 
outside townships to be developed.  

• To commence in 2008. 

• Assess registered systems for pollution 
risk potential 

 

 • Ongoing 

• Inspect not less than 20% of high risk 
sites each year 

• Inspect 20% of high risk onsite 
disposal systems. 

• Inspect 5% of remaining registered 
systems. 

• Ongoing- NSW Food Authority 
website updated 

• Review Council policy covering risk 
assessment and future licensing 
requirements. 

 

• Council to review and approve. • Ongoing 

• Formulate a reporting system on 
registrations and inspections. 

• Reporting system to be developed. • Ongoing – NSW Food Authority 
website updated. 

Public Health 
Protection 
Programme 

• Provide the public with appropriate 
guidelines under the Public Health Act 

 

• Guidelines provided. • Ongoing – as required. 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

• Ensure food premises comply with the 
Food Act. 

• Food premises inspected regularly. • Ongoing- Food premises are 
inspected as appropriate 

 
• Ensure the operations of swimming 

pools complying with relevant 
legislations 

• Inspect the operations of the public 
pool weekly 

• Ongoing- pool inspected regularly 
during the year 

• Pool amenities are planned to be 
upgraded in September 2007. 

• Compliance of portable water supplies 
to ensure that the water quality is 
within World Health Organisation 
guidelines. 

• Monitor potable water supply` • Ongoing 

Control of building development in the shire. 
• Ensure compliance of all applications 

with legislation, Councils Local 
Environmental Plan and the Building 
Code of Australia. 

• Complied with 
Building Control 
 
 

• Ensure applications are processed 
within the time limits established by 
Council Policy and Legislation 

Approvals processed within 
• 21-40 days maximum onsite disposal 

systems 
• Construction Certificates approved 

within 14-30 days 
• DAs Approved within 30-40 days 

maximum 
• Certificates issued within 7-14 days 

max. 

• Complied with 

Control of development & environmental factors, and the assessment of environmental conditions. 
• Impound straying stock and 

companion animals, and educate the 
public in animal control 

• Implement regulations for companion 
animal control.  

• Public education in animal control 
• Respond to complaints of straying 

animals within 1 hour between 6am 
and 6pm 

• Ongoing and new regulations to 
be completed in 2007. 

• Issue infringement notices for 
offences. 

• Infringement notices dealt within the 
time limits. 

• Council officers will be trained in the 
issuing of SEINS early 2008. 

• Construct and Maintain complying 
pounding facilities. 

• Construct complying pounding 
facilities. 

• Pounding facility to be improved and 
security enhanced. 

• Ensure transportation of waste 
complies with requirements. 

• Regularly monitor transportation of 
waste 

• Ongoing 

 
Animal and Litter 
Control 

• Reduce incidence of dumping of 
rubbish in public places by education 
and enforcement. 

• Incidence of dumping of rubbish in 
public places to be reduced. 

• Public awareness program to be 
developed in conjunction with 
Technology Park Project 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY OMES 
ssive) 

STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTC
(Progre

• Issue infringement notices for offences • Infringement notices for offences 
issued where applicable. 

 

• Issued as required 

Control of development and environmental factors, and the assessment of environmental condition. 
• Undertake routine inspections to locate 

noxious weeds and pests and seek 
appropriate funding to control and 
manage noxious weeds. 

 

• Inspect at least 20% of rural properties 
and public lands annually for noxious 
weeds on a progressive basis. 

• Supervise contract weed eradication 

• Seek landowners cooperation & 
participation in the eradication of 
noxious weeds 

 

 

• Provide information to increase public 
awareness of the impact of noxious 
weeds. 

 

• Provide annual reporting to the 
Department of Primary Industries 
(DPI). 

• Issue infringement notices for offences 
where appropriate. 

 

• Infringement notices for offences 
issued where applicable. 

Weed Control 

• Ensure noxious weed eradication on 
Council controlled land occurs. 

 

• Supervise contract weed eradication. 

• Ongoing through Contractor 

Support the volunteer infrastructure of emergency services delivery to the community 
• Monitor partnership with Bourke Shire 

with in Rural Fire Zone 
 

• Bourke-Brewarrina Zone formed • Formed during 2006 

• Monitor Service Level Agreement with 
the Rural Fire Service of NSW 

 

• Effective radio communications 
system and protocols operative. 

• Ongoing 

• Maximise equipment and services to 
volunteers through efficient 
management structures. 

• Provide financial support to the local 
SES and maintain equipment. 

Emergency Services 

• Assist with administrative support if 
requested 

• Majority of volunteers supporting RFS 
delivery of the administrative 
management role. 

 
 
 
• Local SES system operating and 

supported by volunteers 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

 
PROVISION OF COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

The provision, of facilities and services which support the community’s leisure and recreational needs including public 
building requirements. 
• Operate the Brewarrina Swimming 

Pool through contract management to 
a standard that meets health 
requirements and public expectations 

• Maintain the current Pool 
attendance/year.  

• Contract managed and meeting health 
requirements and public expectations 

• < 2 complaints/100 users/year at 
Council operated pool. 

• < 2 complaints/month regarding 
conditions of public toilets 

• Ongoing- Lease entered into in 
August 2006 with Contractor 

• Undertake necessary maintenance to 
preserve the asset. 

• Maintenance of pool • Ongoing 

• Develop six years building 
Maintenance Plan. 

• Develop six years building 
Maintenance Plan. 

• Develop and implement Routine 
Maintenance Programs for buildings. 

• Develop and implement Routine 
Maintenance Programs for buildings. 

Provision Indoor 
Leisure and 
Community Facility 

• Develop a strategy to determine 
functional and operational 
effectiveness of the buildings. 

 

• Develop a strategy to determine 
functional and operational 
effectiveness of the building. 

• Currently under preparation 

The provision, of facilities and services which support the community’s open space and recreational needs. 
• Maintain and enhance public active 

and passive open space recreation 
areas. 

• Public active and passive open space 
recreation areas to be maintained. 

• Ongoing- Maintained regularly 
throughout the year 

• Prepare and maintain sportsgrounds to 
cater for local sporting organisations. 

• Ongoing- maintained throughout the 
year to required standards 

• Rationalise resources invested in 
planting and maintaining trees in open 
space. 

• Ongoing- Program proceeded with 
during the year. 

• Adequately maintain the Shire owned 
public toilet facilities within public 
open space. 

• Assessments of complains received, 
condition of park and ovals. 

• Establishment cost bench mark for 
open space maintenance. 

• Ongoing- Toilets maintained to 
required level throughout the year 

Provision of Active 
and Passive Open 
Space. 

• Develop a tree planting and 
maintenance program for Brewarrina. 

• Tree Planting Maintenance Program 
for Brewarrina 

• Ongoing 
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STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES
(Progressiv

• Maintain council buildings in the long 
term. 

• Long term building maintenance 
costed and planned over a ten year 
period. 

• Under preparation 

• Develop Routine Maintenance 
Program. 

• Routine maintenance programs for 
buildings developed and 
implemented. 

• Under preparation 

 
COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 

Continue to promote the extension of the Library Service to increase access to and utilisation of services and resources in 
partner with Moree Regional Library for service delivery. 
• Provide and maintain adequate and 

suitable premises for library purposes. 
 

 
• Cost per head of population contained 

at average for RAM councils in NSW 
• Customer surveys show above 

average community satisfaction with 
service and accessibility 

• Basic awareness of available services 
by non-users 

 
• Satisfaction with services is good 
• Increased level of awareness 

indicated by improved Library usage. 
 
 
 
 

• Maintain partnership with the Moree 
Regional Library to make available to 
the residents of the Shire the most 
comprehensive library & information 
services possible. 

 • Partnership with Moree Regional 
Library continued and improved with 
grants to Brewarrina Library and 
increase books available 

• Install / expand public access to 
electronic technology. 

  

• Conduct user satisfaction surveys. 
 

  

Library Services 

• Increase utilisation levels to at least 
half the average per head of 
population for Rural Agricultural 
Medium (RAM) Local Government 
areas in NSW. 

 

 • Installation of additional internet 
access at library due to completion by 
December 2007 

Council will foster its Sister City relationship with Warringah. Sister City 
Relationship. • Promote Sister City relationship. 

 
• Promote Sister City relationship. • Sister City relationship has continues 

during 2006/07 with bi-annual student 

Page 152 of 212



PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

• Develop student exchange program 
 

• Develop student exchange program 

• Develop social exchange program 
 

• Develop social exchange program 

• Staff development and exchange 
program. 

 

• Staff development and exchange 
program. 

exchange program and use of skilled 
support from Warringah Council 

To facilitate services to those receiving welfare support and are socially disadvantaged. 
• Maintain facilities for the operation of 

the Brewarrina Childcare Centre 
 

• Leave of attendance at centre has 
improved during the year 

• Sponsor Brewarrina Senior Citizens 
through the provision of meeting space 

 

• Ongoing 

• Manage and maintain Brewarrina Aged 
Units 

• No net decrease in services and 
access to the stakeholders. 

• Stakeholder’s feedback on facilities. 

• Ongoing 

Social Services 
Sponsorship And 
Delivery 

• Continue to provide agency services 
for Centrelink. 

• Continue provision of Centrelink 
service. 

• Centrelink services have continued 
throughout the year 

To facilitate services to youth, the aged, those receiving welfare support, and the socially disadvantaged. 
• Facilitate community focussed events, 

special emphasis weeks and cultural 
events 

• Increasing participation in community 
special events 

• Partner with the Regional Arts 
Development Officer, and Local 
Government & Shires Associations to 
develop cultural resources, events 
and infrastructure 

 

• Partner with Far West Academy of 
Sport to develop youth sport 
organisations 

• Increased options for youth in sport 
• Growing participation in youth sport 

• Manage the Special Accommodation 
Assistance Program (SAAP) and 
deliver services through the 
Brewarrina Youth Centre 

 

• Youth Activities in community and 
special events continued throughout 
the year 

• Level of participation in activities 
remain strong 

• Participation in Community Youth 
Interagency has seen level and type of 
Youth Programs increase in later part 
of 2006/07 

Sponsorship And 
Delivery Youth 
Programme 

• Promote basic social, employment and 
life skills development through the 
Youth Centre. 

• Increased participation in cultural and 
skills programs delivered at 
Brewarrina Youth Centre 

• Level of programs limited by current 
funding 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

E
 

P RFORMANCE INDICATORS OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

To facilitate social justice to local stakeholders. Social Plan 
Development and 
Delivery 

• Revitalize and Implement strategies 
from Council’s Social Plan and 
develop funding strategies. 

• Revise and update Social Plan. 
• Improvement in services and access 

to Government, regardless of actual 
service deliverer. 

• Increasing participation in community 
social event. 

• Increased options for distinguished 
local needs. 

• Increased participation in cultural and 
skills programs delivered with in 
Shire. 

• Social Plan for 2006/10 was finalised 
and adopted  in June 2007 

• Participation in Social & Cultural and 
Skills Programs continue at increased 
level in the community. 

• Current level of activities restricted by 
available funding 

 
FACILITATION OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 

Support additional accommodation within the Shire. Build on existing economic strengths, develop and coordinate 
economic development initiatives. 
• Support and develop the relocation of 

a new Caravan Park 
• Support and develop the relocation of 

a new Caravan Park 
• Promote and invest in sites for visitor 

and business potential along the river 
network. 

 
• Application lodged with Sustainable 

Regions program and was 
unsuccessful 

• Encourage and assist existing or new 
accommodation enterprises 

• Encourage and assist existing or new 
accommodation enterprises 

• Support provided to all 
accommodation developments 

• Support and attend meetings with the 
Authorities and community 
organisations 

• Support and attend meetings with the 
Enterprise Alliance, Community 
Working Party and other community 
organisations. 

• Continue to partner with the Barwon 
Darling Alliance to promote 
Government investment, employment 
growth, and regional services 
infrastructure 

• Continuing  

Infrastructure and 
Industry 

• Apply for grant funding • Apply for grant funding  
• Access maximum available funding 

through State and Regional Development 
for the restructuring of existing industry, 
and establishment of new enterprises 

• Applications for funding is continuing 
as available 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

• Promote investment in infrastructure 
by suitable developers and 
Government agencies 

• Promote investment in infrastructure 
by suitable and effective developers. 

 

• Ongoing through government 
agencies and departments and 
community groups 

 • Visual improvement of existing 
attractions. 

• Clean up in and around existing 
attractions. 

• Continuing in conjunction with 
community groups 

 • Insert directional signage & interpretive 
signage 

• Insert directional signage and 
interpretive signage and develop mud 
maps and a colour brochure.  

• Ongoing with additional signage 
planned for 2007/08 

Tourism Promotion Facilitate the identification of new tourist products and initiatives, and assist with their marketing.  
• Develop town colour brochure. Update 

and maintain website. Participate in 
the Caravan and Camping Shows and 
attend regional meetings with 
Kamilaroi Highway, Cobb & Co and 
Orana Regional Tourism 
Organisation. 

• Develop town colour brochure. Update 
and maintain website. Participate in 
the Caravan and Camping Shows and 
attend regional meetings with 
Kamilaroi Highway, Cobb & Co and 
Orana Regional Tourism 
Organisation. 

• Continuing 

• Investigate potential for improving local 
tourist attractions 

• Investigate potential for improving local 
tourist attractions 

• Continuing 

• Facilitate and apply for funding. • Facilitate and apply for funding. • Continuing 

 

• Organise and/ or support Local Events 
like Farmers Markets, Rodeo, Races, 
Brewarrina Festival and Annual 
Show. 

• Develop 2007 Brewarrina Shire Annual 
Calendar 

• Organise and/ or support Farmers 
Markets, Rodeo, Races, Brewarrina 
Festival and Annual Show.  

• Play host at the Visitor Centre for 
various artists activities, festivals and 
cultural programmes 

• In progress 

 • Discuss and meet with key 
stakeholders and retailers on 
promotion of local products and 
services. 

• Discuss and meet with key 
stakeholders and retailers on 
promotion of local products and 
services. 

 

• Ongoing 

 • Develop package courses, working 
with facility providers and local experts 
to provide short courses- fun and 
academic, eg. wood works, painters 
etc 

• Develop package courses, working 
with facility providers and local 
experts to provide short courses- fun 
and academic, eg. wood works, 
painters etc 

 

• Ongoing based on funding available 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

Create a main street that is congenial to the people with a vibrant street life by businesses contributing to a congenial and 
family oriented atmosphere. Establish networks for outlying communities to support local business operators. 
• Develop local food chain initiative for 

the Brewarrina Shire.   
• Not developed at this time 

• To develop and produce the 
Brewarrina Newspaper on a monthly 
basis. 

• Brewarrina Newspaper produced 
monthly 

• Create a people friendly main street 
with a vibrant street life by businesses 
contributing to a people friendly and 
family oriented atmosphere. 

• Develop the main street as a vibrant 
neighbourhood through the use of 
appropriate traffic calming techniques.

• Develop the main street by preserving 
and enhancing it’s history, heritage 
and culture 

• Sustainable Regions program funding 
– awaiting approval 

Business Support 
And Main Street. 

• Build from recycled materials, public 
art enhancing the appearance of 
Brewarrina history 

• To increase advertising sales, thus 
producing the Newspaper on a 
fortnightly basis creating further 
employment opportunities. 

• Develop a brand for Brewarrina to be 
used for Tourism and marketing 
purposes. 

• Establish series of related themes that 
build on the positive aspects of our 
river system. 

• Initiate with businesses opportunities 
to utilise their shop fronts for sidewalk 
cafes or frontages with patio seating. 

• Develop rewards programs between 
the Chamber of Commerce and 
Council for Businesses showing 
incentives. 

• Develop signage for businesses and 
main street 

• Install Local pedestrian crossings in 
the main street to encourage traffic 
calming techniques 

• Evaluate street lighting. 
• Develop interpretive programs 
• Examine alternative uses for historic 

buildings. 
• Invite public art proposals from 

schools. 
• Identify blank walls and empty shops 

and encourage murals and public art 
displays. 

• Create a welcome program for new 
businesses to Brewarrina and develop 
a Plan to encourage residents to shop 
locally. 

• Develop and organise Welcome to 

• Dependant on outcome of 
Sustainable Regions program funding 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
• Ongoing 

 
• ongoing 

 
 

• Completed 
 
 
 

• Ongoing 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIES 
 

OUTCOMES 
gressive) 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 (Pro

Brewarrina signs, Interpretive and 
Directional signage. 

• Expand and obtain funding to preserve 
historical artefacts. 

• Apply for Accreditation Visitor Centre 
• Develop a start-up Café 
• Develop and Start up an Internet 

Centre. 
• Invite artists to exhibit 
• Apply for grant funding 

 
 

• Completed 
 

 Completed •
 Completed •
 Completed •

 
• Completed and ongoing 

 
BUSINESS UNDERTAKINGS 
 

 
• Effect fleet operations with commercial 

profit margins 
• Effect annual plant replacement 

program 

• Council has 10 year plant 
replacement program 

• Establish plant fund for future 
replacement 

• Core plant units operating at least 
1800 hours per year 

• Heavy trucks operating at least 50,000 
kms per year. 

• Profit after depreciation of at least 15% 
• 5 year plant replacement program 

• As above 

• Promote the use of Council’s plant and 
resources to the Community. 

• Council has a policy to promote 
private works which is actively 
promoted 

Plant Operation And 
Private Works. 

• Take all reasonable contracting 
opportunities, without significantly 
impacting community service 
responsibilities. 

• Costs contained to less than 60% of 
operating revenue. 

• Being complied with 

 
CORPORATE SUPPORT 
 

To provide sound financial management and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to support the Council. 
• Prepare statutory financial reports. 
• Prepare financial reports as required 

by Council 
• Prepare Annual Financial Statements. 

Financial Control 

• Prepare the Revenue Policy for inclusion 
in Council’s Draft Management Plan 

• Annual Budget plus four quarterly 
reviews 

• Annual Statements 
• Annual review of Three Year Financial 

Plan 
• Processing of all creditors’ payments. 

 
 
 
 
 
• Prepared in timeframe 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

• Maintain a 3 year financial plan which 
reflects Council’s policies and 
financial strategies. 

• Develop and implement a Programme 
Zero Budgeting System. 

• Processing of all payroll payments. 

• Develop a long term rating strategy. • Develop a long term rating recovery 
strategy. 

• Ongoing with level of rates recovery 
improving 

• Investigate availability of software to 
improve the efficiency of Council’s 
long term financial projections. 

• Investigate availability of software to 
improve the efficiency of Council’s 
long term financial projections. 

• To be reviewed in 2007/08 

• Review all Fees and Charges 
Annually 

• Review all Fees and Charges 
Annually. 

• Included in Management Plan 

• Ensure Council’s Investment Portfolio 
returns the optimum yield consistent 
with Council’s policies. 

• Average interest at least 0.25% 
greater than the current 90 day bank 
bill rate. 

• Develop cash flow management 
principles for Council. 

• Required return achieved 

Collection of revenue in the form of rates fees and charges. 
• Levy and Issue rates in accordance 

with statutory dates and ensure 
properties are correctly rated. 

• All rates, water, sewer and domestic waste 
charges issued by Statutory Date. 

• Raise all domestic waste charges and 
issue in conjunction with rate notices 

• All  extra water accounts issued by 31st 
July  

• Raise all sewer and water standing 
charges and issue in conjunction with 
rate notices 

• < 5% of rates outstanding at 30th June 

• All completed within required 
timeframe 

 
 
 
 

• Issue debtors accounts within 30 days 
of completion of service or use of 
facility. 

• 100% of all Section 603 Certificates issued 
within 5 days 

• Maintain debt recovery procedures as 
per policy to ensure maximum 
recovery. 

• Process all supplementary levies within 14 
days of receipt 

• Provide a cashiering facility to ensure 
the efficient and secure processing of 
all revenue. 

• Update Councils records in accordance 
with transfer notices  within 14 days of 
receipt 

Revenue Collection 

• Accurately maintain all accounting records 
and reconcile with general ledger. 

• <20% outstanding funds owed > 30 
days. 

 
• All completed within required 

timeframe 
• Maintained as required 
 
 
 
 
 
• Accounting procedure and systems 

reviewed annually. 
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(Progressive) 

STRATEGIES 
 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

• Review all procedures and systems to 
ensure efficient and effective revenue 
operations. 

• <10% outstanding funds owed > 60 
days. 

Provide administrative support and secretariat services 
• Coordinate all aspects of the 

Organisation of Council & Committee 
Meetings and ensure that all post and 
ante meeting procedures and policies 
are followed.  

• Develop processes to allow the 
Organisation to respond to known and 
anticipated residents 
requests/complaints. 

• Provide Secretarial services to the 
GM, executive staff as required.  

Administration 
Including 
Governance And 
Civic Activities 

• Maintain/review Council’s 
Management Information Systems. eg 
General filing system, legal 
documents, Council minutes etc. 

• Provide, maintain, develop & review 
administrative systems. 

• Undertake special projects of an 
administrative nature. 

 
 
 
 
• All business papers printed and 

dispatched with prescribed notice 
prior to each meeting. 

• All matters emanating from Council 
Meetings to be acted on prior to the 
following meeting. 

• All incoming mail registered and 
distributed by 4pm each day. 

• All filing finalised by 12noon the 
following working day. 

• All correspondence not requiring 
Council consideration answered 
within 10 working days 

 

 
• Ongoing 
 
 
 
• Ongoing 
 
 
• Completed within required timeframe 
 
 
• Management information systems 

currently under review with goal to 
computerise Records Management 
System in 2008 

 
 
 
 

 

• Register and distribute all incoming 
mail 

 • Complied with 

Develop review and maintain Council’s management planning processes and organisational structure to achieve the 
objectives of the Council.  
• Ensure delivery of Council’s 

Programmes and Decisions 

Corporate Planning. 

• Provide effective Corporate Planning 
especially in regard to  
• Council will commence the process 

of establishing our "Brewarrina 
Shire 2030" strategic plan. 

• Management Planning 
• Human Resource Planning 
• Occupational Health and Safety 

 
 
• Formulate Management Plan 
• Provide Quarterly Programme 

Reviews 
• Salary system maintained, and 

complying 
• Continue Occupational Health and 

Safety Programme 
• Further develop Council’s E.E.O. 

procedures. 

 
 
 
• Management Plan Completed and 

adopted by 30th June  
• Salary system maintained and 

complied with 
• OH&S programme continued in 

accordance to policy 
• EEO Procedures subject to regular 

review 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
 

ORS STRATEGIES PERFORMANCE INDICAT
 

OUTCOMES 
(Progressive) 

Planning 
• Equal Employment Opportunities 

Development 
• Risk Management Strategies 

• Provide an effective Brokering and 
Facilitating services  

• Coordinate promote and involve the 
Community in Council’s Services and 
Activities. 

• Commence developing risk 
Management Strategies. 

• Timely quality advice and the further 
development of Council’s 
Management Plan. 

• Currently under review 
 
• Management Plan subject to annual 

review as to format content and 
objectives 

 
 

Page 160 of 212



Brewarrina Shire Council – Annual Report 2006-2007 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                      Brewarrina Shire Council 

Appendix C- State of Environment Report 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY 
STATE OF THE ENVIRONMENT REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR 2006 – 2007 
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1.  INTRODUCTION 
 
Under Clause 224 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 Council is required to 
prepare a “supplementary” State of the Environment Report.  
Supplementary reports provide an update on existing issues, as well as outlining new ones that have 
arisen since the previous State of the Environment Report.  
 
Comprehensive State of the Environment Reports are required to be 
prepared in the “year ending after each election of the councillors for its area”. 
 
This is a supplementary State of the Environment report for 2006/07. 
 
Certain criteria for the preparation of the report are specified by clauses 218 to 226 of the 
regulation, including that the report must use a pressure, state and response model for addressing 
various issues associated with various environmental sectors. 
 
The next comprehensive State of Environment Report (SoE) is due in 2008/09. 
 
In coordination with the Central West Catchment Management Authority (CW CMA), who is the 
coordinating agency, a regional State of the Environment Report (SOE) for the next comprehensive 
report will be compiled.  Due to the delay in the last Local Government elections, the next 
comprehensive report will now be for the year 2008/09.   
 
Reporting for local SoE reports on a regional, rather than an individual council basis, is 
encouraged. This type of reporting has been supported by many councils and regional 
organisations, the Local Government and Shires Associations, the Department of Local 
Government (Page 1997a&b) and the EPA because: 

• many environmental issues are regional in nature (e.g. air and water pollution, wildlife 
corridors, threatened species recovery), requiring regional action; 

• regional cooperation can reduce the time and resources involved in preparing an SoE report; 
• environmental information is often collected and held by government authorities and other 

bodies on a regional rather than on a local government basis. 
 
Many councils already co-operate for SoE reporting under Regional Organisations of Councils 
(ROCs) or Total Catchment Management (TCM) programs. Councils increasingly have access to 
data on the basis of catchments, and in some cases, airsheds. 
The benefits of sharing data and information, and reductions in workloads in preparing reports, 
have been demonstrated by the cooperation of councils within the Southern Sydney ROC, the 
Hawkesbury Nepean Catchment Management Trust area, the South-East of NSW and in the 
Macquarie Marshes region. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165 of 212



Brewarrina Shire Council – Annual Report 2006-2007 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                      Brewarrina Shire Council 

2. Background information on Brewarrina Shire 
 
 
2.1 History 
 
In earlier times Brewarrina was one of the great inter-tribal meeting places of eastern Australia with 
the fishing traps, known in the Aboriginal language as Ngunnhu, sustaining thousands of 
Aboriginal people during tribal gatherings held prior to European settlement. The fisheries are 
estimated to be at least 40,000 years old and could be the oldest man-made structure on earth. 
Brewarrina is well known for its fishing. Other towns and villages in the Brewarrina district 
include; Goodooga, Gongolgon, Weilmoringle and Angledool. 
 
 
2.2 The Present 
 
Brewarrina Shire (2001 census: population: 2060) in North West New South Wales, Australia on 
the banks of the Darling/Barwon River. It is 98 km east of Bourke and west of Walgett on the 
Kamilaroi Highway, and 808km from Sydney. 
 
The district is well serviced by an extensive network of road transport, linking the surrounding 
areas with six major seaports in Eastern Australia.  Brewarrina is circuitously linked by two major 
highways; being the Mitchell Highway which runs from Bathurst through to North Western 
Queensland; and the Kidman Way which links Melbourne, the horticultural belt of NSW. The 
sealing of the Kamilaroi Highway to the east through to Brisbane is providing significant 
opportunities to export further to international markets. 

 
A significant area of Brewarrina Shire is utilised for pastoral activities. Over 500 hectares are 
cultivated, with cotton being the predominant crop, occupying less than 10% of the improved area, 
most of which is irrigated, when water allocations are available. 
 
Irrigation has made feasible the production of vegetables, forage sorghum, winter cereals, citrus 
and other horticultural crops such as grapes, pumpkins and rockmelons which could be targeted to 
niche markets nationally and internationally. 

 
Merino sheep for wool production on native pastures is the most important and enduring livestock 
enterprise in the Shire. 
 
The capture of feral goats for export has increased within the Brewarrina Shire, as has the practice 
of farming goats, particularly as a result of the increasing dry seasons, and the goats’ ability to do 
well in the harsher conditions. 
 
 
2.3 Climate 
 
The climate of the region is semi-arid with peak monthly rainfall usually occurring in summer and a 
smaller peak from May to July. Average daily temperatures, considered on a monthly basis, show a 
minimum of 5°C in July and a maximum of 35°C in the summer months. 
 
The table below show some of the daily maximum and minimum temperatures recorded for Brewarrina 
in 2006. 
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Brewarrina Daily Records 
  Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Ann 

High Max (°C) 48.3 47.2 43.9 38.3 35.0 29.4 29.5 35.0 39.0 43.9 45.0 48.9 48.9 

Low Max (°C) 20.7 17.6 19.4 16.7 12.2 8.3 9.1 11.2 13.6 15.0 16.2 19.8 8.3 

High Min (°C) 31.7 30.8 26.7 23.0 18.9 17.0 15.1 18.4 22.7 23.3 27.2 30.0 31.7 

Low Min (°C) 11.9 9.5 7.0 3.5 -0.6 -2.8 -4.2 -2.1 0.2 4.2 5.4 9.1 -4.2 

              
 
2.4 Rainfall 

In 2006, NSW recorded its ninth driest year since statewide average records began in 1900.  The 
statewide average rainfall for the year was just 349 mm compared to the historical average1 of 
566 mm. Significant widespread rain in late December lifted the statewide annual rainfall average 
from what was to be the fifth driest year on record. Almost the entire state recorded below average 
rainfall for the year.  With enhanced southeasterly winds onto the northern coast for much of the 
year the northeast of the state was spared from the El Niño induced drought and a small area of the 
central Northern Rivers recorded above average rainfall for the year.  In stark contrast, the failure 
of cold fronts to deliver significant rainfall from autumn through spring resulted in large tracts of 
the southern and central slopes of the Great Divide recording lowest annual rainfall totals on 
record.  Much of these areas, as well as parts of the Illawarra and South Coast, received between 
400 and 800 mm below their average annual rainfall.  Many centres recorded their lowest annual 
rainfall on record including Condobolin, Dubbo, Forbes, Griffith and Cabramurra. The drought 
commenced with below average rainfall in February and continued through the remainder of the 
year with the most severe rainfall deficiencies occurring in winter and spring with the onset of El 
Niño.   

It was the third driest year on record for the Murray Darling Basin (MDB) with the basin receiving 
an average of just 282 mm compared to the historical annual average of 504 mm.  Only the years 
1902 (256 mm) and 1944 (274 mm) were drier.  

The drought of 2006 represents a continuation of the protracted dry period affecting the state since 
2001.  The current six year period 2001−2006 is third only to the mid 1940s and Federation drought 
in the early 1900s. The only extended period drier than present for the MDB was the 6 year period 
ending 1945. 

The map illustrates that the whole of NSW received in varying quantities below than average 
rainfall again during 2006. 
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The results of the ongoing drought 

Drought not only affected farming activities, but also development in the towns.  

The drought of the past six years resulted in a huge decrease in development in this area and 
Brewarrina Shire Council was the town in NSW with the least number of development applications 
for the year 2006/07. Only three development applications were received in the last financial year. 

The population of Brewarrina Shire decreased by 9.0% over the past 10 years which are also 
contributing to the decline in DA applications. No housing backlogs exist at present with many of 
the Dept of Housing houses being boarded up and vacant. 
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CHAPTER 3- LAND 
 
3.1 Introduction 
 
This chapter of the Report examines the environmental sector of land.  A diverse range of issues are 
covered by this chapter, including land development and land degradation. 
 
Information in the chapter provides an update on environmental trends with regard to land and 
identifies new environmental impacts that have arisen during the reporting period.  Council, 
community and other organisations’ responses to the aforementioned land issues have been 
recorded to provide an ongoing record of the Shire’s progress towards sustainability. 
 
A significant area of Brewarrina Shire is utilised for pastoral activities. Over 500 hectares are 
cultivated, with cotton being the predominant crop, occupying less than10% of the improved area, 
most of which is irrigated, when water allocations are available. 
 
Irrigation has made feasible the production of vegetables, forage sorghum, winter cereals, citrus 
and other horticultural crops such as grapes, pumpkins and rockmelons which could be targeted to 
niche markets nationally and internationally. However, the prevailing drought had a negative effect 
on the farmers relying on high water levels to qualify for irrigation quotas.  

 
Merino sheep for wool production on native pastures is the most important and enduring livestock 
enterprise in the Shire. 
 
3.2  Land use 
 
3.2.1 Current Situation and Pressures 
 
Brewarrina Local Environmental Plan 2000 (LEP) 
The current LEP and Development Control Plans (DCPs) control and guide all forms of 
development within Brewarrina Shire Council. It controls all building, land use and subdivision. 
The LEP has as its major objectives the proper management, design and conservation of natural and 
man-made resources. Further objectives relate to improvement to the civic image, facilitation of 
economic growth and development. 
 
It is expected from Brewarrina Shire Council to develop a new LEP by 2011. The previous round 
of funding applications in 2006 was unsuccessful. It was in the form of a joint application with 
Bourke and Central Darling Shire Councils. 

The intent is that the same company undertakes the works in all three councils, for reasons 
including consistency and economics.  This will involve the preparation of a Comprehensive Land 
Use Study; undertaking the required and necessary community consultation; and preparing the new 
required LEP based on the Standard Template, relying on the land use study outcomes.   

This includes preparation of new zoning maps, to be the new gazetted LEP maps. A new 
application will be submitted for the next round of funds that will become available in October 
2007. 

The next LEP will also incorporate section 94 contributions plans for Brewarrina Shire Council.  
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3.2.2 Reclassification of Land 

Pressure 

Many parcels of land in the Brewarrina Shire area needs to be reclassified as anomalies exist in the 
classification of land as pointed out by the public inquiry. All Council land must be classified either 
as community land or operational land. 

The classification will generally be achieved by a local environmental plan (LEP) but may, in some 
circumstances, be achieved by resolution of the council (see sections 31, 32 and 33 of the Local 
Government Act, 1993). 

The purpose of classification is to identify clearly that land which should be kept for use by the 
general public (community) and that land which need not (operational). The major consequence of 
classification is that it determines the ease or difficulty with which land may be alienated by sale, 
leasing or some other means. 

Community land must not be sold (except in the limited circumstances referred to in section 45 
(4)). Community land must not be leased or licensed for more than 21 years and may only be leased 
or licensed for more than 5 years if public notice of the proposed lease or licence is given and, in 
the event that an objection is made to the proposed lease or licence, the Minister’s consent is 
obtained. No such restrictions apply to operational land. 

Classification or reclassification of land does not affect any estate or interest a council has in the 
land. 

Community land would ordinarily comprise land such as a public park. Operational land would 
ordinarily comprise land held as a temporary asset or as an investment, land which facilitates the 
carrying out by a council of its functions or land which may not be open to the general public, such 
as a works depot or a council garage. 

The use and management of community land is to be regulated by a plan of management. Until a 
plan of management is adopted, the nature and use of the land must not change. 

State 

Below is a schedule of land to be reclassified from community land to operational land: 

Column 1 
 

Column 2 
 

Locality Description 
Lot 4 DP 3207          16 Barwon St,  
Brewarrina 

Vacant land               

Lot 11 DP 731399    47-49 Bathurst St, 
Brewarrina 

Chemist Shop 

Lot 1 DP 662476     91 Bathurst St,  
Brewarrina                                       

SES Facility 

Lot 2 DP 834798      Bathurst St,  
Brewarrina       

Tourist Centre and Bowling Green 

Lot 1 DP 903423      30 Bathurst St,  
Brewarrina      

Vacant Shop(Old Andrews Butchery) 

Lot 156 DP 751553  Bokhara St,  
Brewarrina 

Reservoir Site 

Page 170 of 212



Brewarrina Shire Council – Annual Report 2006-2007 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                      Brewarrina Shire Council 

Portion 9 DP 1033446        Bokhara St,  
Brewarrina                      

Sludge Lagoons 

Lot A DP 441773  
Lot 72 DP 5588469       9- 11 Young St, 
Brewarrina                              

Rural Fire Service Control Centre (Old 
Northern Power building) 

Lot 1 DP 945055         Bourke St, 
Brewarrina                     

Pumping Station Site 

Lot 9 Sect 1 DP758161   5-7 Doyle St, 
Brewarrina                        

Vacant land      

Lot 3     DP834798         Doyle St, 
Brewarrina         

Aged Care Units 

Lots 3 & 4 Sec 6 DP 751553     Wilson St 
Brewarrina                                              

Vacant Land and Part Levee 

Lot 8 Sect 6 DP 751553  Wilson St, 
Brewarrina 

Part Levee 

Lot 2 Sect 2 DP2802       3 Wilson St, 
Brewarrina                                        

Part Levee 

Lot 2  DP10044943   Bundabulla St, 
Brewarrina 

Part Sewerage Treatment Works 

Lot 1304 DP 762910 WLL 3542   Bourke 
Rd, Brewarrina 

Bourke Rd Gravel Pit 

Lots 5 & 6 Sect 2 DP2749  Angledool 
Environs Henry Street, Angledool 

Rubbish Tip and Effluent Ponds – 
Angledool 
 

Lots 10,11 & 12 Sect 10 DP 2918  
Petworth St Angledool 

Rural Fire Service Shed 

Lots 2-8 Sect 8 DP758459      23-27 Adam 
St Goodooga                                     

Community Meeting Place Old Goodooga 
Bowling Club 

Lot 1 DP189615    40b Adam St 
Goodooga 

Vacant Land 

Lots 101-103 DP 1034321   Goodooga 
Environs Goodooga 

Rubbish Tip and Effluent Ponds 

Lot 4251 DP 46644 Goodooga Airport Goodooga Airport 
Lot 1 & 2 DP 545076   Sewerage 
Treatment Works Bundabulla Street 
Brewarrina 

Sewerage treatment - Sewerage Treatment 
Works 

Response 

The Council is currently busy with the reclassification of community land to operational land. The 
Dept of Planning issued the section 65 certificate for the public exhibition of the Draft LEP for the 
reclassification of Community Land. It is foreseen that this process can be finished by mid 2008 as 
the Council is now making good progress in this regard. 

3.3 Land Clearing 

3.3.1 Pressures and state 
 
Council is not currently asked to comment on tree clearing applications in the region. However, it 
does place strict conditions on certain developments with regard to the areas which can be cleared 
and the mitigation measures which must be in place prior to clearing and earth works. The Indicator 
shows that there is very little clearing occurring in Brewarrina Shire, therefore is not considered a 
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major impact on land-use in the region. 
 
The entire LGA is drought declared at the present time and the majority of clearing, which is 
occurring, is “pushing scrub” for stock fodder in these dry times. This practice is currently exempt 
under the drought declarations and the Native Vegetation Conservation Act 1997. 
 
3.3.2 Response 
 
There has been ongoing regulatory reform of native vegetation legislation in NSW in recent years. 
The Native Vegetation Act 2003 has the stated aims of changing laws relating to the management 
of native vegetation in NSW by: 
• ending broad scale clearing unless it improves or maintains environmental outcomes; 
• encouraging revegetation and rehabilitation of land with native vegetation; and 
• rewarding farmers for good land management. 
 
Although a new ‘Public Register of Approved Clearing PVPs and Development Applications’ was 
established during 2006, contemporary information on development consents or Clearing PVPs 
issued by the various Catchment Management Authorities within the Brewarrina Shire is not 
readily available. This represents a gap in the information available on clearing. 
 
3.4 Road building projects 
 
3.4.1 Pressure 
 
Local government is responsible for the construction and maintenance of many roads and related 
infrastructure such as bridges, footpaths and stormwater channels. Councils are often involved in 
maintenance activities such as patching, regrading and street sweeping.  

Councils must keep existing roads to a standard acceptable to the community, while in outer urban 
and growing regional areas they must provide new infrastructure to meet the demands of 
developing areas.  

Due to the above pressures by the community Council have to building new roads, maintain 
existing ones and do future planning in this regard to address future demands. 
 
3.4.2 State 
 
Road building projects were under taken by Brewarrina shire Council in the Goodooga and 
Weilmoringle regions of the shire. 
 
A new bitumen road was build from Goodooga town to Goodooga airport and the road to 
Weilmoringle was completed. 
 
Some of the advantages of sealed roads over dirt roads are the following: 
 

• Dust suppression – Goodooga and Weilmoringle are very dry areas of NSW and dust 
generation is a major problem as a nuisance and environmentally. 

• Black dirt roads are basically not accessible during any wet seasons or after just a few 
millimetres of rain. 

• Bitumen roads improve the rendering of other services like health and emergency services. 
Brenda road linking Goodooga Hospital and Goodooga airport provides an all weather link 
which is accessible by ambulance no matter what the weather is like. 

• All weather linkage between towns. Road between Brewarrina and Weilmoringle   
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In the past Brenda road was dusty, not accessible in the wet and dangerous.(Just past Goodooga airstrip) 
 

 
 
 
Brenda road is at present a joy to use, efficient in any weather, safer and more environmentally friendly.(Brenda road 
between Goodooga Township and the airstrip) 
 
3.4.3 Response 
 
Council is on a continues  basis busy improving existing road infrastructure and replacing dirt roads 
with bitumen roads in order to deal with community demands and to render better services to its 
community. 
 
The pictures above clearly illustrates the advantages such as dust suppression, erosion control etc. 
 
 
3.5 Progress made on the 2005/06 report. 
 
 
Extract from Council’s Corporate Management Plan 2005-2006 
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Objectives/Projects                           

 
Progress During 2005-2006 

Progress during 2006/7 

 
3.0 PROGRAM: HEALTH 
3.1 ACTIVITY: Health and Environmental Protection 

 

Maintain an active program of 
identifying environmental pollution   

Ongoing 
- Pollution and contaminated 
sites were identified and long 
term solutions are being 
developed. 
- Regular monitoring of 
water supplies to Brewarrina 
and Goodooga was 
conducted                                 

Ongoing 
- Operate 

contaminated sites to 
comply with EPA 
guidelines. 

- Submit annual 
reports to the Dept of 
Environment and 
Climate change 

 
 
5.0 PROGRAM: HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

 

5.1 ACTIVITY: Town Planning  
Identify long term planning 
requirements for Brewarrina               

Produce a new LEP - In progress with 
funding application 
to compile new LEP 
by 2011 

- Section 65 stage with 
Draft LEP to 
reclassify community 
land 

- Started process of 
compiling section 94 
A contribution plan. 

- Plans of 
Management 
compiled and 
adopted for various 
parcels of land 
classified as 
community land. 

 
To annually produce a “State of 
Environment Report” for 
Brewarrina Shire.        

Completed - Relevant 
performance indicators are  
recognised and 
recommendations 
incorporated into Council’s 
Management Plan. 

2005/6 Report completed 
and submitted. 

 
9.0 PROGRAM: MINING, MANUFACTURE AND 
CONSTRUCTION 

 

9.1 ACTIVITY: Development Control  
Efficient functioning of Council’s 
Development/Building Control 
program                            

Ongoing – Continued review 
of processes to reduce delays 

Ongoing – Continued review 
of processes to reduce delays
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CHAPTER 4- Air Quality 
 
4.1 Introduction 
 
This chapter of the Report examines the environmental sector of air. Information in the chapter 
provides an update on environmental trends with regard to air quality and identifies new 
environmental impacts that have arisen during the reporting period. The ways in which Council, the 
community and other organisations have responded to the challenge of reducing air emissions and 
monitoring these emissions has been noted to provide an ongoing record of the Shire’s progress 
towards ecologically sustainable development. 
 
4.2 General Air Quality 
 
4.2.1 Current Situation, Pressures and State 
 
Due to the local area’s small population, very low density settlement, the lack of any heavy 
polluting industry and the area’s characteristic air movements and geographical topography, 
contributions to air pollution are not considered a major problem within Brewarrina Shire LGA. 
 
The drought of the past few years had a detrimental effect on the socio-economic status of the shire 
as a whole. In the current economic situation very little development took place and the pressures 
on the air quality of the shire is very minimal and insignificant. Activities like aerial spraying and 
local industries such as sand blasting activities caused some air pollution in the past, but with the 
current economic situation this problem is not existent. 
 
The air quality within Brewarrina Shire LGA is very good especially when compared to many of 
the suburbs of Sydney and the number of times their areas have a High Regional Pollution Index. 
 
4.2.2 Response 
 
Council will attend to any complaints regarding air pollution in accordance with legislative 
guidelines. Currently no pressures exist in this regard demanding a response from Council. 
 
4.3 Greenhouse Effect 
 
4.3.1 Pressure 
 
Sunlight received at the earth's surface provides the energy that supports life here. Approximately 
70% of this energy is absorbed and re-radiated as longer wavelength, infra-red energy (heat). 
Atmospheric gases, including water vapour, and trace gases such as carbon dioxide, methane and 
nitrous oxide-known as greenhouse gases-absorb some of the outgoing infra-red radiation, warming 
the air. This ' greenhouse effect ' raises the temperature of the earth to an average of about 15 ºC ; 
without an atmosphere to retain this heat, the average temperature of the earth would be about 
 -18ºC. 
Over the past two centuries the atmospheric concentration of these greenhouse gases has increased 
because of human activities, and new greenhouse gases such as chlorofluorocarbons have been 
added. This change alters the earth's radiation balance so that more long-wave radiation is being 
absorbed in the lower atmosphere and some of this is being re-emitted back to the earth's surface. 
This is the ' enhanced greenhouse effect ' (although it is commonly, but incorrectly, referred to as 
'the greenhouse effect'). Climate models predict that the enhanced greenhouse effect will lead to an 
increase in global temperatures and changes in rainfall, soil moisture and sea level. 
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4.3.2 State 
 
Over the latter part of the 20th century, temperatures have risen globally. In Australia the highest 
average temperatures this century were recorded in 1998. The 1990s have proved to be the warmest 
decade since high-quality records commenced in 1910, and contained five of the 10 warmest years 
on record. The 1980s were the second warmest decade since 1910. It has been estimated that global 
temperatures increased by approximately 0.58C in the 20th century, and are predicted to rise by a 
further 28C if effective control action is not taken. Sea level has risen approximately 100-250 mm 
in the last hundred years (Houghton et al. 1996). These effects are global and are not confined to 
national boundaries. Consequently, international responses are required to reduce global 
greenhouse gas emissions. 
 
4.3.3 Response 
 
The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) was established in 1988 as the 
international body responsible for assessing the state of knowledge about the greenhouse effect and 
providing guidance on international responses to the problem. The growing consensus on the 
potential impact of greenhouse gases on global climate change led to the development of the United 
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change in 1992. Governments in the industrialised 
nations agreed in this convention to adopt measures designed to reduce the emission of greenhouse 
gases. 
 
The production and supply of energy accounts for over half of Australia's greenhouse gas emissions 
(AGO 2000). Therefore, reducing energy emissions is a major target of Australia's overall 
greenhouse strategy. Measures to reduce energy emissions fall into two broad categories, namely, 
those that promote cleaner power generation ('supply-side' measures), and those that reduce power 
consumption ('demand-side' measures). 
 
The main aim for Councils is to reduce their electricity consumption and to implement measures to 
decrease energy demands in the shire area. 
 
Below is Council’s energy consumption for the year 2006/7 
 
Brewarrina Shire 
Council 

Consumption 2006/07 Usage 

All council buildings, 
parks, street lighting etc. 

$195502-15 1300047.66 KW/H 

 
 
4.3.4 Planning and Building control - Basix 
 
Introduced by the NSW Government, BASIX, ensures homes are build more energy and water 
efficient. A BASIX certificate is submitted with any new Development application for a new home 
or alterations to the value of $50 000-00 or more or for a swimming pool of 40 000 litres or more. 
BASIX uses information such as site location, house size, type of building materials and fittings for 
hot water, cooling and heating. 
 
On completion of building works the building surveyor do a final inspection ensuring that the 
owner/applicant is complying with the conditions on his BASIX certificate. 
 
This is just another way Councils can help to reduce global warming by ensuring new buildings are 
more energy efficient. The BASIX requirements also address the issue of planting native Australian 
plants that require less water and that are well adapted to the Australian climate. 

Page 176 of 212

http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/soe/soe2000/ca/ca_ref.htm#r022�
http://www.ipcc.ch/�
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/other/dfat/treaties/1994/2.html�
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/other/dfat/treaties/1994/2.html�
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/soe/soe2000/ca/ca_ref.htm#r003�


Brewarrina Shire Council – Annual Report 2006-2007 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                      Brewarrina Shire Council 

 
4.4 Progress on 2005/06 SoE 
 
Issue                                                      
Potential Actions 

 

General Air Quality                                            Ongoing - Enforce legislation aimed at 
reducing the emission of green house gasses 
and limiting global warming. 
Enforce compliance with legislative 
requirements such as BASIX. 

Greenhouse Effect                                              Continue to investigate means of reducing air 
emissions resulting from Council’s own 
activities such as reduced or alternative 
energy consumption.                                           
Develop and implement a local education 
strategy to reduce the occurrence of backyard 
burning                                                                

Fine Particle Pollution 
  
                                                                       

Investigate the management of Council’s fleet 
with regards to fuel efficiency and/ or the use 
of alternative fuels.                                             
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CHAPTER 5- WATER 
 
5.1 URBAN WATER SUPPLIES 
 
5.1.1 Pressure 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council supplies water to numerous residential and commercial residences within 
urban areas as outlined in the table below. The ‘sites’ figure represents the number of properties on 
which Brewarrina Shire Council levies water rates (includes some vacant lots). 
Table  – Council operated urban water supplies. 
 
Table 4.1 TOWN/VILLAGE SOURCE SUPPLY TREATMENT SITES 
 
 
Town/Village Source Supply Treatment Sites 
Brewarrina Weir-Barwon 

river 
Raw & Treated Filtration & 

Chlorination 
482 

Goodooga Artesian bore, 
Bokhara river 

Treated – Bore 
Raw water-
Bokhara River 

Bore water: 
Cooling tower 
& 
chlorination 

94 

Angledool Private supply   0 
Weilmoringle Private supply   0 
Gongolgon Private supply   0 
 
TOTAL 576 
 
Council has an obligation to ensure that water supplies are suitable for their intended uses. The 
Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2004 (ADWG) are the key standards against which NSW 
Health and local Councils assess drinking water quality. The guidelines specify thresholds for 
drinking water quality amongst other things. 
 
The quality of water supplied by Council may vary for a number of reasons, including: 
• Environmental changes affect raw water quality, for example river water consistently has an 
increased sediment load during flood periods. 
• Human activities also affect raw water quality, for example river water can carry pesticide 
residues. 
• The types and effectiveness of water treatment processes that are applied to raw water prior to its 
distribution within urban areas. 
• The age and condition of water mains and storage reservoirs. For example periodic 
cleaning of reservoirs is required to remove sediment. 
 
5.1.2 State 
Brewarrina Shire Council assesses potable water quality via a number of sampling programs as 
detailed within Table 4.2 
 
Table 4.2 Monitoring programs associated with urban potable water. 
 
PROGRAM 
 

PURPOSE 
 

FREQUENCY 
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Potable urban 
– microbiological 
 

Samples submitted to 
NSW Health Division of 
Analytical Laboratories in 
Sydney to test all 
Council’s potable urban 
supplies for contamination 
by E. 
coli. 
Data is also provided on 
total coliform counts, 
which are not normally of 
concern provided samples 
are free of E. coli. 

Permanent basis 
 
Brewarrina – Weekly 
Goodooga – Bi-weekly 
 

Potable urban 
– chemical 
 

Samples submitted to 
NSW Health Division of 
Analytical Laboratories in 
Sydney to test all 
Council’s urban supplies 
for compliance with 
chemical 
thresholds specified in the 
ADWG. 
Each sample is analysed 
for pH, turbidity, Total 
Dissolved Solids (TDS), 
aluminium, antimony, 
arsenic, barium, boron, 
cadmium, calcium, 
chloride, 
chromium, copper, 
cyanide, fluoride, iodine, 
iron, lead, magnesium, 
manganese, mercury, 
molybdenum, nickel, 
nitrate, nitrite, selenium, 
silver, 
sodium, sulfate, total 
hardness as CaCO3, true 
colour, zinc. 

Permanent, 
twice yearly 
 

 
Table 4.3 Below are the average results for bacteriological sampling of potable water for 
Brewarrina and Goodooga for 2006/07: 
 
Town/Village Issue 
Brewarrina Compliance with guidelines are the 

following: 
E-Coli – 100% compliance with 
guidelines 
Coli forms- 94% compliance with 
guidelines 
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Goodooga Compliance with guidelines are the 
following: 
E-Coli – 92% compliance with guidelines 
Coli forms- 92% compliance with 
guidelines 

 
Table 4.4 Below are the average results for chemical sampling of potable water for 
Brewarrina for 2006/07: 
 
Results Reporting by Analysis Type - Chemistry 
Brewarrina Township
  
Date Range -
From - 01 July 2006
To - 30 June 2007 
Sample Type/s - All  
Laboratory/s -
ICPMR-DAL Laboratory  
Barcode Count - These results represent 2 distinct samples. 

Summary Display 

Parameter Guideline 
Value Mean Median Standard

deviation

Number
of 
samples

Number 
of 
exceptions

95th 
percentile 

5th 
percentile

% 
meeting
guideline 
values 

pH 6.5 - 8.5  7.8500 7.8500 0.4950 2 0 8.6618 7.5350 100 
Turbidity 5.0000 

NTU  
0.4500 0.4500 0.3536 2 0 1.0298 0.2250 100 

Total 
Dissolved 
Solids (TDS) 

500.0000 
mg/L  

582.5000 582.5000 577.7062 2 1 1529.9382 214.8500 50 

Aluminium 0.2000 
mg/L  

0.1150 0.1150 0.0636 2 0 0.2194 0.0745 100 

Antimony 0.0030 
mg/L  

0.0010 0.0010 0.0000 2 0 0.0010 0.0010 100 

Arsenic 0.0070 
mg/L  

0.0010 0.0010 0.0000 2 0 0.0010 0.0010 100 

Barium 0.7000 
mg/L  

0.1035 0.1035 0.0658 2 0 0.2113 0.0617 100 

Boron 4.0000 
mg/L  

0.0990 0.0990 0.0000 2 0 0.0990 0.0990 100 

Cadmium 0.0020 
mg/L  

0.0005 0.0005 0.0000 2 0 0.0005 0.0005 100 

Calcium 9999.0000 
mg/L  

43.9100 43.9100 36.1756 2 0 103.2380 20.8880 100 

Chloride 250.0000 
mg/L  

289.7000 289.7000 339.6941 2 1 846.7983 73.5200 50 
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Chromium 0.0500 
mg/L  

0.0075 0.0075 0.0007 2 0 0.0087 0.0071 100 

Copper 2.0000 
mg/L  

0.0325 0.0325 0.0007 2 0 0.0337 0.0321 100 

Fluoride 1.5000 
mg/L  

0.1900 0.1900 0.0849 2 0 0.3292 0.1360 100 

Iodine 0.1000 
mg/L  

0.0285 0.0285 0.0092 2 0 0.0436 0.0227 100 

Iron 0.3000 
mg/L  

0.0300 0.0300 0.0283 2 0 0.0764 0.0120 100 

Lead 0.0100 
mg/L  

0.0020 0.0020 0.0000 2 0 0.0020 0.0020 100 

Magnesium 9999.0000 
mg/L  

30.1500 30.1500 28.5247 2 0 76.9305 11.9970 100 

Manganese 0.5000 
mg/L  

0.0050 0.0050 0.0000 2 0 0.0050 0.0050 100 

Mercury 0.0010 
mg/L  

0.0002 0.0002 0.0001 2 0 0.0004 0.0001 100 

Molybdenum 0.0500 
mg/L  

0.0050 0.0050 0.0000 2 0 0.0050 0.0050 100 

Nickel 0.0200 
mg/L  

0.0100 0.0100 0.0001 2 0 0.0101 0.0099 100 

Nitrate 50.0000 
mg/L  

0.9900 0.9900 0.0000 2 0 0.9900 0.9900 100 

Nitrite 3.0000 
mg/L  

0.0990 0.0990 0.0000 2 0 0.0990 0.0990 100 

Selenium 0.0100 
mg/L  

0.0020 0.0020 0.0000 2 0 0.0020 0.0020 100 

Silver 0.1000 
mg/L  

0.0020 0.0020 0.0000 2 0 0.0020 0.0020 100 

Sodium 180.0000 
mg/L  

125.0000 125.0000 129.5420 2 1 337.4488 42.5600 50 

Sulfate 500.0000 
mg/L  

55.4000 55.4000 12.8693 2 0 76.5057 47.2100 100 

Total 
Hardness as 
CaCO3 

200.0000 
mg/L  

43.4995 43.4995 61.3776 2 0 144.1587 4.4391 100 

True Colour 15.0000 
Hazen 
Units 
(HU)  

1.9500 1.9500 0.2121 2 0 2.2979 1.8150 100 

Zinc 3.0000 
mg/L  

0.0099 0.0099 0.0000 2 0 0.0099 0.0099 100 
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5.1.3 Response 
 
From table 4.3  above it is apparent that total coliforms were found on a number of occasions in the 
various potable water supplies. The ADWG indicate that coliforms can be present in drinking water 
as a result of: 
 
• faecal contamination 
• the presence of biofilms on pipes and fixtures 
• contact with soil as a result of leaks, fractures or repair works. 
 
Due to their widespread occurrence in soil and water environments, total coliforms (in the absence 
of E. coli ) are not regarded as a specific indicator of faecal contamination. The relative abundance 
of coliforms makes them useful in monitoring the efficiency of water treatment and disinfection 
processes. 
Two samples from the Goodooga water supply was contaminated with E. coli during the year. Each 
situation was addressed by chlorination and follow up testing to check whether there was evidence 
of ongoing contamination. None of the 
follow up tests showed any E. coli. 
 
5.2 RIVERS – FLOW AND SALINITY 
 
5.2.1 Pressure 
 
River water is used in a number of ways within the Shire, including for cotton irrigation, rural 
domestic water supplies, watering domestic livestock and for urban water supply in town such as 
Brewarrina.  
 
The Shire is located in a semi arid environment downstream of numerous other water users, 
including cotton irrigators. Such circumstances contribute to 
variations in the volume and quality of river water flowing through the Shire. 
 
5.2.2 State 
 
Water quality can be assessed in many ways and one of the most common methods within Australia 
is by salinity. The electrical conductivity of water is generally indicative of the levels of total 
dissolved solids (TDS), and one of the most common dissolved solids is salt. 
 
The Department of Natural Resources operates a number of river monitoring stations that provide 
data on electrical conductivity, water levels and volumes. Data derived from a station on the 
Barwon River at Brewarrina is illustrated in the graph below. 
  
The Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2004 (ADWG) indicate that the TDS in water should 
not exceed 500mg/L due to taste considerations. An equivalent figure in electrical conductivity 
units can be roughly determined by doubling this figure, which is 1,000 us/cm. From the data the 
salinity levels in March and April 2007 were very high. The high salinity levels are a normal 
phenomenon in dry months with very minimal flow in the river. Ideally water with a high salinity 
of above 1000us/cm should not be used for human consumption for periods of longer than 6 
months.  
 
Water with a high salinity has a negative impact on the environment, infrastructure bio-diversity 
etc. 
 
Below are two graphs illustrating the average salinity and river flow in the Barwon River at the 
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Brewarrina weir for the period 1 July 2006 – 30 June 2007. 
 

 
Salinity in Barwon River at Brewarrina for the period 1 July 2006 – 30 June 2007 
 

 
River flow in Barwon River at Brewarrina for the period 1 July 2006 – 30 June 2007. 
 
5.2.3 Response 
 
Salinity levels are influenced both by natural processes and the activities of man. In this context it 
is important to consider medium and long term salinity trends to determine whether river water 
quality is declining or improving. Electrical conductivity has been monitored for about ten years, 
but there is probably insufficient data available to conclusively determine at this stage whether 
salinity is rising or falling. 
 
Ongoing operation of river monitoring stations by the Department of Natural Resources within the 
Shire provides essential data for understanding variations in river water quality. The data is also 
important for providing an indication of whether actions being taken by Catchment Management 
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Authorities and the community are improving river water quality. 
 
 
5.3 RIVERS – ALGAE 
 
5.3.1 Pressure 
 
Periodic blue green algae blooms within local rivers can degrade water quality within the Shire and 
in the most severe cases make water toxic to the extent that it is unsafe for consumption by people 
or livestock. Causes of blue-green algal blooms include: 
 
• High water temperature (20-30°C). 
• High pH (8-10) and low CO2 concentration. 
• Abundant zooplankton (microscopic animals). 
• Low nitrogen to phosphorous ratios (less than 29:1). 
• High phosphorous levels. 
• Calm water conditions. 
• Low light intensity. 
 
In 1991 and 1992 water quality in the Barwon-Darling River system received substantial media and 
community attention when contamination by blue-green algal blooms made the water toxic and 
unsuitable for consumption by livestock and people. As a result, a State of Emergency was declared 
for numerous shires, including Moree, Walgett, Brewarrina, Bourke and Cobar. 
 
5.3.2 State 
 
River water samples are collected by Brewarrina Shire Council staff and analysed by the 
Department of Natural Resources in Sydney.  
 
Depending on the result of the samples a green, amber or red alert is issued. Below find an 
explanation for the different alerts: 
 
Table 4.5 Algal Alert Definitions 
 
High Alert (>15,000 cells/ml) – Very high alert (>50, 000 cells/ml): 
Algae may be toxic to humans and animals. People should avoid areas where algae can be 
seen or which have a strong odour and not drink untreated water from the storage because of 
the risk of eye and skin irritations and stomach upsets. Boiling is not a suitable way of treating 
water containing blue-green algae and in fact may release more toxins. Dogs and stock are 
particularly at risk. Owners should keep dogs away from high alert areas and provide 
alternative watering points for stock. At 
the high alert level blue-green algae is usually very obvious, appearing as clumps or making 
the water appear dirty, green or discoloured. 

Medium Alert (2000-15, 000 cells/ml): 
Blue-green algae may be multiplying in numbers. The water may have a green tinge and 
musty or organic taste and odours. Alternative drinking supplies should be sought. The water 
is suitable for recreational use, however people should be cautions as algal concentrations can 
increase rapidly. 
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Low Alert (<2000 cells/ml): 
Blue-green algae occur naturally at low numbers. At this concentration, algae do not pose a 
threat for recreational, stock or domestic use. The algal alerts identified through this 
Riverwatch program are used by Council to warn residents of the health risks to human s and 
stock. A summary of Brewarrina’s three sampling sites for the past seven months forms the 
basis of the Blue-Green Algae Alert Indicator (State) below. 

 
5.3.3 Response 
 
The town water supply for Brewarrina is drawn from the Barwon River. As a result, during periods 
when there are medium or higher algal alerts current for the river, activated carbon is used in the 
water treatment plant to reduce the toxins in the town’s filtered water supply. 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council notifies the community in the local newspaper on a monthly basis, during 
the hot summer months, on the alert status in order to keep them updated on the situation. No red 
alerts were recorded in 2006/07. 
 
5.4 Progress on the 2005/06 SoE 
 
Objectives/Projects                                           Progress During 2006-2007 
 
4.0 PROGRAM: HEALTH 
3.1 ACTIVITY: Health and Environmental Protection 
Maintain an active program of identifying 
environmental pollution 

Ongoing 

 - Pollution and contaminated sites were identified 
and long term solutions developed. 

 - Regular monitoring of water supplies to 
Brewarrina and Goodooga was conducted. 
Samples were taken on a regular basis and results 
included in the NSW Health Drinking Water 
Database.- Ongoing                                        

 
5.0 PROGRAM: HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES                                              
5.1 ACTIVITY: Town Planning                                                                                            
To annually produce a “State of Environment 
Report” for Brewarrina Shire.                                   

Completed - Relevant performance indicators are 
recognised and recommendations incorporated 
into Council’s Management Plan. – Report 
prepared annually – 2005/06 report submitted. 

 
5.0 PROGRAM: HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES 
5.4 ACTIVITY: Urban Stormwater Drainage                                                               
Progressively develop an effective drainage 
system for the town of Brewarrina                             

Initial planning of works is ongoing. 
Implementation of works– ongoing. 

 
 
5.5 Local Priorities for Action 
Issue                                         Actions Potential                                             
 Water Quality Improve coordination and assistance with 

water sampling for the Riverwatch Program- 
Ongoing                                                      

                                                       Collate DNR’s Far West Salinity Monitoring 
information for the next financial year- 
Ongoing 

                                                       Ongoing water supply sampling for the NSW 
Health Drinking Water Database. - Ongoing     
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                                                       Improve the dissemination of algal alert 
warning to the community in the coming 
year- Warnings issued in newspaper and 
drop-offs. 

 Implement the Culturally Creative 
Stormwater Education Program including: 
appointment of a project officer, development 
of workshop ideas and implementation of 
education program-  

                                                         Continue to seek funding from the State and 
Federal Government for the implementation 
of priority actions listed in the Stormwater 
Management Plan                                               

 Continue implementation of the Stormwater 
Improvement Program and the Stormwater 
Management Plan. 
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CHAPTER 6 – BIODIVERSITY 
 
6.1 ENDANGERED ECOLOGICAL COMMUNITIES 
 
6.1.1 Pressure 
A number of types of woodlands that exist within the Shire have been extensively cleared and 
modified since the arrival of European man. Fragmentation, overgrazing, weed invasion and 
alteration of flood regimes, amongst other things, can pose a threat to the long term viability of 
such ecological communities. 
 
6.1.2 State 
 
Data on the extent and viability of the various ecological communities within the Shire is 
incomplete. 
 
6.1.3 Response 
 
The NSW Threatened Species Conservation Act establishes an independent Scientific 
Committee, not subject to the control and direction of the Government, to determine which species, 
populations and communities are to be listed as threatened. That committee has determined that a 
number of ecological communities which are known to exist within the Shire should be regarded as 
endangered ecological communities.  
 
They include: 
 

Scientific Name Common Name 
Type of 
species 

Level of Threat 
Known or 
Predicted to 
occur 

Aquatic ecological 
community in the 
natural drainage 
system of the 
lowland catchment 
of the Darling River 

Aquatic ecological 
community in the 
natural drainage 
system of the 
lowland catchment of 

the Darling River  

Community > 
Threatened 
Ecological 
Communities 

Endangered 
Ecological 
Community  

Known  

Brigalow-gidgee 
Woodland/shrubland 
in the Mulga Lands 
and Darling Riverine 
Plains Bioregion 

Brigalow-gidgee 

Woodland/shrubland  

Community > 
Threatened 
Ecological 
Communities 

Endangered 
Ecological 
Community  

Known  

Coolibah-Black Box 
woodland of the 
northern riverine 
plains in the Darling 
Riverine Plains and 
Brigalow Belt South 
bioregions 

Coolibah-Black Box 
woodland of the 
northern riverine 
plains in the Darling 
Riverine Plains and 
Brigalow Belt South 

bioregions  

Community > 
Threatened 
Ecological 
Communities 

Endangered 
Ecological 
Community  

Predicted  

Myall Woodland in 
the Darling Riverine 
Plains, Brigalow Belt 
South, Cobar 
Peneplain, Murray-
Darling Depression, 
Riverina and NSW 
South western 
Slopes bioregions 

Myall Woodland in 
the Darling Riverine 
Plains, Brigalow Belt 
South, Cobar 
Peneplain, Murray-
Darling Depression, 
Riverina and NSW 
South western 

Slopes bioregions  

Community > 
Threatened 
Ecological 
Communities 

Endangered 
Ecological 
Community  

Known  
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CHAPTER 7 – WASTE 
 
7.1 URBAN WASTE DISPOSAL 
 
7.1.1 Pressure 
 
The main waste depots within the Shire are located near the two largest towns, Brewarrina and 
Goodooga. Both these facilities will come to the end of their useful life in the short to medium 
term. A small facility is operated at Angledool. Substantial expenses are incurred by Brewarrina 
Shire Council to establish, operate and maintain the waste depots. 
 
Brewarrina tip received approximately 850 tonnes of waste, while Goodooga received 450 tonnes. 
Angledool is a village tip and received only 5 tonnes of domestic waste for the last financial year.  
As there is not a weighbridge installed at the landfill, the figures are based on the amount of space 
in the landfill consumed for the year in cubic meters, and then converted to tonnes using the NSW 
EPA calculator model. 
 
7.1.2 State 
 
Opportunistic recycling is also undertaken at Brewarrina waste depot. Approximately 100 tonnes of 
scrap metal was recycled in the last financial year as part of a NETWASTE initiative. Scrap metal 
was sold to SIMS Metals in Sydney.  
 
No kerbside recycling is undertaken in any of the communities within the Shire. Brewarrina Shire 
Council would like to get more involved in waste recycling although it is very difficult due to the 
distances to the nearest recycling depots and the small amounts of waste. 
 
When it comes to the protection of the environment one can always reason that every bit helps. 
Brewarrina Shire Council was fortunate enough to receive grants from the Western CMA to 
establish a technology park at the Brewarrina Landfill site. 
 
The purpose of the technology park will be to educate the community on waste minimisation 
techniques, worm farming, recycling and green shopping. This project will start in the 2007/08 
financial year. 
 
Vegetation removed as a result of Brewarrina Shire Council maintenance operations is chipped and 
reused as mulch where possible. 
 
7.1.3 Response 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council will have to develop a new landfill facility in the near future as the 
existing site is reaching the end of its operational life. Environmental consultants will be appointed 
to do the preliminary investigations in order to locate the most suitable site. 
 
In order to protect the environment from pollution such as used oil  Brewarrina Shire Council 
installed two waste oil recycling depots. Depots are installed at the Goodooga- and Brewarrina 
Council Depots and are available to any person who desires to dispose of old motor oil. This 
project is also part of a NETWASTE initiative in order to protect the environment and to contain 
oil pollution as far as possible. 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council will continue with the recycling of scrap metal on an annual basis as part 
of the NETWASTE partnership. 
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Old car bodies are problematic in small towns, but can be recycled very effectively and generate revenue for 
Councils.100 tonnes of scrap metal recycled in Brewarrina in 2006/07. 
 
7.2 Cleanup Australia Day 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council participated in Cleanup Australia Day in 2007. 
 
Cleanup Australia day takes place once a year on the first Sunday in March. This year was no 
different and 27 volunteers from the local area volunteered to do their bit for the environment. 
 
In total  65 Cleanup Australia bags were filled with garbage removed from the World famous Fish 
Traps in Brewarrina and two Ute loads of scrap iron and tin. 
 
The volunteers when on and cleaned up the sides of Charlton Road from town all the way to the 
Council tip. 
 
The day was ended off in style with a true Australian barbeque and soft drinks. 
 
Once again a big thanks to everyone who volunteered to cleanup their environment, Council 
sponsoring the barbeque and the council staff participating and organizing the event. 
 
 
7.3 Progress on the 2005/06 report. 
 
 
Objectives/Projects Progress During 2006-2007 
 
5.0 PROGRAM: HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES 
5.1 ACTIVITY: Household Garbage Services 
Provide and maintain a suitable waste depot for 
Brewarrina and villages 

Brewarrina waste depot is now operational and is 
operating in accordance with the EPA’s Guidelines. - 
Ongoing 

                                           Reduction in litter along roadsides on the approach to 
the waste depot is ongoing through education and 
clean up activities. – Technology park project will 
start soon.                                          

  
 
5.0 PROGRAM: HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES                                           
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5.1 ACTIVITY: Household Garbage Services 
Provision of a suitable kerbside waste collection 
service for Brewarrina and Goodooga 

A quality service was provided throughout the year 
including residential, commercial and special clean ups 
- Ongoing 

  
 
5.0 PROGRAM: HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES                                        . 
 5.1 ACTIVITY: Other Waste Services 
To conduct an efficient and economical recycling 
program 

Council this year has begun recycling steel. - Ongoing 

  
. 
7.4 Local Priorities for Action 
Issue                                                             Potential Actions 

Look at the possibility of a weighbridge for the 
Waste Depot in Brewarrina – Need to establish 
new site first 
Council to continue negotiating with several 
companies with regard to the recycling. - 
Ongoing                                                                   
Continue waste/recycling education in schools 
and the community  - Technology park project – 
Funding application successful – Project to 
start soon                                                                 

Waste Services 
                                                                          
                                                                          

Council to increase its enforcement of illegal 
waste dumping. - Ongoing                                       
On-site Sewage Management Systems Policy to 
be implemented. – To develop new policy              

Liquid and Hazardous Wastes 
                                                                           

Develop septic tanks and aerated systems register 
for shire- Ongoing 
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CHAPTER 8 - NOISE 
 
8.1 Domestic noise 
 
Noise is reported as an individual environmental sector in the SoE report as it is becoming an 
increasingly important issue in urban areas. Noise can be defined as "undesirable sound", while 
noise pollution can be defined as "unwanted or offensive sounds that unreasonably intrude into our 
daily activities" (EPA, 1997). Noise can have a number of undesirable effects depending upon its 
intensity, frequency, duration and the time of day when it occurs. Noise can affect our well being in 
a number of ways, including annoyance reaction, sleep disturbance, interference with 
communication, performance effects, effects on social behaviour and hearing loss (EPA, 1997). 
 
8.1.1 Pressure 
 
Noise is rarely regarded as a significant issue within the Shire as there is few substantial noise 
generating developments. Most problems arise in a domestic context with issues such as a barking 
dog or noisy neighbour.  
 
8.1.2 State 
 
Council receives sporadic complaints about noisy neighbours or loud music. This is very limited 
and is mostly dealt with by the NSW Police as most of the complaints are after hours. 
 
The main source of noise in urban areas is road traffic however; domestic animals, music and so on 
can be important sources of local disturbance. Aircraft noise, and industry, can also have a regional 
impact. Many complaints regarding noise nuisance are made to Council, the NSW EPA and the 
Police every year.  
Noise in the community comes from a variety of sources. Under the Protection of the Environment 
Operations Act 1997 and associated Regulations, noise is controlled by the EPA, Council and by 
the Police. 
 
Council issues noise abatement notices in accordance with the regulations, where appropriate. 
Council does not have any noise abatement notices in effect during this financial year. 
 
Council received only three complaints in the last financial year. Complaints were mostly about 
loud music.  
 
8.1.3 Response 
 
Council followed up complaints and dealt with them in accordance with the provisions of the 
Protection of the Environment Act. 
 
The NSW Police Services issued a few Noise Abatement Notices and it seemed to have resolved 
the problem. 
 
Council will keep a close eye on noise related complaints and deal with them accordingly. 
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CHAPTER 9 – HERITAGE 
 
9.1 Heritage advisor 
 
Brewarrina Shire Council is making use of the services of a heritage advisor. 
 
Below is a summary of Laila Huglund’s report regarding various heritage issues in the Shire area. 
 
9.1.1 Heritage report 2006/07 – Brewarrina Shire Council Area 
 
Laila Haglund, Heritage Advisor: 2006/07 activities in Brewarrina. 
 
9.1.1.1. Aboriginal heritage:  
 
Explored and discussed problems deriving from the fact that locations known to have or have had 
Aboriginal heritage objects or other heritage values are listed according to map grid references on 
the AHIMS register kept by the NSW National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) and now 
administered by the Department of Environment and Climate Change (DECC). Colonial and later 
heritage has by the Shire been listed in terms of property locations such as Portion and Lot 
numbers. This meant that Aboriginal heritage locations did not get listed by the Shire unless 
attention was drawn to particular locations by concerned persons. 
 
A GIS system for all types of heritage would be the best solution but as a temporary measure an 
attempt will be made to plot important Aboriginal heritage places on a map to be kept in the Shire 
office. This will be time consuming and will, according to Heritage Office instructions, have to 
await the completion of the Community Based Heritage Study (CBHS). 
 
However, of 24 locations listed on the Brewarrina Local Environmental Plan 2000, the character 
and location of a few that are of Aboriginal heritage value was no longer known to Council staff 
which meant that they were no longer automatically protected.  
 
Several have been re-identified and investigations are continuing to make sure that all are known. 
 
Official mapping needed e.g. for Aboriginal cemeteries at Angledool and Goodooga. 
 
Contact has been made with the Aboriginal Working Party and will be followed up when time 
allows. 
 
9.1.1.2 Historic heritage: 
 
This has a broad and varied ethnic background as it includes Aboriginal, Asian and European 
heritage from the first days of any form of keeping records in and for the Shire area and to the 
present. Events of today are history in the making. 
 
Investigations have focused on using: 

• a list of locations suggested for inclusion on the State Heritage Inventory (probably drafted 
by B.Hickson< a previous Heritage Advisor to the Shire; and 

• information from the draft CBHS prepared by Elaine Thompson. 
 
Work is ongoing and comprises (as far a possible give time and resources):  

• checking written records and locating old photographs;  
• visiting relevant locations and talking to owners/informants;  
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• checking and photographing the present state of each item; and  
• entering the data on the State Heritage Inventory. 

 
Entries for 2006/07 cover some forty locations but work is in progress and some twenty more will 
probably be entered by the end of 2007. 
 
Most of the locations listed on the State Heritage Inventory will be recommended for entry on a 
preliminary LEP listing to be prepared in advance of the LEP due for 2011. 
 
A report is being prepared on a wooden bridge on Brenda Road (over Birrie River) at Goodooga. 
This is one of the few wooden bridges left in the shire and it should be on the Inventory as well as 
the LEP. Funding will be requested to allow it to be kept in good repair. 
 
9.1.1.3 The Local Heritage Fund: 
 
Two applications were approved and dealt with from this funding: 
 

• Angledool Hall: some immediate repairs to terre pise former community hall (re-roofing the 
west wing, screening windows and other openings to keep birds and other wildlife out) to 
keep the building from deteriorating while awaiting a) an Historic Study to be used in an 
application to put the building on the State Heritage Register and b) a Conservation 
Management Plan to outline and advice on essential repairs. 

 
The present owners intend to bring it back into use for community functions and as an art gallery. 
The hall was damaged by a flood and has been out of use for some twenty years. Most of the 
building appears sound and repair feasible.  
 

• 43-45 Doyle Street, a house of definite heritage value but badly in need of some repair and 
maintenance. The present funding was for the most urgent matter; roof repair to stop leaks 
that would affect the flooring below as well as a wall of the old and soft local brick, now 
rare.  

 
A number of projects have been discussed in relation to future funding, e.g.  

• Café Deluxe, Brewarrina - interior painting; 
• 6 Church Street, a former doctor's surgery, probably some 90 - 100 years old. Interior 

walls and ceilings are pressed metal. Remedial painting needed; 
• Old farm house on the Bokhara River and a collection of early diaries held by the owner. 

Probable need for painting and archival work; 
• The original butchers shop and adjoining homestead at Angledool, about 120 and 116 years 

old respectively and in good condition. Butcher's shop needs some remedial work. Owner 
willing to allow more detailed recording and placement on the LEP; 

• The old school house at Angledool, now surrounded by an orchard but in good condition 
and retaining most original fittings; 

• The Anglican Church at Angledool, in fair condition, but needs some repair. 
• at Angledool visited two cemeteries shown on the Lightning Ridge topographic map 

1:50,000. (One is traditional Aboriginal, the other is in Walgett Shire but relevant to 
Angledool Founding families Hatfield and Prentice as well as Aborigines not from the 
Angledool Mission but who died here. Any refurbishment will require cooperation from 
that shire. Restoration work is badly needed; 

• the old wooden lock-up at Angledool (probably officially referred to as a "detached cell") 
next to the former police station; 

• the post and rail structure at Angledool formerly used by the police to tie up their horses, as 
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well as the former police station; 
 
Also investigated: 
 
Possible sources of literature e.g. Walgett Historical Society (reference material bought); 
Holdings of old photographs and possibilities of copying these and any related records. 
       
9.2 Aboriginal Heritage 
 
9.2.1 Brewarrina first with the second heritage listing in NSW 
 
Minister for Aboriginal Affairs, Milton Orkopoulos, announced that the NSW 
Government has listed the Brewarrina Aboriginal reserve mission on the State 
Heritage Register. 
 
“This listing makes Brewarrina the only town in New South Wales with two State 
Heritage Register listings of Aboriginal significance,” said Mr Orkopoulos. 
“Brewarrina’s importance in the history of Aboriginal New South Wales is evident and this 
decision recognises the cultural, spiritual, social and historical importance of the mission to 
Aboriginal people from NSW and south-western Queensland,” he said. 
 
“The listing of this significant site has received support from the Aboriginal community across 
New South Wales.” 
 
“Elders from the State’s north-west including Collarenebri, Lightning Ridge, 
Brewarrina, Bourke, Angledool and Tibooburra working closely with the Heritage 
Council of NSW and the Heritage Office in supporting the listing.” 
 
“Brewarrina Aboriginal Mission, located in the traditional country of the Ngemba 
people, was the longest-running mission in NSW, operating from 1896 to 1966,” Mr 
Orkopoulos said. 
“Over the years, the Brewarrina Mission housed Aboriginal people from as far away as Tibooburra, 
Angledool, Goodooga and Culgoa, as well as the Brewarrina district.” 
“Today, only the cemetery remains and the last burial there took place in 1971. 
 
The other site is Ngunnhu, the ancient stone fish trap complex located on the Barwon 
River which was developed an estimated 40,000 years ago. 
 
“Acknowledging sites of cultural significance to Aboriginal people is important in 
healing the wounds of the past. 
“A strong sense of cultural heritage and identity is critical to building a new path for 
the future of the Aboriginal community in New South Wales,” said Mr Orkopoulos. 
 
9.2.2 Facts – Aboriginal Reserve Mission 
 
The Brewarrina Aboriginal Mission was the oldest institutional-type community in the state that 
was still managed in 1965. Brewarrina Mission was the first institution formally established by the 
Aborigines Protection Board as part of its policy to segregate Aboriginal people. Over the years, 
the Brewarrina Mission was used to house other Aboriginal people from Tibooburra, Angledool, 
Goodooga and Culgoa to form the reserve which operated between 1886 - 1966 and was one of the 
longest running reserve stations in NSW. 
 
 During the reserve period many Aboriginal people died and were buried in the reserve cemetery. 
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The cemetery is no longer used by the community its integrity is held high within the values of the 
Aboriginal people. The entire site of Brewarrina Mission including its cemetery is a significant 
place to the many Aboriginal tribes including Ngemba and Murrawarri tribe as a 'place of 
belonging'.  
 
The place retains its high integrity in its cultural, spiritual, social and historical values to many 
Aboriginal people across NSW. 
 
Date Significance Updated: 21 Aug 2006 (Date of listing as State Significant Heritage Site) 
 
9.2.3 Assessment of Significance 
 
Assessment of Significance 

SHR Criteria a) 
[Historical 
Significance] 

The Brewarrina Mission is the oldest institutional type community in the state. It is 
associated with the significant historical phase as being the first institution formally 
established by the Aboriginal Protection Board in 1886. While there are no 
remaining buildings left, the original cemetery remains within the mission site 
which maintains the continuity of the historical activity of an Aboriginal settlement. 

SHR Criteria b) 
[Associative 
Significance] 

The site of the Brewarrina mission and the cemetery is evidence of the occupation 
of Aboriginal people. The station was the oldest institutional-type community in the 
State that was still managed as such in 1965. Established in 1886, Aboriginal 
people were relocated 10 miles east of the town on the opposite bank of the 
Barwon River. The mission is associated with the removal of many Aboriginal 
people from their ‘homes’ from as far as Tibooburra, Angledool, Walgett, Goodooga 
and Collenanebri and relocating them to the Brewarrina Mission during the 1930’s. 
The girls dormitory was also significant as it was utilised by the Aboriginal 
Protection Board to house young girls who were forcibly removed from their 
families to be educated in domestic work and then sent out in NSW to work. 

SHR Criteria d) 
[Social Significance] 

Brewarrina Mission has a strong and special association for many Aboriginal people 
for its historical, social and cultural values and is a place of belonging to those of 
the Ngemba and Murwarri tribes. While many Aboriginal people were removed from 
their traditional home lands and forcibly removed to the Mission, Brewarrina 
Mission remains an important part to the community’s sense of place. 

SHR Criteria g) 
[Representitivenes] 

Brewarrina Mission is highly significant to many Aboriginal people within NSW to 
their cultural heritage values. The area is able to demonstrate the principal 
characteristics of the many Aboriginal people who lived at the mission during 1889 
- 1966. Being the site of the first Aboriginal Protection Board institutionised 
community the area has the attributes to demonstrate the way of life and customs 
of those who lived and died on the Mission. Although there are no physical 
buildings remaining, the original cemetery is all the remains and it is maintained by 
members of the community. 

 

 
9.3 Non –Aboriginal Heritage 
 
A project was undertaken by the RTA to restore the old Barwon Bridge to its original glory. 
 
The end result is magnificent and the RTA can be congratulated on a job well done. 
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Newly renovated Barwon Bridge near Brewarrina on the Goodooga Road.  
 
9.4 Progress on the 2005/06 SoE  
 
9.4.1 Aboriginal Heritage 
Issue                                                      
Potential Actions 

Actions during 2006/2007 

Complete a literature review of Aboriginal 
heritage items and site studies held by 
Council and the NPWS - Ongoing. 
Investigate the possibility of engaging a 
specialist Aboriginal Heritage Advisor to 
assist in the identification and conservation of 
items and areas of Aboriginal Heritage.- 
Ongoing 
Compile/obtain a comprehensive register of 
all Aboriginal heritage sites in Brewarrina 
Shire and map them on Council’s GIS 
System.- Ongoing 

Aboriginal Heritage Sites and Items 

Continue to promote Aboriginal culture and 
expression in Brewarrina Shire in partnership 
with the Aboriginal community.- Ongoing 

 
nnnn.3.2 
888 
9.4.2 Objectives/Projects Progress During 2006-2007 Non-Aboriginal 
Heritage 
 
8.0 PROGRAM: RECREATION AND CULTURE 
8.3 ACTIVITY: Heritage Matters 
Heritage listed Cottages  Ongoing – in consultation with Laila Haglund 

Ongoing preservation of heritage buildings through 
the Heritage Fund and the establishment of a Heritage 
Buildings co-operative. 

Heritage Buildings 

Continuing to assist current tenants with advice and 
technical expertise- Ongoing. 
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10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
For more information on the environmental matters covered in this report the following 
government agencies, and their web sites, will be of interest. 
• Status of coolibah black box woodlands as an Endangered Ecological Community 
http://www.nationalparks.nsw.gov.au/npws.nsf/Content/coolibah_black_box_woodland 
• Data on threatened species, populations and ecological communities 
http://threatenedspecies.environment.nsw.gov.au/tsprofile/index.aspx 
• NSW Natural Resources Atlas, http://www.nratlas.nsw.gov.au/wmc/savedapps/nratlas 
• Ecologically Sustainable Development, http://www.deh.gov.au/esd/ 
• NSW government State of the Environment indicators, 
http://soedirect.nsw.gov.au/app/index.jsp 
• Murray–Darling Basin Commission, http://www.mdbc.gov.au/ 
• Aquatic Ecological Community of the lower Darling River 
http://www.fisheries.nsw.gov.au/threatened_species/general/content/darling_river 
• NSW State Heritage Inventory and State Heritage Register, 
http://www.heritage.nsw.gov.au/07_subnav_02.cfm 
• Register of the National Estate, http://www.ahc.gov.au/register/index.html 
• Public register under the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 
http://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/prpoeo/index.htm 
• River water quality indicators http://www.waterinfo.nsw.gov.au/ 
• Public Register of Approved Clearing PVPs and Development Applications 
http://www.nativevegetation.nsw.gov.au/pams/PublicRegisterSearch.jsp 
 
For more information on specific issues covered in this report please contact Francois Van der 
Berg, Manager Environmental Health and Building at Brewarrina Shire Council. 
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Appendix D- Councillor’s Expenses Reimbursement Policy 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Policy 
 
The objectives of this Policy are:- 
 
1. To comply with the provisions of Section 252(1) of the Local Government Act, (1993), viz: 
 

“252(1) A Council must adopt a policy concerning the payment of expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred by, and the provision of facilities to the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor (if 
there is one) and the other Councillors in relation to discharging the functions of civic 
office.” 

 
2. To ensure that the Mayor, as the leader of the governing body of the Council and as the 

principal spokesperson on Council policy and attitude, is reimbursed for expenses 
reasonably incurred in performing the role of Mayor, and is provided with a standard and 
range of facilities appropriate to the importance of the Office. 

 
3. To ensure the Councillors of Brewarrina Shire Council in their role as elected persons are 

reimbursed for expenses reasonably incurred in the performance of their role and are 
provided with a standard and range of facilities to assist in discharging the functions of civic 
office. 

EXPENSES 
 
1. Civic Business Within the Shire 
 

(a) Scope 
 

Expenses will be paid for Councillors to attend:- 
 

• meetings of the Council and Committees; 
 
• meetings of other committees, bodies, organisations or groups to which those 

Councillors are Council delegates or representatives; 
 

• other meetings or inspections which are authorised by the Council, the Mayor or the 
General Manager; 

 
• training courses, seminars or conferences authorised by the Council, the Mayor or 

the General Manager; provided that the claim is made not later than six (6) months after 
the expenses were incurred. 

 
NOTE: Any claims submitted later than six (6) months after the expenses were incurred will 

not be eligible for reimbursement. 
 

(b) Categories of Payment/Reimbursement 
 

(i)  Registration 
 

Includes registration fees for attendance at conferences, seminars, etc. as well as associated official 
luncheons, dinners and tours. 
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(ii) Travel 

 
Where Council vehicles are unavailable, the General Manager may authorise Councillors to use their 
private motor vehicle. 

 
Where a private motor vehicle is used, Council will reimburse vehicle-running expenses (based on the 
relevant kilometre rate in the staff Award). The allowable distance claimed will be for travel, by the most 
direct, practicable route from the Councillor’s usual place of residence, or other place where the 
Councillor might be, immediately prior to the meeting, function, training course, seminar or conference 
(whichever distance is the lesser) to the meeting, function, training course, seminar, or conference. 

 
(iii) Out-of-Pocket Expenses 

 
Reasonable out-of-pocket expenses will be reimbursed for costs associated with attendance, but 
excluding expenses of a normal private nature. 

(iv) Spouses/Partners 
 

In those cases where the function is of such a nature that the Councillor’s spouse/partner would normally 
be expected to accompany the Councillor, any costs associated with the attendance of the spouse/partner 
will be met by Council. 

 
2. Civic Business Outside the Shire 
 

(a) Scope 
 

Expenses will be paid for Councillors to attend:- 

• conferences, seminars and training courses at which attendance has been authorised 
by the Council, the Mayor or the General Manager; 

 
• meetings of other Councils while representing and as authorised by Council or the 

Mayor; 
 
• meetings of other committees, bodies, organisations or groups to which those 

Councillors are Council delegates or representatives, and 
 
• other meetings or inspections which are authorised by the Council, the Mayor or the 

General Manager; 
 

provided that the claim is made not later than six (6) months after the expenses were 
incurred. 

 
NOTE: Any claims submitted later than six (6) months after the expenses were incurred will not be 

eligible for reimbursement. 
 

(b) Categories of Payment/Reimbursement 
 

(i) Registration 
Includes registration fees for attendance at conferences, seminars, etc. as well as 
associated official luncheons, dinners and tours. 
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(ii) Travel 

Council will either pay or reimburse Councillors for travel by air, private motor 
vehicle, rail or taxi/hire car, as appropriate and as set out below (with all travel 
arrangements, due consideration is to be given to the physical capacity of the 
Councillor and any variation to the arrangements below will be with the approval of 
the Mayor):- 

 Air 
Where travel is undertaken by air, this will be by economy class. All bookings for 
travel will generally be made by Council staff. 
 

 Private Motor Vehicle 
Where Council vehicles are unavailable, the General Manager may authorise 
Councillors to use their private motor vehicle. Councillors should check with the 
General Manager in the first instance to ascertain whether a Council vehicle is 
available. 

 
Where a private motor vehicle is used, Council will reimburse vehicle-running 
expenses (based on the relevant kilometre rate in the staff Award). The allowable 
distance claimed will be for travel, by the most direct, practicable route from the 
Councillor’s usual place of residence or other place where the Councillor might be, 
immediately prior to the meeting, function, training course, seminar or conference 
(whichever distance is the lesser) to the meeting, function, training course, seminar 
or conference. This claim will be subject to the cost not exceeding the economy 
class airfare as applicable. 
 

 Taxi/Hire Car 
Where travel is undertaken by taxi/hire car, Council will reimburse fares paid upon 
presentation of relevant receipts. 

 
(iii) Accommodation 

 
Council will meet reasonable costs, including the night before and after the 
conference where necessary.  Council staff will generally book accommodation.  
Sustenance will be reimbursed to a “reasonable” amount as determined by the 
General Manager upon production of receipts.” 
 

(iv) Out-of-Pocket Expenses 
 

Reasonable out-of-pocket expenses will be reimbursed for costs associated with attendance, 
but excluding expenses of a normal private nature. 

 
(v) Spouses/Partners 

 
Where a Councillor is accompanied by his/her spouse/partner, accommodation (shared 
basis) will be met by Council. All other costs will be the responsibility of the 
spouse/partner. 

 
In exceptional circumstances Council may, by resolution, pay expenses incurred by the 
spouse/partner of the Councillor incurred whilst they are travelling on Council business. 
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F A C I L I T I E S  
1. Councillors 
 

The Councillors are to receive the benefit of the following Council Facilities:- 

 
(a) Meeting Meals and Refreshments - provision of meals and refreshments associated 

with Council, Committee and Working Parties/Special Committee Meetings; 
 

(b) Transportation - provision of Council motor vehicle transportation (when available) 
for travel to conferences, seminars, etc. when on official Council business; 

 
(c) Meeting Rooms - provision of meeting facilities in the Administration Building for the 

purpose of Council, Committee and Working Parties/Special Committee Meetings and 
for meeting with constituents (subject to availability); 
 

(d) Photocopiers - provision of photocopying facilities for official purposes; 
 

(e) Telephones - the cost of telephone calls to locations outside the Shire made to effect 
authorised business on behalf of Council will be reimbursed subject to the production of 
suitable documentation. 

 
2. Mayor 
 

(a) Secretarial Services - word processing and administrative support provided by the 
administrative staff; 

 
(b) Administrative Support - assistance with functions, organisations, meetings and the 

like; 
 

(c) Office Refreshments - as provided in the Mayoral Office for entertainment purposes. 
 

3. Deputy Mayor 
 

In addition to those facilities provided to Councillors, the Deputy Mayor is to receive the 
benefits of the Mayor when acting in the Office of Mayor. 
 

C O N F E R E N C E S  A N D  M E E T I N G S  
 
Conferences and Meetings which shall be deemed to be automatically covered by this Policy and 
need not go before Council on an annual basis are detailed as follows:- 
 

• Annual Conference of the Shires Association 
Delegate - Mayor, or his nominee 

 
• Annual Conference and Executive Meetings of the Western Division Group of the 

Shires Association 
Delegate - Mayor, Observer - Deputy Mayor, or their nominees 

 
• Central Economic Zone: Board Meetings 
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Delegate - Mayor or his nominee 

• Northern Regional Library 
Delegate * 

• Local Government Border Rivers Project 
Delegate * 

• Federal Inland Development Organisation 
Delegate * 

• National Water Users Association; Condamine/Balonne Water Committee; 
Culgoa/Balonne Minor Distributary System Water Users Association 

Delegate * 

• Brewarrina and Barwon/Darling Water Users Advisory Council 
Delegate * 

• Mungindi/Menindee Water Users Advisory Council 
Delegate * 

• Lightning Ridge Advisory Council 
Delegate * 

• Institute of Public Works Engineering Annual Conference and Civil Engineering Field 
Days 

Delegate * 

* As determined each year at the September Ordinary Meeting of Council 

Attendance at other conferences should be approved by Council or, in cases of urgency, by the 
Mayor or General Manager. 
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Appendix E- Equal Employment policy 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 
Policy 
 
 

1.1 Brewarrina Shire Council in accordance with the requirements of the 
Anti-Discrimination Act (1977) and the Local Government Act (1993) has a 
legislative responsibility in regard to its employment practices to:- 

 
• eliminate and ensure the absence of discrimination in employment on the 

grounds of age, race, sex, marital status and physical impairment; and 
 
• promote equal employment opportunity for women, members of racial 

minorities and physically handicapped persons. 
 

1.2  Brewarrina Shire Council also recognised it has a responsibility to ensure the 
absence of discrimination in employment on the grounds of age, sexuality, 
pregnancy, marital status literacy and intellectual impairment. 

 
1.3 Brewarrina Shire Council will not condone any form of sexual harassment in the 

workplace. 
 

1.4 In implementing Equal Employment Opportunity programmes, Council will have 
regard to the requirements of the relevant awards covering all employees and 
appointments and promotions to new or vacant positions within the Brewarrina 
Shire Council Organisational Structure shall be made on the basis of merit assessed 
considering the following criteria:- 

 
• qualifications, specialist knowledge and skills possessed 
• relevant experience in the field of the new or vacant position 
• performance in any previous position with Council, or other employers 
• demonstrated safe working practices 
• personal attributes and potential possessed 
• physical health and fitness relevant to the position. 

 
In the event that two or more applicants are equal in merit, preference of 
employment shall be given to an existing employee of Council. 

1.5 Equal Employment Opportunity programs and relevant staff awards should provide 
a systematic appraisal of human resource planning and the commitment of a 
workforce whose interests and capabilities are more fully utilised. 

 
1.6 Employees of Brewarrina Shire Council can benefit from:- 
 

• a wider and better range of jobs and training opportunities 

• a better chance to use their skills and qualifications 

• a chance to gain career development opportunity and job satisfaction. 
 

1.7 Brewarrina Shire Council can benefit from:- 
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• a wider range of applicants for jobs 

• the opportunity to obtain the best person for the job 

• the opportunity to improve skills standards 

• a greater chance to improve performance 

• more qualified and committed people from all sections of the community. 
 

1.8 Responsibility for preventing discrimination and promoting Equal Employment 
Opportunity rests with all Managers and Supervisors. 

 
1.9 The General Manager, Department Managers and Human Resource Officer are 

responsibility for implementing Council’s Equal Employment Opportunity Program. 
 

1.10 All personnel policies and practices will be regularly examined to ensure that they 
comply with Council’s Equal Employment Policy and the opportunity provided for 
staff to comment. 

 
2. IMPLEMENTATION 
 
The Equal Employment Opportunity Policy adopted by Council provides the framework for the 
operation of the Council EEO Management Plan. 
Council will also appoint an EEO Officer. The Human Resource Officer or other person as determined by 
the General Manager will fill that role. 

In the absence of the appointed person for any reason, the General Manager will assume the responsibility 
and functions. 

The Award Consultative Committee will assist to develop and review specific policies, guidelines and best 
practice standards and in conjunction with the Management team will be responsible for monitoring 
compliance with Council’s policy. 

All long term appointments to Council staff shall be on an open application basis with merit being the 
criterion for selection. 

The General Manager, Department Managers, Human Resource Officer and all those employees in 
supervisory roles shall be responsible for preventing discrimination, both direct and indirect, and for 
promoting EEO in the workplace. 

All advertisements will have included the words “EEO is Council Policy”. 

 
3. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Council’s EEO Policy is to be prominently displayed and freely available to all staff members (e.g. 
at the office and all Depots within the Shire). 
 
Posters or other EEO related material should be distributed or made readily available to all staff. 

Changes in personnel policies and/or practices should be recorded and publicised. 
 
An indirect program including a section on EEO Policy and the rights and obligations of staff 
should be part of the induction process for new staff. 
 
EEO responsibilities and accountabilities are to be included on duty statements of all staff with 
management or supervisory responsibilities. 
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4. COLLECTION AND RECORDING OF INFORMATION 
 
Employment data is collected and recorded on employee personnel files to which may be added any EEO 
related matter submitted to the EEO officer in writing, or by in-confidence interview if required. 

Other than the above, systems for collecting or recording EEO statistics shall be developed and 
implemented as the need arises. 
 
5. REVIEW PROCESS 
 
The EEO Officer and Award Committee will:- 

 
• regularly review Council’s EEO policies and programmes including guidelines and best 

practice standards 
 
• consult with management about EEO programmes and review their implementation. 

 
The EEO Officer shall report annually to the General Manager and Council on all aspects of any 
programmes initiated by the Officer and Award Committee. 
 
6. EVALUATION OF POLICIES AND PROGRAMS 
 
The EEO Officer and the Award Committee shall annually review Council’s EEO Policy and 
Objectives and shall report to the General Manager on any aspect requiring attention. 
 
Accountability for EEO responsibilities will be incorporated in the performance agreements of all 
management and supervisory staff and this will form a part of the appraisal of the performance of the staff. 

 
7. REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF PLANNING 
 
Council shall review its EEO Policy at least every four (4) years and make such amendments as 
may then be required to meet the existing circumstances. 
 
The above shall not preclude Council prior to that date from reviewing or amending its EEO Policy 
upon the receipt of a report by Council’s General Manager recommending such action. 
 
8. RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 
The Human Resource Officer, General Manager, or any other person appointed as the EEO Officer, will:- 

 
• ensure that Council’s EEO Policy and Programme is implemented within Council 

• ensure that all staff comply with Council’s EEO Policy and with legal obligations under 
relevant legislation 

• ensure that management audits of the EEO programme are undertaken on a regular basis to 
ensure that the EEO Policy and programme continue to meet their objectives. 
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Appendix F- Complaints Policy 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Policy 
 
This policy is intented to effectively handle complaints.  Brewarrina Shire Council recognises that 
complaints provide a means for improving customer service and is committed to ensuing that all 
complaints are dealt with quickly and approariately. 
 
Purpose 
 
Council's role is to serve the community.  The effective handling of complaints is an integral part of 
this service. 
 
It is the responsibility of all staff to ensure that any complaints are handled expeditiously with a 
view to satisfactorily resolving the subject of complaint and ensuring that a similar problem does 
not occur in the future. 
 
This policy serves to explain to staff and the community how Council will deal with complaints. 
 
Definitions 
 
In this policy the words below are defined as follows:- 
 
“‘administrative complaint’ ” shall mean dissatisfaction with the level of service provided in 
regard to the Council's operations, policies, procedures, charges, staff and agents. A customer 
request is not an administrative complaint but concerns about inaction in respect of a customer 
request shall constitute an administrative complaint. 
 
“‘legal or criminal complaint”’  shall mean a complaint alleging either:- 
 
• a breach of the pecuniary interest provisions of the Local Government Act, (1993); or 

• corrupt conduct as provided by the Independent Commission Against Corruption Act, (1988). 
 
“competitive neutrality complaint” ’ shall mean: - 
 
• a complaint that Council has not met the Government’s requirements under the “Policy 

Statement on the Application of National Competition Policy to Local Government” or “Pricing 
and Costing of Council Businesses - A Guide to Competitive Neutrality”, including a concern 
that Council has not established an effective complaints handling mechanism; 

• a complaint that Council has not abided by the spirit of competitive neutrality in the   conduct  of 
a business activity. 

 
Procedures For Handling Complaints 
 
Administrative Complaints 
 
How are administrative complaints made? 
 
Administrative complaints are usually directed to Council in writing or verbally (in person at 
Council offices or by phone). 
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Process for Dealing with Administrative Complaints 
 

Written Administrative Complaints 
 
1. Upon receipt, the Records Section shall refer the complaint to the appropriate manager for 

investigation. 
 
2. The manager to whom the complaint is referred for investigation shall forward a letter 

acknowledging the  complaint (within 7 days) which:- 
 

• demonstrates that the subject of the complaint is understood; 
 
• indicates what will happen next; 

 
3. The manager who is investigating the complaint shall do so as expeditiously as possible. 
 
4. The manager shall advise the complainant, in writing, when action has been completed 

advising what remedial action (if any) has been taken in respect of the complaint.  
 
Note: In replying to the complainant the manager shall explain that, if the complainant is unhappy 

with the manner in which the complaint has been handled or the result, an appeal may be 
lodged either internally (by writing to the Council) or externally to either the Department of 
Local Government and Co-operatives, the Office of the Ombudsman or the Independent 
Commission Against Corruption. 

 
Verbal Administrative Complaints 
 

1. The officer who first receives a complaint (either by phone or over the counter) shall 
refer the matter to the appropriate manager for attention. 

 
2. The manager shall: 

 
• record the details of the complaint on the Complaint Form; 

• confirm with complainant the accuracy of what has been recorded; 

• explain what will happen next; 

• investigate the complaint as expeditiously as possible and recommend/take remedial 
action; 

• inform the complainant of the remedial action taken. 
 
 
Note 1:   In those cases where a complaint is received verbally which relates to a staff matter, the 

complainant is to be advised that the complaint must be lodged in writing. 
 
 
Note 2:  In informing the complainant of the action taken, the manager shall explain that, if the 
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complainant is unhappy with manner in which the complaint has been handled or the 
result, an appeal may be lodged either internally (by writing to the Council) or externally 
to either the Department of Local Government and Co-operatives, the Office of the 
Ombudsman or the Independent Commission Against Corruption. 

APPEAL PROCESS 
 
If a complainant is not satisfied with the manner in which a complaint was handled or the remedial 
action taken, an appeal may be lodged. 
 
There is basically a two (2) stage appeal process; internal and/or external. 
 

Internal Appeals 
 

Who will conduct internal appeals? 
 
The following positions are responsible for reviewing complaints as a result of an appeal:- 
 
Review Officer   for complaints relating to investigation by:- 
 
Mayor     General Manager 
 
General Manager or   General Manager’s Section 
Assistant General Manager All Managers 
   
How will an internal review be conducted? 
 
1. The reviewing officer will investigate the manner in which the complaint was originally 

handled and the remedial action taken. 
 
2. If, after investigation, the reviewing officer is satisfied with the process and the remedial 

action taken, he/she will inform the complainant accordingly. 
 
3. If the reviewing officer is not satisfied with the manner in which the complaint was handled 

or the remedial action taken, he/she will: 
  

• counsel the officer who initially handled the complaint; 

• institute action to achieve the desired appropriate result; 

• inform the complainant of the outcome of his/her review.  

 
4. In the case of reviews undertaken by the General Manager Manager or Assistant General 

Manager, he/she will inform the Mayor. 
 
Note: In replying to the complainant, the reviewing officer shall explain that, if the complainant is 

unhappy with manner in which the complaint has been handled or the result, an appeal may 
be lodged with either the Department of Local Government and Co-operatives, the Office of 
the Ombudsman or the Independent Commission Against Corruption. 
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External Appeals 
 
If a person feels that the Council has not properly dealt with a complaint internally, that person may 
wish to refer the matter to any of the following Appeal Agencies:- 
 
 Investigations & Review Branch 
 Department of Local Government & Co-operatives 
 Locked Bag 1500 
 BANKSTOWN  NSW  2200 
 Telephone:- (02) 9793 0793 
 Facsimile:- (02) 9793 0799 
 

The Office of the Ombudsman 
 Level 3 Coopers & Lybrand Building 
 580 George Street 
 SYDNEY  NSW  2000 
 Telephone::- (02) 9286 1000 
 Toll Free:- 008 451 524 
 
 Independent Commission Against Corruption 
 GPO Box 500 
 SYDNEY  NSW  2001 
 Telephone:- (02) 9318 5999 
 Toll Fee:- 008 463 913   or   008 463 909 
 Facsimile:- (02) 9699 8067 
 
 
LEGAL OR CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS 
 
Form of Legal or Criminal Complaints 
 
These complaints relate to alleged breaches of the pecuniary interest provisions of the Local 
 Government Act, (1993) and corrupt conduct.  
 
Persons who would seek to make such complaints should do so in writing, addressed to either to the 
General Manager or Mayor. 

Process for dealing with legal or criminal complaints 

Pecuniary Interest 
 
1. 1. Upon receipt of a complaint which refers or appears to refer to an alleged breach of 

the pecuniary interest provisions of the Local Government Act, (1993), it shall be 
immediately referred to the General Manager (or the Mayor, if the allegation involves the 
General Manager). 

 
2. The General Manager (or Mayor) shall assess the complaint to determine whether or not it 

involves a pecuniary interest breach. 
 
3. If the General Manager (or Mayor) considers that the complaint does not involve a breach 

of the pecuniary interest provisions, it shall be dealt with in accordance with the practice 
involving administrative complaints, outlined above. 
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4. If the General Manager (or Mayor) considers that the complaint does involve an alleged 

breach of the pecuniary interest provisions he/she shall refer the matter to the Department of 
Local Government and Co-operatives investigate the facts of the matter. If there is a prima 
facie case then the matter, after reporting to Council, should be referred to the Department 
of Local Government. If on the evidence, there is no breach, the matter should be reported 
to Council only. The General Manager (or Mayor) shall also inform the Council. 

 
5. The complainant shall be informed in writing of the action taken. 
 

Corrupt Conduct 
 
1. Upon receipt of a complaint, which alleges or appears to allege corrupt conduct, it shall be 

immediately referred to the General Manager (or the Mayor, if the allegation involves the 
General Manager). 

 
2. The General Manager (or the Mayor) shall assess the complaint to determine whether or not 

it involves corrupt conduct. 
 
3. If the General Manager (or Mayor) is convinced that the complaint does not involve corrupt 

conduct it shall be dealt with in accordance with the practice involving administrative 
complaints, outlined above.  

 
4. If the General Manager (or Mayor) considers that the complaint does involve corrupt 

conduct he/she shall then report the matter to the ICAC (in doing so, the General Manager 
(or Mayor) may decide to contact the ICAC for guidance on how to proceed). The General 
Manager (or Mayor) shall also inform the Council. If the conduct involves a criminal 
offence, the matter shall also be reported to the Police. 

 
5. The complainant shall be informed of the action taken. 
 

COMPETITIVE NEUTRALITY COMPLAINTS 
 

Form of competitive neutrality complaints 
 
Persons who would seek to make such complaints should do so in writing, addressed to the General 

Manager. 

Process for dealing with competitive neutrality complaints 

 
1. All competitive neutrality complaints shall be referred to the Public Officer. 
 
2. The Public Officer shall inform the General Manager of the receipt of any such complaint 

and shall acknowledge receipt of the complaint in writing (7 days). 
 
3. The Public Officer shall properly investigate all such complaints. 
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4. All members of Council’s staff shall co-operate with the Public Officer in the investigation 

of any competitive neutrality complaint and shall provide such information as the Public 
Officer shall require. 

 
5. Council shall provide the Public Officer with such resources as are required to assist in the 

investigation of such complaints. 
 
6. A record of every complaint and all action taken in relation to it shall be kept in Council’s 

records system.  
7. After investigating the complaint, the Public Officer shall recommend appropriate action to 

the General Manager which may include, but is not limited to:- 
 

• the provision of more information to the complainant to enable a more accurate 
understanding of competition policy; 

• an investigation/review of Council’s business activity if a legitimate complaint is made; 

• a change to Council’s business practice where a complaint is justified. 
 
8. The General Manager shall review the recommendation and may either accept the 

recommendation or institute some other course of action. 
 
9. Within 30 days of Council receiving the competitive neutrality complaint, the complainant 

shall be notified of:- 
 

• the result of the complaint; and 

• the alternative avenues of redress that are available, including:- 
 
 Department of Local Government and Co-operatives 
 Locked Bag 1500 
 BANKSTOWN  NSW  2200 
 Telephone::- (02) 9793 0793 
 Facsimile:- (02) 9793 0799 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman 
 Level 3 Coopers & Lybrand Building 
 580 George Street 
 SYDNEY  NSW  2000 
 Telephone:- (02) 9286 1000 
 Toll Free:- 008 451 524 
 
 Independent Commission Against Corruption 
 GPO Box 500 
 SYDNEY  NSW  2001 
 Telephone: - (02) 9318 5999 
 Toll Free:- 008 463 913 or 008 463 909 
 Facsimile:- (02) 9699 8067 

 
Australian Competition and Consumer Commission. 

 GPO Box 3648 
 SYDNEY  NSW  2001 
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 Telephone:- (02) 9230 9133 
 Facsimile:- (02) 9231 5652 

 
VERBAL ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

V e r b a l  r e p o r t  c o n c e r n i n g  a  p r o b l e m

I s  t h i s  r e p o r t  r e l a t e d  
t o  a  " f i r s t  u p "  
o c c u r r e n c e  

r e g a r d i n g  C o u n c i l ' s  
a c t i v i t i e s ?

Y E S :   T h i s  i s  N O T  a  
c o m p l a i n t

N O :   I t  e x p r e s s e s  
c o n c e r n  t h a t  C o u n c i l  

h a s  n o t  r e s p o n d e d  ( a t  
a l l  o r  a d e q u a t e l y )  t o  a n  

e a r l i e r  a p p r o a c h

C o m p l e t e   
W o r k s  R e q u e s t

T h i s  i s  a  
c o m p l a i n t  -  

r e f e r  t o  
r e l e v a n t  
M a n a g e r

M a n a g e r  t o  r e c o r d  d e t a i l s  o f  c o m p l a i n t ;  
C o n f i r m  a c c u r a c y  o f  w h a t  h a s  b e e n  

r e c o r d e d  w i t h  c o m p l a i n a n t  a n d  e x p l a i n  
w h a t  w i l l  h a p p e n  n e x t

M a n a g e r  t o  i n v e s t i g a t e  c o m p l a i n t  a n d  
r e c o m m e n d / t a k e  r e m e d i a l  a c t i o n

M a n a g e r  t o  i n f o r m  c o m p l a i n a n t  o f  
r e m e d i a l  a c t i o n  t a k e n  a n d  a d v i s e  

c o m p l a i n a n t  o f  r i g h t s  o f  a p p e a l
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